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2 Dorel Industries Inc.

n Dorel establishes new juvenile platform in Brazil. n Dorel acquires Belgium-

based BABY ART bvba and strong HOPPOP juvenile brand. n Dorel makes 

normal course issuer bid to purchase up to 5% of Class B shares. n Results: 

Revenues down 5.5% to US$525.2 million, net income US$28 million com-

pared to US$35.1 million a year ago.

Subsequent to year-end

n In January, Dorel announced plans to build Design and Development Compe-

tency Center at its car seat manufacturing facility in Columbus, IN. n In April, 

the Company refinanced its long-term debt by issuing US$200 million of Senior 

Guaranteed Notes at fixed rates.

2009 Highlights

Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

n Recreational/Leisure segment launches multi-faceted worldwide Centres 

of Excellence program. n Hani Basile named as Juvenile segment President. 

n Dorel launches revolutionary car seat safety technology to protect children in 

side impact collisions. n Results: Revenues decline 7.2% to US$551.1 million, 

net income US$24.8 million compared to US$31.3 million.

n Recreational/Leisure adds “Iron Horse” brand to portfolio. n Dorel purchases 

assets of Australia-based Gemini Bicycles and creates Cycling Sports Group 

Australia. n Results: Revenues decline 6.1% to US$518.5 million, net income 

US$30.2 million compared to US$27.2 million.

n Dorel acquires assets of UK-based Hot Wheels and Circle Bikes and creates 

Cycling Sports Group UK. n Dorel announces initiatives to further grow its 

Performance Apparel Division, Apparel Footwear Group (AFG). n Results: 

Fourth quarter revenues increase 13.6% to US$545.3 million, net income 

up 26.3% to US$24.2 million. Full year revenue US$2.1 billion, net income  

decreases 5% to US$107.2 million.
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Financial Highlights from 2005 to 2009

    2009  2008  2007  2006  2005

Revenues  2,140,114 2,181,880  1,813,672  1,771,168  1,760,865
________________________________________________________________________________________________
Cost of sales*** 1,634,570  1,670,481 1,375,418  1,363,421 1,367,217
________________________________________________________________________________________________
Gross profit 505,544 511,399 438,254 407,747 393,648
 as percent of revenues 23.6% 23.4% 24.2% 23.0% 22.4%
________________________________________________________________________________________________
Operating expenses 377,093 378,660 317,117  303,802  279,753
________________________________________________________________________________________________
Restructuring costs 104 726 14,509  3,671  6,982
________________________________________________________________________________________________
Income before income taxes 128,347 132,013 106,628 100,274 106,913
 as percent of revenues 6.0% 6.1%  5.9%  5.7%  6.1%
________________________________________________________________________________________________
Income taxes 21,113 19,158  19,136  11,409  15,591
________________________________________________________________________________________________
Net income 107,234 112,855  87,492  88,865  91,322
 as percent of revenues  5.0% 5.2% 4.8%  5.0%  5.2%
________________________________________________________________________________________________
Earnings per share
 Basic* 3.23 3.38  2.63 2.70  2.78
 Diluted* 3.21 3.38 2.63 2.70 2.77
________________________________________________________________________________________________
Book value per share        
 at end of year** 33.64 30.38  28.08  24.33  20.46
________________________________________________________________________________________________

  * Adjusted to account for the weighted daily average number of shares outstanding.
  ** Based on the number of shares outstanding at year end.
  *** The 2009 and 2008 figures have been adjusted to include depreciation expense related to manufacturing activities.

‘05    ‘06    ‘07    ‘08    ‘09 ‘05    ‘06    ‘07    ‘08    ‘09 ‘05    ‘06    ‘07    ‘08    ‘09

Revenues
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Net Income
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4 Dorel Industries Inc.

Winning through 
innovation

Innovative product development is a key driver for Dorel. 

Despite the economic downturn, Dorel has continued to allocate 

the necessary budgets to research and development, as your  

company invests for the future.

exciting new products were introduced across all segments and 

were well received by retailers and consumers. With a continuing 

focus on innovation, this will continue to give us a competitive 

edge in the years to come. 
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Dear fellow shareholder:

Dorel’s concentration on innovative product development, an offering of  

primarily recession resistant products, a new minimum margin requirement 

program and a strong discipline of cost containment provided solid 2009  

results. This was noteworthy in view of the unprecedented financial downturn 

which gripped the world’s economies. As consumers reined in their spend-

ing, Dorel’s dedicated personnel, valued-added merchandise and exceptional 

customer service helped mitigate the effects of the recession and allowed for 

meaningful returns to shareholders.

We maintained our commitment to new product development as we rec-

ognize that this remains a key driver for us. We also continued to allocate 

funds to business acquisitions as we invest for the future. This resulted in the  

introduction of a number of excellent new products in 2009 which has further 

strengthened our competitive position in our core Juvenile and Recreational/

Leisure segments. 

Revenue for the year slipped 1.9% to US$2.1 billion from US$2.2 billion 

in 2008. Net income was US$107.2 million or US$3.21 per diluted share 

compared to US$112.9 million or US$3.38 per diluted share the prior year. 

Excluding amounts related to foreign exchange hedging instruments in 2008 

and 2009 and a settlement in our favour of a claim involving a Home Fur-

nishings division, normalized diluted earnings for the year were US$3.42  

compared to US$3.16 in 2008. We also achieved record cash flow from opera-

tions of US$205 million.

This most satisfying performance was achieved despite challenges in Europe 

and a weaker showing in the Recreational/Leisure segment. Juvenile sales 

abroad suffered due to an overall weakness in market conditions, the impact of 

foreign exchange and Dorel Europe’s traditional reliance on high price point 

products. Dorel’s multi-national operations, diverse operating segments and 

Message to our 
Shareholders

Martin Schwartz

President & 

Chief Executive Officer
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broad product lines compensated with strong results in North 

America’s juvenile units and an exceptional improvement in 

Home Furnishings.

Our largest juvenile division, Dorel Juvenile Group (DJG) 

USA had an excellent year. They have impressed their cus-

tomers with their design of new products and their ability to 

execute quickly and effectively. This has been recognized by 

retailers who want stronger, more stable suppliers like Dorel. 

Accordingly, we have acquired new listings which we have 

taken from competitors. 

A commitment to safety
DJG’s launch of Air Protect™, featuring our new patented 

side impact technology was enthusiastically received by the 

market. Side impact crashes are the deadliest form of car  

accidents for children. This was developed in-house at DJG, 

in cooperation with Kettering University’s renowned Crash 

Safety Center. Similar innovative designs have been launched 

in Europe. 

Dorel is fully committed to quality and safety. We take the 

trust that parents and caregivers place in Dorel and in our 

brands most seriously, spending millions annually in quality 

control and to operate world class testing equipment. Over 

the next three years we will invest US$21 million to build a 

new Design and Development Competence Centre at our car 

seat facility in Columbus, Indiana.

We look ahead to an improved year in Recreational/Leisure 

as there are significant opportunities that will drive results. 

Independent Bicycle Dealers (IBD) have reacted favourably 

to the new products introduced by the Cycling Sports Group 

(CSG), there has been good response to the repositioning of 

the GT brand and new senior management at SUGOI will 

ensure that we move forward with aggressive plans to grow 

our apparel business, particularly in the custom apparel  

sector. Pacific Cycle is expected to see improvement from the 

introduction of the Iron Horse line of bicycles dedicated to 

the sporting goods channel and by leveraging the other brands 

in the high margin parts and accessories space. 

Our confidence in the future led us to make a number of stra-

tegic investments to further our objective of building our bike 

business into a global force. We purchased the assets of an 

Australian bike distributor as well as those of Hot Wheels and 

Circle Bikes, UK’s pre-eminent distributor of the Mongoose 

and GT brands. This is in line with Dorel’s commitment to 

take control of our international bicycle brands in certain  

geographies and to work closer with distributors in others to 

accelerate growth within the critical IBD channel.

There was a pronounced turnaround in Home Furnishings, 

with Ameriwood leading the segment with solid results as 

the result of the diligent work undertaken in recent years to  

revive this business. Factory efficiencies are high and they have  

recorded several consecutive quarters of profitability. This 

same determination is at work at Cosco Home & Office 

which has progressed steadily and is now on the road to  

renewed profitability. 

I invite you to read the reports from each of our segment 

Presidents for more detailed updates in our various divisions. 

As you will also see, innovation is a key driver for Dorel. At 

Message to our Shareholders continued



72009 Annual Report

a time when other companies may have cut back on product 

development to preserve the bottom line, we have strength-

ened our commitment in this area and this decision is defi-

nitely paying off. 

Dorel’s financials are sound. Subsequent to year-end, the 

Company refinanced its long-term debt by issuing US$200 

million of Senior Guaranteed Notes at fixed rates. We are also 

currently renegotiating the terms of our revolving debt. The 

lending markets have opened up considerably and we foresee 

absolutely no issues. Our cash position is consistently strong 

because we are relentlessly focused on working-capital man-

agement. We’re equally rigorous about managing costs and are 

also focused on increasing productivity in everything we do.

Outlook
We have set in motion several opportunities in our Juvenile 

and Recreational/Leisure segments which we believe will con-

tinue to place us in a leadership position. There is significant 

potential with Air Protect™. New models incorporating this 

technology will be developed at various price points to fur-

ther solidify our leadership position in the car seat category. 

In Europe, equally exciting product introductions will allow 

for additional inroads in 2010. Globally, we will continue to 

develop new markets as we have done in Australia and Brazil. 

In addition to the acquisitions made in our bicycle business, 

we foresee opportunities for organic growth through the 

opening of new geographic markets and exciting new prod-

ucts. We intend to build on the successes achieved in Home 

Furnishings and improve in the less profitable divisions. This 

process is well underway at Cosco Home & Office. 

 

Various governmental and other agencies continue to predict 

that any recovery this year will likely be slow. Dorel does not 

expect a significant improvement in the economy and this 

will continue to impact consumers’ buying habits. While not  

immune to these conditions the nature of the majority of 

the Company’s products and the customers to which Dorel’s 

products are sold will protect us to a certain extent, as demon-

strated this past year.

By any definition 2009 was a rough year, yet we came through 

it better than many. This is the direct result of the excellent 

commitment and capability of our employees at every level 

of our Company. I thank our suppliers who work in partner-

ship with us to ensure we maintain the loyalty of our valued 

customers. My deep appreciation to our investors who have 

steadfastly supported Dorel. This has made us a company you 

can count on to improve consumers’ lives and to create supe-

rior shareholder value.

Martin Schwartz

President & Chief Executive Officer

March 10, 2010

“We have set in motion several opportunities in 

our Juvenile and Recreational/Leisure segments 

which we believe will continue to place us in a 

leadership position.”



8 Dorel Industries Inc.

Innovation	that	evolves	with	children
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innovation
Dorel’s design leadership and quality of production have made our juvenile brands among the most  

powerful. Safety, practicality, durability and excitement are indispensable components of all Dorel  

products. We are known as trendsetters.

As the global leader in our juvenile categories, Dorel is constantly seeking ways to create the next genera-

tion of best-in-class products; consistently committed to maintaining our position as the world’s largest 

car seat manufacturer. During the first quarter of the current year, Dorel announced plans to build a 

Design and Development Competency Center at our existing one million square foot car seat manufac-

turing facility in Columbus, Indiana. The project is the first major milestone in Dorel’s car seat product 

capital investment program and involves a total investment of US$21 million through 2013. 

The development of this world class technology center with specialized research and design facilities will 

further Dorel’s leadership position and will drive ongoing advancements for child passenger safety. It is 

this type of commitment that will keep Dorel at the forefront of innovation and will continue to build 

shareholder value.

Juvenile segment
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Depending on the region, results were mixed. However, 

overall, the Juvenile segment finished 2009 by achieving its 

forecasts. The catalyst that drove this success was Dorel’s in-

novation and brand development. Of note, DJG USA made 

significant progress as it was well-prepared for legislative 

changes regarding juvenile products, benefitting from the 

launch of key products, including the new Air Protect™ 

technology. An important area of strength during this reces-

sionary period was its presence in the lower and middle priced 

categories.

Europe, Canada, Australia and Brazil were all affected by the 

currency exchange. These divisions experienced a difficult 

first semester, with the exception of Europe, all bounced back 

in the second half. There were administrative issues in setting 

up the segment’s new Brazilian entity, causing initial delays. 

Now resolved, Brazil has great potential and will be an excel-

lent contributor.

Dorel Europe was challenged through much of 2009 as its 

product range is geared primarily to the high-end price range. 

This proved to be a drawback during the recession, which has 

lingered in Europe. While we will protect our strong position 

in this category, plans have been developed to have greater 

representation in the lower and middle price points.

Maximizing our brands through constant innovation
Our equity is in our brands and our growth relies on our abil-

ity to capitalize on these brands through ongoing innovation.

Quinny, Maxi-Cosi, Safety 1st are three powerful names, 

which are well-established and renowned internationally. 

Complimenting these outstanding brands in the U.S., are 

The year 2009 ended well in spite of the many issues that were faced by the Dorel Juvenile  
Segment. Events such as a deep global recession, fluctuating currencies, erratic raw material prices and an  
aggressive regulatory environment were but a few of the challenges that were characteristic of 2009.  
Nevertheless, as the year came to a close, and as pointed out by Martin in his Message to Sharehold-
ers, our teams navigated through the crisis, anticipating and responding rapidly to the many curves  
thrown our way.

Juvenile
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Cosco, and our licenses with Eddie Bauer, and Disney. In 

Europe, we have the prestigious Bébé Confort brand coupled 

with Hoppop as well as the Babidéal brand, which contrib-

utes more to the mass market appeal. IGC Australia’s Bertini 

and Mother’s Choice, as well as Brazil’s Stillo, round out the 

impressive list of Dorel’s worldwide juvenile brands. We con-

tinuously strive to ensure that these assets are maximized and 

that consumers continue to recognize and build their loyalty 

toward this portfolio.

This combination of innovation and brand awareness has 

made us leaders in the car seat category and we will conti-

nue to strengthen this advantage. As noted in the preceding 

section, we will be establishing a US Car Seat Competence 

Centre at our Columbus, IN facility to underline our strong 

commitment to this category. The in-house development and 

successful launch of the Air Protect™ technology is a game 

changer for Dorel. In the U.S., we have shared our findings 

with the National Highway Traffic Safety Administration, 

supporting their efforts to provide more comprehensive regu-

lations for side impact crash testing.

Dorel makes safety a top priority for all juvenile products. 

Notwithstanding, in our industry product recalls are a fact 

of life, particularly since the introduction in 2008 of the US 

Consumer Product Safety Improvement Act and the pending 

adoption of Bill C6 (Canada Consumer Product Safety Act). 

We take these matters most seriously and always deal proac-

tively with them. 

Response from retailers to Air ProtectTM has been overwhelm-

ing. There is significant potential with this technology. Dorel 

has committed to the creation of future platforms to further 

solidify our leadership position in the car seat category. New 

models will be developed at various price points. In Europe, 

equally exciting product introductions such as FamilyFix, 

Mila and Senzz, introduced last year, will allow for additional 

inroads in 2010.

Each Juvenile division has additional innovative product 

launches planned throughout 2010. Globally, we will con-

tinue to develop emerging markets as we have done in Aus-

tralia and Brazil. As such, 2010 looks positive and we expect 

sustainable growth.

Innovation, expertise, and a commitment to quality make our 

reputation first class and our products the first choice of par-

ents all over the world. For decades, they have placed their 

trust – and their children’s safety – in our hands. This is a re-

sponsibility, while earned through proven success, we do not 

take for granted. This would not be possible without a strong 

and dedicated juvenile team of people which I am privileged 

to be a part of.

Hani Basile

Group President & CEO

Juvenile Segment
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Innovation	that	evolves	with	your	journey
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innovation
Dorel is pursuing a strategic course to build its bicycle business into a global force and innovation 

is a primary component of this roadmap. From the development of high performance units such as  

Cannondales’s Flash Carbon Hardtail, the industry’s lightest and stiffest mountain bike or the SuperSix 

road bike, to the Schwinn Cruiser for family style recreation, Dorel has something for every cycling 

enthusiast. 

The mission of the Cycling Sports Group’s Advance Product Group is to think ahead of the curve and to 

develop the technology and features that sophisticated cyclists want most and that will consistently set 

Cannondale apart from the competition. 

A continued focus on system integration – designing the bike as a system, as opposed to a collection 

of off-the-shelf parts – sets Dorel’s bicycle brands apart and leads to a better riding experience for  

the consumer. Rigorous benchmarks in quality and performance make Cannondale, Schwinn, GT,  

Mongoose and Iron Horse the desired choices. 

Last April, we launched a multi-faceted program to establish five Centers of Excellence around the 

world, each focused on leadership in a specific market segment or expertise. Key to the program is the 

consolidation of all North American product development at the Bethel, CT facility which, in line with 

the segment’s constant pursuit of excellence, will evolve as a world-class innovation center.

Recreational/leisure segment



14 Dorel Industries Inc.

In 2009, the global economy continued to struggle and 

consumers kept discretionary spending to a minimum. The  

cycling industry was not immune and also came under pres-

sure. We grew our top line year over year, despite a market 

environment where bicycle imports decreased 18% year-over-

year versus 2008 according to industry sources. Unfortu-

nately, some of our competitors chose to discount their lines 

early in the year, resulting in an erosion of overall industry 

profitability. This said, we made very good progress against 

our Key Performance Indicators (KPI’s) and made the right 

investments against our Management Strategies of Growth, 

Talent and Focus/Simplify.

Our Growth strategy is driven by our unwavering commit-

ment to innovation. This enabled us to grow our global mar-

ket share in 2009 and significantly broaden our distribution. 

Our constant pursuit of excellence has resulted in innovations 

such as the: Cannondale SuperSix road bike that led Franco 

Pellizotti to a King of the Mountain win in the 2009 Tour 

de France; the Flash Carbon Hardtail, the industry’s light-

est and stiffest mountain bike; the GT Fury, the only carbon 

downhill bike on the market, chosen by Mick Hannah in his 

quest to win downhill events around the world; and SUGOI’s 

Compression Series, which builds on the brand’s proven his-

tory of incorporating the highest level of technology and ma-

terials within its lines.

The relationship we have with top competitors, including 

three-time Ironman World Champion, Chrissie Wellington, 

the heavily decorated Liquigas road racing team, holds us to 

the highest performance standards and allows us to continu-

ously raise the industry bar. These elite athletes are the first to 

test our product during the prototype phase and their feed-

Dorel continued its quest to build the world’s most exciting and admired bicycle Company. With an  
increasing focus on strengthening customer intimacy, Dorel’s Recreational/Leisure (R/L) segment is 
organized around three primary business units: Cycling Sports Group (CSG), Pacific Cycle Group 
(PCG), and Apparel Footwear Group (AFG), each with its own expertise and customer focus, but 
joint in the common pursuit to become a global innovation leader in the recreation and leisure indus-
tries. We also made major steps in improving our world-class portfolio of cycling and apparel brands:  
Cannondale, Schwinn, GT, Mongoose, Iron Horse and SUGOI

Recreational/leisure
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back spurs the changes that ultimately benefit the consumer.

Another key growth enabler is our acquisition strategy as 

detailed by Martin in his message. Expanding to new geog-

raphies, increasing our brand offerings, and broadening our 

portfolio have been crucial to delivering against our KPIs. 

We’re also investing in marketing with new advertising, media, 

and public relations agency partners and a multi-million dol-

lar campaign planned this year to support our portfolio of 

brands, always with an eye to ROI. This, combined with our 

focus on developing even stronger retailer partnerships on 

both the Mass and IBD sides, will produce new initiatives 

aimed at enhancing consumers’ shopping experience. Our 

goal is to get more people on bikes and we believe that aware-

ness and education are the keys to helping consumers find the 

right products to fit their needs. 

On our Talent strategy, we recruited a number of new hires in 

2009 combining the best from the sporting world with other 

adjacent industries to strengthen our core competencies. We 

also simplified our structure, organizing around our brands 

to be more consumer-driven in our approach to product de-

velopment, marketing and sales. We have the right talent in 

place to win and we are activating the organization with a new 

incentive-based performance evaluation that creates more ac-

countability towards our business goals. Our employees are 

committed to winning and we thank them for their incredible 

efforts in 2009.

Eliminating complexity under our Focus/Simplify strategy 

has increased our speed of activation, which will continue 

to be a top priority as we move forward. A key proof point 

to this approach is the multi-faceted “Centers of Excellence” 

strategy to establish leadership in specific market segments. 

A highlight is the development of a world-class innovation 

center in Bethel, CT. A new state-of-the art facility for AFG 

in Vancouver, British Columbia supports our goal of tripling 

our custom apparel business in the next five years. 

Our commitment to simplicity doesn’t end with our internal 

operations. We are also simplifying the way we engage our ex-

ternal innovation suppliers and partners, aligning with indus-

try leaders with a focus on size and scale. These partnerships 

are a critical component to our success and we seek the best 

because we believe we offer the best.

For the past year we have built on the fundamentals, we have 

gotten smarter, more focused, and more enthusiastic about 

our game plan. We continue to be relentless on over delivering 

on the high demands of our consumers and customers. And, 

the best is yet to come!

Robert P. Baird Jr.

Group President & CEO

Recreational/Leisure Segment



16 Dorel Industries Inc.

The turnaround at Ameriwood Industries, our domestic 

ready-to-assemble (RTA) furniture division, which began in 

2008, led the way to profitability for the segment as a whole. 

Ameriwood posted substantial increases in earnings from 

operations in 2009. This success is attributable to a number 

of factors, not the least of which was Ameriwood’s ability to 

Several achievements in the Home Furnishings  
segment allowed us to weather what might be best 
described as the perfect storm in 2009. The conver-
gence of issues included the recession, volatile raw 
material prices, a difficult retail environment and a 
highly competitive marketplace. To counter this, our 
management teams executed our business plan with 
precision and maintained a diligent focus on serving 
our customers. As an example, we consolidated our 
West Coast distribution facilities for home furnish-
ings into a single facility in order to better serve our 
customers as well as reduce overhead costs. Despite 
the challenges presented, Dorel’s furniture business-
es, as a group, posted a satisfying performance for 
the year past

Home furnishings
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offer furniture at a terrific value for recession-weary consum-

ers who were looking to maximize their limited shopping dol-

lars. Ameriwood also benefitted from noteworthy efficiencies 

through tight control of costs and inventory levels at all facto-

ries as well as a favourable exchange rate which benefited our 

Canadian manufacturing facility.

Altra, our import RTA division, was also profitable in 2009. 

The division increased distribution in bath and laundry stor-

age, a new market for them, and in home entertainment units. 

However, there was a definite softness in the sales of home of-

fice furniture, a direct result of the record unemployment lev-

els and the substantial weakness in the housing market. Altra 

also expanded its geographic reach last year and intends to 

capitalize on this through 2010. 

Sales at Dorel Asia for the home furnishings segment were flat 

with 2008 levels. This was somewhat of an accomplishment 

as many shoppers traded down last year from the traditionally 

higher quality imported items offered by Dorel Asia. Kitchen 

and dining as well as bedroom sales increased over the prior 

year. Overall profitability was down slightly last year, but is 

expected to rebound this year.

A new domestically produced baby mattress program bene-

fited Dorel Home Products (DHP) in 2009. Futon sales were 

below 2008 levels, due to the recession, but are expected to be 

stronger through 2010. While sales were flat for DHP, they 

were able to increase profitability through cost cutting efforts 

as well as a positive exchange. The division is expanding its 

product range to attract a wider customer base and a more 

robust performance is anticipated.

Continuing intensive efforts to realign Cosco Home & Office 

are definitely paying off. The manufacturer and distributor of 

step stools, step ladders and folding furniture experienced an 

improved 2009, thanks largely to a return to its core products 

and a market driven approach. Losses were significantly cut 

and the unit generated profitability from operations in Q4. 

Operating profit is expected to improve throughout 2010. 

Ecommerce will continue to be an important priority in 

Home Furnishings. There has been marked growth in our on-

line activity and we are working closely with retailers by offer-

ing more product and product extensions on their websites. 

A benefit of online marketing is the ability to display product 

more attractively, to ensure consumers can visualize the value 

of what they are about to purchase.

Our Home Furnishings segment will continue to focus on 

providing excellent value product to our retail customers and 

their consumers. While rising commodity prices as well as a 

less favourable exchange rate are concerns, continued product 

development and sourcing efforts, as well as a continued em-

phasis on improved operational efficiencies leave us optimistic 

for the months ahead.

Norman Braunstein 

Group President & CEO

Home Furnishings Segment
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Altra Furniture and Ameriwood Industries helped make 

dreams come true last December by teaming up to adopt 

a family with a child battling cancer. Employees donated 

Christmas gifts for the family and wrapped them for Santa’s 

Breakfast, held in St. Louis, MO. It was a heartwarming 

event and a great success.

A group of employees from  

Pacific Cycle pitch in to help Habitat 

for Humanity build a home near their 

home office in Madison, Wisconsin. 

Cannondale Suspension Engineer 

Matt Timmerman checks tire pressure of a 

refurbished bike at the second annual Wheels 

for Kids bike building event held at the Cycling 

Sports Group headquarters in Bethel, CT.

Dorel in the Community
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To increase awareness amongst parents on child car safety, Dorel Italy collaborated with Fiat  

in the extensive educational “BimbiSicuramente” campaign, with the support of Italy’s  

Transport and Youth Ministries. 

Posters, brochures and playful tools were distributed by 600 Fiat dealers to sensitize parents 

to child car safety and to provide information about the criteria involved when choosing a 

car seat: the age, size and weight of their child as well as the type of car. Each Fiat dealer was 

equipped by Dorel Italy with Bébé Confort car seats. Specially trained sales staff showed  

parents how to install them correctly. Media and social networking pickup was excellent. 

Bébé Confort and Fiat team up for safety
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Dorel is active in sustainability on several fronts throughout its three 

segments. by nature of the millions of products it produces and sells 

annually, Dorel’s eco-conscious programs make an important contribu-

tion by reducing their environmental impact. as well, the core product 

of Dorel’s Recreational/leisure segment is bicycles which address the 

public’s heightened environmental awareness, particularly as relates 

to climate control and reduced carbon emissions, and the desire to lead 

healthier, physically fit lifestyles. Despite the goal of keeping its prices 

low, Dorel intends to remain proactive in its sustainability initiatives.  

The following are some of the corporation’s sustainability initiatives  

by segment.

Sustainability
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Juvenile

n Conversion of Columbus, Indiana’s one million square foot car seat plant into a zero landfill facility that 

recycles over 99% of its plastic manufacturing waste and other materials. The remaining 1% is sold to an outside 

recycler. (50 million pounds of plastic used a year.) n Installation of cooling tower systems in Columbus (for 

plastic pressers and air compressors) has also reduced water usage by over 97% or 1.5 million gallons of water 

per day. n Placing car seats in bags, an initiative publicly recognized by Wal-Mart, has saved countless tons of 

corrugated as well as transportation and storage costs. Program has been expanded to include products in several 

other categories. n Warehouses are equipped with light sensors which eliminate entire areas being lit needlessly. 

n Dorel Juvenile Group’s (DJG) Safety 1st Nature Next Collection features products made from eco-conscious 

materials and crosses several product categories, from small furniture through to infant health. 

Recreational/Leisure

n SUGOI’s new Vancouver, B.C. facility, which consolidates operations from two buildings, is more sustainable 

in terms of construction and use of heating and cooling systems, with an expected 10 – 12% reduction in energy 

consumed per square foot. The building is also gaining credit from BC Hydro for making an overall light fixture 

switch and reducing its annual energy consumption. n A Bike Sharing program encourages use of public transit 

where employees purchase transit passes through the Company at reduced rates. n All lighting at Bethel, CT has 

been upgraded, including the addition of sound and motion detectors. This has reduced consumption by nearly 

73,000 kilowatt hours per year. n Through recycling efforts in 2009 at the Bedford, PA site, significant tonnage 

in various materials, particularly cardboard, aluminum and mixed plastics, has been removed from the local land-

fill. Instead, these items were sold to a local recycler to reuse. n In Madison, WI, a computer controlled heating 

and cooling system that utilizes exhaust heat recovery and ambient air cooling reduces energy costs. The building’s 

efficient energy management system further reduces costs. Further, all employees are encouraged to participate in 

a direct from local farm buying program, as well as bike riding to work, car pooling, or public transit.

Home Furnishings

n Dorel Home Products (DHP) produces a futon which is 100% FSC (Forest Stewardship Council) certified. 

This represents approximately 30% of their annual volume of futons. DHP is the first futon manufacturer to be 

fully certified FSC. n The Altra Furniture division uses Bamboo in some of its furniture and has a Wal-Mart 

Smart Program underway which is 100% non-virgin wood. The division also uses no foam in its packaging, 

employs water based paint and has started using natural grass (i.e. bamboo) in some of its products. n Ameri-

wood manufacturing facilities: a) are equipped with bailers and recycle all cardboard b.) all saw dust, scrap and 

wood chips are recycled and returned to suppliers’ manufacturing processes. c) have reduced the size of labels and 

instruction manuals to reduce the quantity of paper used. d) over 500 tons of scrap metal is recycled annually. 

n Opened a LEED Gold Certified distribution facility which significantly reduces the carbon distribution foot-

print by having a two coast distribution system. 
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Annual Results (2000-2009)

  2009 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000

Revenues  2,140,114  2,181,880  1,813,672  1,771,168 1,760,865  1,709,074  1,180,777  992,073  916,769  757,540

Cost of sales***  1,634,570 1,670,481  1,375,418  1,363,421  1,367,217  1,315,921  874,763  760,423  718,123 582,741

Gross profit  505,544 511,399  438,254  407,747  393,648  393,153  306,014  231,650  198,646  174,799

 as percent of revenues  23.6% 23.4%  24.2%  23.0%  22.4%  23.0%  25.9%  23.4%  21.7%  23.1%

Operating expenses  377,093 378,660  317,117  303,802  279,753  286,180  206,663  145,956  147,353  127,356

Restructuring costs and

 other one-time charges  104 726  14,509  3,671  6,982  –  –  –  20,000  12,037 

Income before income taxes  128,347 132,013  106,628  100,274  106,913  106,973  99,351  85,694  31,293  35,406

 as percent of revenues  6.0% 6.1%  5.9%  5.7%  6.1%  6.3%  8.4%  8.6%  3.4%  4.7%

Income taxes  21,113 19,158  19,136  11,409  15,591  6,897  25,151  24,099  4,731  5,432

Net income from

 continuing operations  107,234 112,855  87,492  88,865  91,322  100,076  74,200  61,595  26,562  29,974

 as percent of revenues  5.0% 5.2%  4.8%  5.0%  5.2%  5.9%  6.3%  6.2%  2.9%  4.0%

Loss from

 discontinued operations  – –  –  –  –  –  –  –  (1,058)  (12,668)

Net earnings  107,234 112,855  87,492  88,865  91,322  100,076  74,200  61,595  25,504  17,306

 as percent of revenues  5.0% 5.2%  4.8%  5.0%  5.2%  5.9%  6.3%  6.2%  2.8%  2.3%

Earnings per share

 Basic*  3.23 3.38  2.63  2.70  2.78  3.06  2.33  2.05  0.91  0.62

 Diluted*  3.21 3.38  2.63  2.70  2.77  3.04  2.29  2.00  0.89  0.61

Book value per share

 at end of year**  33.64 30.38  28.08  24.33  20.46  19.15  15.14  11.31  7.52  6.75

* Adjusted to account for the weighted daily average number of shares outstanding.
** Based on the number of shares outstanding at year end.
*** The 2009 and 2008 figures have been adjusted to include depreciation expense related to manufacturing activities.
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ManaGeMenT’s DIscUssIon anD analYsIs

This Management’s Discussion and Analysis of financial conditions and results of operations (“MD&A”) should be read in 

conjunction with the consolidated financial statements for Dorel Industries Inc. (“Dorel” or “the Company”) for the fiscal years 

ended December 30, 2009 and 2008 (“the Consolidated Financial Statements”), as well as with the notes to the Consolidated 

Financial Statements. All financial information contained in this MD&A and in the Company’s Consolidated Financial State-

ments are in US dollars, unless indicated otherwise, and have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted 

accounting principles (“GAAP”), using the US dollar as the reporting currency. This MD&A is current as of April 28, 2010 

and the sections “Balance Sheet”, “Liquidity and Capital Resources” and “Contractual Obligations”have been revised to reflect 

the impact of the issuance on April 6, 2010 of an aggregate of $200 million of Senior Guaranteed Notes. The Company is also 

re-issuing its consolidated financial statements.

Forward-looking statements are included in this MD&A. See the “Caution Regarding Forward Looking Information” in-

cluded at the end of this MD&A for a discussion of risks, uncertainties and assumptions relating to these statements. For a 

description of the risks relating to the Company, see the “Market Risks and Uncertainties” section of this MD&A. Further 

information on Dorel’s public disclosures, including the Company’s Annual Information Form (“AIF”), are to be available 

within the prescribed filing deadlines on-line at www.sedar.com and Dorel’s website at www.dorel.com. 

Corporate Overview
The Company’s head office is based in Montreal, Quebec, Canada. In total, the Company operates in nineteen countries with 

sales made throughout the world and employs approximately 4,500 people. Dorel’s ultimate goal is to produce innovative, 

quality products and satisfy consumer needs while achieving maximum financial results for its shareholders. The Company’s 

growth has resulted from both increasing sales of existing businesses and by acquiring businesses that management believes add 

value to the Company.

Strategy
Dorel is a world class juvenile products and bicycle company. Established in 1962, Dorel creates style and excitement in equal 

measure to safety, quality and value. The Company’s lifestyle leadership position is pronounced in both its juvenile and bi-

cycle categories with an array of trend-setting products. In the Juvenile segment, Dorel’s powerfully branded products such as 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis
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Quinny, Maxi-Cosi, HOPPOP, Safety 1st and Bébé Confort have shown the way to safety, originality and fashion. Similarly, 

its highly popular brands such as Cannondale, Schwinn, GT, Mongoose and Iron Horse as well SUGOI Apparel have made 

Dorel a principal player in the bicycle marketplace. Dorel’s Home Furnishings segment markets a wide assortment of furniture 

products, both domestically produced and imported. The Company relies on innovation and marketing flair across all of its 

divisions.

Within each of the three segments, there are several operating divisions or subsidiaries. Each segment has its own President and 

is operated independently by a separate group of managers. Senior management of the Company coordinates the businesses 

of all segments and maximizes cross-selling, cross-marketing, procurement and other complementary business opportunities.

Dorel conducts its business through a variety of sales and distribution arrangements. These consist of salaried employees; in-

dividual agents who carry the Company’s products on either an exclusive or non-exclusive basis; individual specialized agents 

who sell products, including Dorel’s, exclusively to one customer such as a major discount chain; and sales agencies which 

themselves employ their own sales force. While retailers carry out the bulk of the advertising of Dorel’s products, all of the seg-

ments advertise and promote their products through the use of advertisements in specific magazines, multi-product brochures, 

on-line and other media outlets.

Dorel believes that its commitment to providing a high quality, industry-leading level of service has allowed it to develop suc-

cessful and mutually beneficial relationships with major retailers. A high level of customer satisfaction has been achieved by 

fostering particularly close contacts between Dorel’s sales representatives and clients. Permanent, full-service agency account 

teams have been established in close proximity to certain major accounts. These dedicated account teams provide these cus-

tomers with the assurance that inventory and supply requirements will be met and that issues will be immediately addressed.

Dorel is a manufacturer as well as an importer of finished goods, the majority of the latter from overseas suppliers. As such, the 

Company relies on its suppliers for both finished goods and raw materials and has always prided itself on establishing success-

ful long-term relationships both domestically and overseas. The Company has established a workforce of over 200 people in 

mainland China and Taiwan whose role is to ensure the highest standard of quality of its products and to ensure that the flow 

of product is not interrupted. The recent economic downturn has illustrated the quality of these supplier relationships in that 

Dorel has not been adversely affected by its supplier base and their continuing ability to service Dorel. 

In addition to its solid supply chain, quality products and dedicated customer service, strong recognized consumer brands are 

an important element of Dorel’s strategy. As examples, in North America, Dorel’s Schwinn and Cannondale product lines are 

among the most recognized brand names in the sporting goods industry. Safety 1st is a highly regarded Dorel brand in the 

North American juvenile products market. Throughout Europe the Maxi-Cosi brand has become synonymous with quality car 

seats and in France, Bébé Confort is universally recognized and has superior brand awareness. These brands, and the fact that 

Dorel has a wide range of other brand names, allows for product and price differentiation within the same product categories. 

Product development is a significant element of Dorel’s past and future growth. Dorel has invested heavily in this area, focus-

ing on innovation, quality, safety and speed to market with several design and product development centres. Over the past two 

years, Dorel has spent over $60 million on new product development.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis
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Operating Segments

Juvenile 
The Juvenile segment manufactures and imports products such as infant car seats, strollers, high chairs, toddler beds, cribs, 

playpens, swings and infant health and safety aids. Globally, within its principal categories, Dorel’s combined juvenile opera-

tions make it the largest juvenile products company in the world. The segment operates in North America, Europe, Australia 

and Brazil and exports product to almost 100 countries around the world. Dorel Juvenile Group (“DJG”) USA’s operations in 

the United States are headquartered in Columbus, Indiana, where North American manufacturing and car seat engineering is 

based, with facilities in Foxboro, Massachusetts and Ontario, California. The majority of products are conceived, designed and 

developed at the Foxboro location. Car seat development is in the process of being centralized at the Company’s new state-of-

the-art car seat Design and Development Competency Centre in Columbus. Dorel Distribution Canada (“DDC”) is located 

in Montreal, Quebec with a sales force and showroom in Toronto, Ontario and sells to customers throughout Canada. The 

principal brand names in North America are Cosco, Safety 1st, Maxi Cosi and Quinny. In addition, several brand names are 

used under license, the most significant being the well-recognized Eddie Bauer brand.

In North America, the majority of juvenile sales are made to mass merchants, department stores and hardware/home centres, 

where consumers’ priorities are design oriented, with a focus on safety and quality at reasonable prices. Therefore sales to these 

channels are principally entry level to mid-price point products. Using innovative product designs, higher-end price points are 

also being serviced by these customers, representing additional sales opportunities for the segment. There are several juvenile 

products companies servicing the North American market with Dorel being among the three largest along with Graco (a part 

of the Newell Group of companies) and Evenflo Company Inc.

Dorel Europe is headquartered in Paris, France with major product design facilities located in Cholet, France and Helmond, 

Holland. Sales operations along with manufacturing and assembly facilities are located in France, Holland and Portugal. In 

addition, sales and/or distribution subsidiaries are located in Italy, Spain, the United Kingdom, Germany, Belgium and Swit-

zerland. In Europe, products are principally marketed under the brand names Bébé Confort, Maxi-Cosi, Quinny, Baby Relax, 

Safety 1st, HOPPOP and BABY ART. In Europe, Dorel sells juvenile products primarily across the mid-level to high-end 

price points. With its well recognized brand names and superior designs and product quality, the majority of European sales 

are made to large European juvenile product chains along with independent boutiques and specialty stores. Dorel is one of the 

largest juvenile products companies in Europe, competing with others such as Britax, Peg Perego, Chicco, Jane and Graco, as 

well as several smaller companies. 

In Australia, Dorel is the majority shareholder in IGC Dorel (“IGC”) which manufactures and distributes its products under 

several local brands, the most prominent of which are Bertini and Mother’s Choice. IGC has done an exceptional job of intro-

ducing and integrating Dorel’s North American and European brands in Australia and New Zealand, broadening their sales 

range. Sales are made to both large retailers and specialty stores. In January 2009 the Company established Dorel Brazil, a new 

operating division with a local partner. Dorel Brazil began manufacturing car seats locally in 2009, as well as importing existing 

Dorel products that meet local safety standards. Dorel Asia sells cribs and other juvenile furniture to various major retailers. 

Over and above its branded sales, many of Dorel’s juvenile divisions also sell products to customers which are marketed under 

various house brand names. In 2009, the Juvenile segment accounted for 46% of Dorel’s revenues.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis
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Recreational / Leisure
The Recreational / Leisure segment’s businesses participate in a marketplace that totals approximately $55 billion in retail sales 

annually. This includes bicycles, bicycling and running footwear and apparel, jogging strollers and bicycles trailers, as well as 

related parts and accessories. The breakdown of bicycle industry sales around the world is approximately 50% in the Asia-

Pacific region, 22% in Europe, 12% in North America, with the balance in the rest of the world. Bicycles are sold in the mass 

merchant channel, at sporting goods chains and in the independent bicycle dealer (“IBD”) distribution channel.

In the US, mass merchants have captured a greater share of the market over the past 15 years and today account for over 70% 

of unit sales. Despite the growth of the mass merchant channel, the IBD channel remains an important retail outlet in North 

America, Europe and other parts of the world. IBD retailers specialize in higher-end bicycles and deliver a level of service to 

their customers that the mass merchants cannot. Retail prices in the IBD’s are much higher, reaching up to over $10,000. This 

compares to the mass merchant channel where the average retail price is less than $100. The sporting goods chains  sell bicycles 

in the mid-price range and in the US this channel accounts for less than 10% of total industry retail sales.

Brand differentiation is an important part of the bicycle industry with different brands being found in the different distribution 

channels. High-end bicycles and brands would be found in IBD’s and some sporting goods chains, whereas the other brands 

can be purchased at mass market retailers. Consumer purchasing patterns are generally influenced by economic conditions, 

weather and seasonality. Principal competitors include Huffy, Dynacraft, Trek, Giant, Specialized, Scott and Raleigh. In Eu-

rope, the market is much more fragmented as there is additional competition from much smaller companies that are popular 

in different regions.

The segment’s worldwide headquarters is based in Bethel, Connecticut. There are also significant operations in Madison,  

Wisconsin, Vancouver, British Columbia and Bedford, Pennsylvania. In addition, distribution centres are located in California 

and Illinois. European operations are headquartered in Oldenzaal, Holland with operations in Basel, Switzerland. Globally 

there are sales and distribution companies based in Australia, the United Kingdom and Japan. There is a sourcing operation 

based in Taiwan established to oversee the segment’s Far East supplier base and logistics chain, ensuring that the Company’s 

products are produced to meet the exacting quality standards that are required.

The IBD retail channel is serviced by the Cycling Sports Group (“CSG”) which focuses exclusively on this category principally 

with the premium-oriented Cannondale, SUGOI and GT brands. Pacific Cycle has an exclusive focus on mass merchant and 

sporting goods chain customers. The mass merchant product line is sold mainly under the Schwinn and Mongoose brands 

which are used on bicycles, parts and accessories. The main brand sold to the sporting goods chain is the newly acquired  

Iron Horse brand. In Europe and elsewhere around the world, certain brands are sold across these distribution channels and 

as an example, in the UK, Mongoose is a very successful IBD brand. Sales of sports apparel and related products are made by 

the Apparel and Footwear Group (“AFG”) through the IBDs, various sporting good chains and specialty running stores. AFG 

competes with such brands as Nike, Pearl Izumi, Adidas, among others, as well as some of the bicycle brands. In 2009, the 

Recreational/Leisure segment accounted for 32% of Dorel’s revenues.

Home Furnishings
Dorel’s Home Furnishings segment participates in the $80 billion North American furniture industry. Dorel ranks in the top 

ten of North American furniture manufacturers and marketers and has a strong foothold in both North American manufactur-

ing and importation of furniture, with a significant portion of its supply coming from its own manufacturing facilities and the 
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balance through sourcing efforts in Asia. Dorel is also the number two manufacturer of Ready-to-Assemble (“RTA”) furniture 

in North America. Products are distributed from our North American manufacturing locations as well as from several distribu-

tion facilities. 

Dorel’s Home Furnishings segment consists of five operating divisions. They are Ameriwood Industries (“Ameriwood”), Altra 

Furniture (“Altra”), Cosco Home & Office (“Cosco”), Dorel Home Products (“DHP”) and Dorel Asia. Ameriwood specializes 

in domestically manufactured RTA furniture and is headquartered in Wright City, Missouri. Ameriwood’s manufacturing and 

distribution facilities are located in Tiffin, Ohio, Dowagiac, Michigan, and Cornwall, Ontario. Altra Furniture is also located 

in Wright City, Missouri and designs and imports furniture mainly within the home entertainment and home office categories. 

Cosco is located in Columbus, Indiana and the majority of its sales are of metal folding furniture, step stools and specialty lad-

ders. DHP, located in Montreal, Quebec, manufactures futons and baby mattresses and imports futons, bunk beds and other 

accent furniture. Major distribution facilities are also located in California and Georgia. Dorel Asia specializes in sourcing 

upholstery and a full range of finished goods from Asia for distribution throughout North America.

While industry furniture sales declined in 2009 due to the significant drop in new housing, Dorel’s sales in home furnishings 

increased. Dorel has significant market share within its product categories and has a strong presence with its customer base. 

Sales are concentrated with mass merchants, warehouse clubs, home centres, and office and electronic superstores. Dorel mar-

kets its products under generic retail house brands as well as under a range of branded product including; Ameriwood, Altra, 

System Build, Ridgewood, Dorel Fine Furniture, and Cosco. The Dorel Home Furnishings segment has many competitors 

including Sauder Manufacturing in the RTA category, Meco in the folding furniture category, and Werner in ladders. In 2009, 

this segment accounted for 22% of Dorel’s revenues.

Significant Events in 2009
On January 6, 2009 the Company announced the establishment of Companhia Dorel Brasil Produtos Infantis (“Dorel Bra-

zil”), a new operating division of the Company’s Juvenile segment. A local partner with established relations in Brazil’s retail 

channels and with solid experience in the juvenile sector is serving as President of the new company. With the 7th highest 

ranked population in the world with over 196 million residents, Brazil is characterized by a young population with a high birth 

rate of 18.7 per 1000 inhabitants, compared to the US rate of 14.2. Additionally, car seats became mandatory in Brazil in June 

2008 and demand has escalated. Dorel Brazil has established the local manufacture of car seats as well as importing existing 

Dorel products that meet local safety standards. During 2009, the Company invested $2.4 million with the total investment 

expected to be less than $4 million, consisting mostly of moulds and cash. The operating results included in the 2009 results 

related to Dorel Brazil were not significant.

On January 27, 2009 Dorel announced a further strengthening of its successful high-end European juvenile lines with the 

purchase of all of the outstanding shares of Belgium-based BABY ART bvba. Created in 2006, the Company markets its prod-

ucts under the BABY ART and HOPPOP brands. The innovative baby products and accessories, feature outstanding modern 

designs, are highly popular with consumers and have received rave reviews. The BABY ART and HOPPOP lines are being 

integrated into Dorel Europe’s existing marketing plans and Dorel’s relationships with customers should result in meaningful 

synergies throughout the Company’s distribution networks. The purchase price was 4.1 million Euros, or $5.4 million and was 

financed through debt.
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On March 17, 2009, the Company announced a normal course issuer bid (“NCIB”). Under the NCIB, Dorel is entitled to re-

purchase for cancellation up to 1,458,624 Class B Subordinate Voting Shares over a twelve-month period commencing March 

20, 2009 and ending March 19, 2010, representing 5% of Dorel’s issued and outstanding Class B Subordinate Voting Shares. 

The purchases by Dorel are effected through the facilities of the Toronto Stock Exchange and are made at the market price of 

the Class B Subordinate Voting Shares at the time of the purchase. The Board of Directors of Dorel considers that the underly-

ing value of Dorel may not be reflected in the market price of its Class B Subordinate Voting Shares at certain times during the 

term of the NCIB. The Board of Directors has therefore concluded that the repurchase of shares at certain market prices may 

constitute an appropriate use of financial resources and be beneficial to Dorel and its shareholders.

On April 2, 2009, the Company announced that within its Recreational / Leisure segment, it was establishing five Centres of 

Excellence around the world, with each location focused on market leadership in a specific market segment or expertise. These 

centres will be located in Bethel, Connecticut; Basel, Switzerland; Madison, Wisconsin; Vancouver, British Columbia and Taic-

hung, Taiwan. Key to the Centres of Excellence strategy in North America are plans to consolidate all North American product 

development, marketing and business management functions for all four high-end cycling brands, Cannondale, Schwinn, GT 

and Mongoose, to Bethel, within the CSG. In addition, the Company’s North American CSG operations are being reduced 

from five locations to two.

In addition, CSG is creating a bicycle testing laboratory at its facilities in Bedford, Pennsylvania. This facility will focus its 

existing operations on bicycle assembly, machining, testing and quality control, warranty repair, inside sales and service, dis-

tribution and customer support, including a new call centre on-site. In shifting Bedford’s operations away from bicycle frame 

manufacturing, CSG will be able to take full advantage of the strengths and capabilities of the new Taichung, Taiwan-based 

Centre of Excellence in manufacturing oversight, sourcing, testing and quality control. The total cost of the overall re-orga-

nization plan is expected to be no more than $4.5 million, the majority of which will be related to employee re-location and 

severance. These costs are being incurred over the course of 2009 and 2010. Once completed, the Company expects to realize 

annualized cost savings of up to $4 million.

During the year the Company announced three asset acquisitions in the Recreational / Leisure segment. On July 15, 2009, the 

Company acquired certain assets of Iron Horse Bicycles, including inventory, various trademarks and trade names, including 

the Iron Horse brand, in a transaction valued at $5.6 million. Founded in 1987 in New York, Iron Horse is marketed through-

out North America and internationally and is best known for its downhill and extreme trail bicycles. On August 4, 2009 the 

Company acquired the assets of Sydney, Australia-based Gemini Bicycles for $2.0 million and the acquired assets are being 

integrated with the Company’s existing Australian bicycle operations under the new CSG Australia division.  The new division 

will combine the Company’s major Recreational / Leisure brands; Schwinn, Mongoose, Cannondale, GT and SUGOI under 

one operation which will be dedicated to the IBD channel.  

On October 1, 2009 Dorel acquired certain assets of UK-based Hot Wheels and Circle Bikes, the UK’s preeminent distribu-

tors of the Mongoose and GT brands. Hot Wheels has a portfolio of top selling, innovative bicycle products and components 

which are marketed to retail and leisure outlets throughout the UK. Circle Bikes also owns the popular Charge brand. Sales 

for the most recent fiscal year were approximately £14 million ($22 million), the majority of the revenue from Hot Wheels. 

The acquisition price was £6.7 million or $10.6 million, including possible additional consideration contingent upon a for-

mulaic variable price based mainly on the future earnings of the acquired business. In parallel a new subsidiary, CSG UK, 

based in Poole, Dorset, was created to drive the future growth of the Mongoose, GT and Cannondale brands. CSG UK will 

be dedicated to the IBD channel and will coordinate all sales, marketing, distribution and customer service to better support 

its growing network of dealers in the UK.
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Operating Results
Note: all tabular figures are in thousands of US dollars except per share amounts

Reclassifications
Effective the first quarter of 2009, the Company has adopted Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (“CICA”) Hand-

book Section 3031, “Inventories”, and as a result of changes in presentation requirements, depreciation expense related to 

manufacturing activities is now included in Cost of sales. Therefore for the 2008 comparative figures, $3.7 million and $19.3 

million of depreciation expense have been reclassified for the quarter and full year respectively. Also, effective January 2009, 

the Company has reclassified certain figures within its segments to more accurately reflect the way in which segmented results 

are reported internally.

To allow for better year-over-year comparability of both of these changes, prior year comparative figures have been reclassified 

as follows:

 FOuRtH QuARtER EndEd dECEMbER 30, 2008

    Recreational/ Home 
  total Juvenile Leisure Furnishings Eliminations

  $ $ $ $ $

Sales to Customers – (9,014) 4,060 4,954 –

Inter-Segment Sales – – (2,010) (2,492) 4,502

Total Revenue – (9,014) 2,050 2,462 4,502

Cost of sales 3,695 (6,370) 2,243 3,320 4,502

Selling, general and 
 administrative expenses 300 (44) (177) 521 –

Depreciation & 
 amortization (3,695) (2,155) (542) (998) –

Research and 
 development costs 678 – 678 – –

Earnings from Operations (978) (445) (152) (381) –

Corporate expenses (978)

Net income	 – 
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 YEAR EndEd dECEMbER 30, 2008

    Recreational/ Home 
  total Juvenile Leisure Furnishings Eliminations

  $ $ $ $ $

Sales to Customers – (35,452) 12,628 22,824 –

Inter-Segment Sales – – (6,670) (10,150) 16,820

Total Revenue – (35,452) 5,958 12,674 16,820

Cost of sales 19,344 (21,231) 7,656 16,099 16,820

Selling, general and 
 administrative expenses 2,111 24 (340) 2,427 –

Depreciation & 
 amortization (19,344) (12,859) (2,256) (4,229) –

Research and 
 development costs 2,336 – 2,336 – –

Earnings from Operations (4,447) (1,386) (1,438) (1,623) –

Corporate expenses (4,447)

Net income	 –

Following is a selected summary of Dorel’s operating results on an annual and quarterly basis.

Selected Financial Information

 OPERAtIng RESuLtS FOR tHE YEARS EndEd In dECEMbER 30

 2009 2008 2007

   % of   % of   % of 
  $ revenues $ revenues $ revenues

Revenues 2,140,114 100.0% 2,181,880 100.0% 1,813,672 100.0%

Net income 107,234 5.0% 112,855 5.2% 87,492 4.8%

Cash dividends 
 declared per share 0.50 – 0.50 – 0.375 –

Earnings per share: 

 Basic 3.23 –	 3.38 – 2.63 –

 Diluted 3.21 – 3.38 – 2.63 –

Amount of restructuring
 costs included in the
 year based on diluted
 earnings per share – – 0.02 – 0.38 –
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 OPERAtIng RESuLtS FOR tHE QuARtERS EndEd

  31-Mar-09 30-Jun-09 30-Sep-09 30-dec-09

  $ $ $ $

Revenues 525,230 551,123 518,458 545,303

Net income 28,029 24,764 30,230 24,211

Earnings per share:

 Basic 0.84 0.74 0.91 0.73

 Diluted 0.84 0.74 0.91 0.73

 OPERAtIng RESuLtS FOR tHE QuARtERS EndEd

  31-Mar-08 30-Jun-08 30-Sep-08 30-dec-08

  $ $ $ $

Revenues 556,034 593,724 552,242 479,880

Net income 35,133 31,347 27,208 19,167

Earnings per share:

 Basic 1.05 0.94 0.82 0.57

 Diluted 1.05 0.94 0.82 0.57

Income Statement – Overview

2009 versus 2008

tabular Summaries 

Variations in revenue across the Company segments:

 FOuRtH QuARtER YEAR

  2009 2008 Increase 2009 2008 Increase (decrease)

  $ $ $ % $ $ $ %

Juvenile 248,521 219,680 28,841 13.1% 995,014 1,073,722 (78,708) (7.3%)

Recreational / 
 Leisure 175,670 157,894 17,776 11.3% 681,366 656,613 24,753 3.8%

Home Furnishings 121,112 102,306 18,806 18.4% 463,734 451,545 12,189 2.7%

Total Revenues 545,303 479,880 65,423 13.6% 2,140,114 2,181,880 (41,766) (1.9%)
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Principal changes in earnings:

 4tH QtR YEAR-tO-dAtE

Earnings from operations by segment: $ $

Juvenile decrease  (4,860) (34,303)

Recreational / Leisure increase (decrease) 5,817  (2,037)

Home Furnishings increase  10,551  28,732 

Total earnings from operations increase (decrease) 11,508  (7,608)

Decrease in interest costs 2,151  5,748 

Increase in income taxes (6,401) (1,955)

Other (2,214) (1,806)

Total increase (decrease) in net income 5,044  (5,621)

Note that detailed analysis of segmented annual results are presented within the discussions that follow this overview.

The Company’s 2008 year-end MD & A outlined how economic conditions would impact 2009 results. It was stated that con-

ditions of higher unemployment and worsening consumer sentiment would likely decrease available discretionary income and 

reduce consumer spending at the retail level. However, it was also stated that while not immune to these conditions, Dorel’s 

customer profile and the nature of the great majority of the Company’s products in the opening to mid-price point categories 

would protect the Company to a certain extent from dramatic sales reductions versus 2008. The results for the year have proven 

this to be true with revenues declining by $41.8 million, or 1.9%, to $2,140 million. This compares to $2,182 million posted 

a year ago. The organic sales decline, removing the impacts of business acquisitions and foreign exchange variations, was less 

than 3%.

One of Dorel’s strengths lies in its multi-national operations, diverse operating segments and broad product lines. Over its 

history this has meant that earnings variations within the Company’s various operating divisions are often compensated by 

one another. This was the case in 2009 where strong performances within North America in the Juvenile and Home Furnish-

ings segments offset less profitable results elsewhere. Given the economic environment, the higher end products within the 

European Juvenile segment and Recreational / Leisure segment did experience some sales declines. Fortunately, Dorel’s product 

line is broad enough to have captured some of these lost sales, though at lower price points. This is particularly true of the 

Company’s high-end bicycles sold to the IBD distribution channel where sales of lower priced models increased. The other 

variable that adversely affected earnings in 2009 as compared to 2008 is the timing of foreign exchange gains and losses on 

hedging instruments. As described in more detail below, this severely dampened earnings within the Juvenile segment at the 

Company’s European operations. 

For fiscal 2009, Dorel recorded revenues of $2,140 million a decrease of 1.9% from 2008. Sales declined by 7.3% in the Ju-

venile segment, partially offset by a 3.8% increase in Recreational / Leisure and 2.7% in Home Furnishings. Gross margins 

for the year were 23.6%, consistent with the 23.4% recorded last year. The three most significant variations year over year in 

the gross margin was lower commodity pricing in 2009, offset by a greater proportion of lower margin product sold in 2009 

and the negative impact on the Company of foreign exchange rates in 2009 versus 2008. Specifically, in 2008 the Company 

recognized unrealized gains of $10.5 million on foreign exchange hedging instruments, principally in the juvenile segment, 
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which reversed in 2009, creating losses in the current year. This had a year over year impact of increasing 2008 margins by 50 

basis points and decreasing 2009 margins by the same amount. Excluding this factor, margins improved by 120 basis points 

as opposed to the 20 basis points as reported. This improvement therefore consists of the benefit of lower input costs, partially 

offset by a less profitable product mix.

Selling, general and administrative (“S,G & A”) expenses were consistent with 2008 levels at $316.2 million versus $316.8 

million the year before. The major changes in the year were a positive impact of foreign exchange rates which lowered the US 

dollar expense, offset by higher costs due to the various business acquisitions throughout 2008 and 2009. Research and devel-

opment costs that were expensed in the year increased by $3.9 million, or 29.7%, from the prior year. Note that the amount 

expensed in the year for research and development is not reflective of the true costs incurred by the Company as a portion of 

these amounts are capitalized. Combined the amounts capitalized and expensed were consistent year over year at approximately 

$33 million. 

Total interest costs in 2009 were $16.4 million versus $22.1 million in the prior year due to a combination of lower average 

borrowings and a lower average interest rate on the long-term borrowings and revolving facilities at 3.1%, versus 4.6% in 2008. 

Note that included in the interest expense category in the year-to-date 2009 figures is an amount of $0.7 million in connection 

with the Company’s interest rate swap used to reduce its exposure to the variability of interest rates. Income before income taxes 

was $128.3 million in 2009 versus $132.0 million in 2008, a decrease of $3.7 million or 2.8%. As a multi-national company, 

Dorel is resident in numerous countries and therefore subject to different tax rates in those various tax jurisdictions and by the 

interpretation and application of these tax laws, as well as the application of income tax treaties between various countries. As 

such, significant variations from year to year in the Company’s combined tax rate can occur. In 2009 the Company’s effective 

tax rate was 16.4% as compared to 14.5% in 2008. The principal reason was greater earnings in higher tax rate jurisdictions.

The Parent Company’s statutory tax rate is 30.8%. The variation from 30.8% to 16.4% can be explained as follows:

 $ %

PROVISION FOR INCOME TAXES $39,531 30.8%

Add (deduct) effect of:   

Difference in effective tax rates of foreign subsidiaries (13,591) (10.6)

Recovery of income taxes arising from the use of unrecorded tax benefits (5,415) (4.2)

Change in valuation allowance (2,599) (2.0)

Non-deductible stock options 1,071 0.8

Other non-deductible items (36) –

Change in future income taxes resulting from changes in tax rates 1,023 0.8

Effect of foreign exchange 672 0.5

Other - Net 458 0.3

PROVISIOn FOR InCOME tAXES $21,113 16.4%

Net income for the full year amounted to $107.2 million or $3.21 per share fully diluted, compared to 2008 net income of 

$112.9 million or $3.38 per diluted share. The foreign exchange gains in 2008 of $10.5 million referred to above equates to 

$7.4 million after-tax, or the equivalent of $0.22 per diluted share.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis



352009 Annual Report

Fourth quarter 2009 versus 2008

Overview
Revenues for the fourth quarter were $545.3 million compared to $479.9 million a year ago, an increase across all three seg-

ments of a total of 13.6%. This increase included the benefits of a weaker US dollar as compared to the prior year’s fourth 

quarter in that non-US denominated revenues were translated at a higher rate of exchange. The fourth quarter also included 

the incremental sales from the Company’s acquisitions in 2009. As such of the 13.6% increase, the organic sales increase in 

the quarter was approximately 7%.

The prior year’s fourth quarter was characterized by a struggling banking industry and major turmoil at the major car manu-

facturers in the United States. The unemployment rate in the United States was rising and consumer confidence fell to record 

lows. Retailers around the world reacted by halting orders from suppliers almost across the board to reduce their in-stock levels. 

Though in some market segments this reaction may have been warranted, in the case of many of Dorel’s product lines, the 

level of orders did not represent what sales levels were at retail. For this reason, the Company’s fourth quarter revenues in 2008 

were significantly affected. 

Gross margins in the fourth quarter of 2009 improved to 24.3% from 21.9% in the prior year. In 2008, the lower sales volumes 

and a slightly less favourable product mix had caused gross margins to decrease. In 2009, the margins improved in all three 

segments, but most significantly in Home Furnishings. As in the full year results, lower input costs were a major contribu-

tor to the improvement. Another significant part of the increase in margins was due to the successful resolution of a pending 

claim against a major international law firm in regards to a breach of professional duty. This claim was made against the firm 

for its failure to timely file a request for an administrative review by the United States Department of Commerce (“DOC”) of 

anti-dumping duties. These duties pertained to certain metal furniture imported from China into the United States during the 

period of December 3, 2001 through May 31, 2003. An agreement was reached with this firm that resulted in a gain of $6.4 

million being recorded in cost of sales. The impact of this on gross margins was an increase of 120 basis points. Note that after 

related legal and other costs, the net after tax gain in the quarter was $2.9 million or $0.09 per diluted share.

S, G & A costs increased in the quarter to $83.2 million from $70.0 million in 2008, an increase of 18.8%. Foreign exchange 

variations accounted for approximately 40% of the increase with the balance due to new businesses acquired over the course of 

2009 and increased spending across several divisions. During the fourth quarter of 2008 all Dorel divisions drastically reduced 

spending, making the 2008 comparative the lowest quarter of S, G & A expense since the Cannondale acquisition in Febru-

ary of 2008. Product liability costs in the quarter were not materially different from the prior year. Research and development  

(“R & D”) costs increased by $3.4 million due to heavier spending in the Juvenile segment and the write-off of previously 

capitalized research and development costs incurred for certain projects. This write-off in the fourth quarter was $2.8 million.

In the fourth quarter, interest costs were lower by $2.2 million as a result of lower borrowings and a lower average borrowing 

rate in 2009. Income before income taxes was $31.0 million in 2009 versus $19.6 million in 2008, an increase of $11.4 million 

or 58.5%. The Company’s income tax expense was $6.8 million in the fourth quarter of 2009 as compared to $0.4 million 

in 2008. The tax rate in the 2009 quarter was 21.9% as compared to 2.0% in 2008. The causes of the unusually low tax rate 

in the 2008 quarter were that the quarter’s earnings were generated in certain lower tax rate jurisdictions. Additionally, the 

Company recognized a tax benefit of $1.8 million in 2008 pertaining to a prior year’s estimated tax position. Excluding this 

out-of-period benefit, the Company’s tax rate for the prior year’s quarter would have been 11.2%. As a result, net income for 

the fourth quarter was $24.2 million, an increase from $19.2 million in 2008. Earnings per share for the quarter were $0.73 

fully diluted, compared to $0.57 per share in the fourth quarter the previous year. 
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Segment Results

 FOuRtH QuARtERS EndEd dECEMbER 30

  2009  2008 

 $ % of rev. $ % of rev. Change %

Juvenile     

Revenues 248,521 – 219,680 – 13.1%

Gross Profit 69,860 28.1% 59,828 27.2% 16.8%

Earnings from operations 20,963 8.4% 25,823 11.8% (18.8%)

Recreational / Leisure     

Revenues 175,670 – 157,894 – 11.3%

Gross Profit 38,688 22.0% 33,691 21.3% 14.8%

Earnings from operations 8,989 5.1% 3,172 2.0% 183.4%

Home Furnishings     

Revenues 121,112 – 102,306 – 18.4%

Gross Profit 23,931 19.8% 11,522 11.3% 107.7%

Earnings from operations 12,090 10.0% 1,539 1.5% 685.6%

The Juvenile segment revenue increase in the fourth quarter was 13.1% and occurred in almost all markets. However the in-

crease in Europe was due to exchange rates as sales in local currencies were flat with the prior year. Australia and Canada also 

benefited from stronger currencies in the fourth quarter of 2009 and after factoring in the currency impact and the BABY ART 

acquisition in 2009, organic sales growth for the segment as a whole in the quarter was approximately 5%. Juvenile gross mar-

gins were higher in 2009 by 90 basis points and along with higher revenues generated an additional $10.0 million in margin 

dollars. The margin increase was comprised of the benefits of lower input costs and improved overhead absorption, offset by 

higher recall costs. The comparative quarter also included mark-to-market gains which positively impacted prior year margins, 

an event that did not re-occur in 2009.

The additional margin dollars were more than offset by higher S,G & A costs, depreciation and amortization levels and an 

increase in research and development costs. The S,G & A increase was due to foreign exchange on non-US expenses, higher 

selling costs as a function of greater sales levels and higher administrative costs mainly attributable to personnel costs. The 

economic events of the fourth quarter of 2008 entailed dramatic cuts in operating costs in that year and in 2009 spending 

levels were higher as a result as they returned to more normal levels. Note that S,G & A costs in the fourth quarter of 2009 

were consistent with third quarter levels. As described above research and developments costs increased by $3.3 million due to 

heavier spending and capitalized R & D write-offs. As a result, earnings from operations declined by $4.9 million or 18.8% 

from the prior year. 

Recreational / Leisure segment revenues in the fourth quarter of 2009 increased by $17.8 million, or 11.3%. Of this increase, 

approximately 2/3rds was from new businesses acquired with the balance of the increase coming from the segment’s IBD busi-

ness serviced by CSG. Gross margins improved in 2009 to 22.0% from 21.3% the year before. The main reason for this was 

improved margins at Pacific Cycle. Note that sales to the IBD channel included a greater volume of less expensive, lower mar-
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gin bicycles which dampened margins within the CSG division. S, G & A costs were $27.8 million in the quarter, consistent 

with $28.0 million the year before. Both  the Pacific Cycle business and CSG division posted improved earnings for the quarter.

The Home Furnishing segment continued its strong year with a revenue increase of 18.4% over the fourth quarter of 2008. 

These increases were at Cosco, Ameriwood and DHP. Gross margins also improved to 19.8% from 11.3% the prior year. 

However included in the 2009 quarter is the settlement amount referred to above of $6.4 million. Excluding this gain, gross 

margins would have been 14.5%, a 320 basis point improvement as the segment has improved its operations versus last year.

S, G & A costs increased by $1.7 million, but as a percentage of revenues were consistent at 9.0%. Included in these costs 

for the quarter were higher legal costs in connection with the $6.4 million settlement that was reached. These higher costs 

amounted to $1.4 million reducing the positive impact on earnings from operations to $5.0 million. As previously noted, the 

after-tax impact of this amount was $2.9 million.

Segment Results

Seasonality
Though revenues at the operating segments within Dorel may vary in their seasonality, for the Company as a whole, varia-

tions between quarters are not significant as illustrated below. The fourth quarter of 2008 was negatively impacted by a severe 

cutback in retailer’s new orders as opposed to a function of seasonality. This can be seen in the results of the fourth quarters of 

both 2007 and 2009 which are more consistent with the other quarters in the year.
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Juvenile

   2009  2008  CHAngE

  $  % of sales $ % of sales $ %

Revenues  995,014  100.0% 1,073,722  100.0% (78,708)  (7.3%)

Gross profit       274,497  27.6% 309,680  28.8% (35,183) (11.4%)

Selling, general and 
 administrative expenses      149,135  15.0% 154,164  14.4% (5,029) (3.3%)

Depreciation and amortization        20,776  2.1% 20,041  1.9% 735  3.7%

Research and development        11,948  1.2% 7,928  0.7% 4,020  50.7%

Restructuring costs             104  – 710  0.1% (606) (85.4%)

Earnings from operations  92,534  9.3% 126,837  11.8% (34,303) (27.0%)

Revenues in 2009 declined from their record 2008 levels by $78.7 million or 7.3%. For the segment as a whole, the organic 

revenue decline was approximately 4%, if the impact of foreign exchange and acquisitions is excluded. The revenue decline was 

principally in Europe and was due to both variations in foreign exchange rates and organic sales declines. European revenues 

declined by 7% after removing the impact of exchange and the BABY ART acquisition earlier in the year. The decline was as a 

result of the difficult retail environment, the impact of which was more acute in Europe where the Company’s product line is 

focused on mid to higher priced products. This meant that consumers in many cases elected to purchase less expensive products 

from both Dorel, but also from competitors who specialize in lower price points. 

In North America, sales declined, but by less than 2%. The decline was due to a conscious effort to eliminate less profitable 

items as part of a minimum margin requirement program as opposed to the loss of listings with retailers. In Europe, sales were 

lower in almost all markets, but especially so in the emerging eastern European countries, which were affected the most by the 

economic recession. In local currency, sales in Australia increased by 13% over last year and even with a lower average rate of 

exchange to the US dollar, sales improved by almost 5%. This improvement was principally in car seats, but also across several 

other product lines.

North American gross margins improved due to a lower input cost environment, especially for resin costs and a better prod-

uct mix. Europe also benefited from lower costs, but as consumers favoured lower cost items, the sales mix had the impact of 

lowering margins. Also, included in both years are mark-to-market foreign exchange figures which have the impact of creating 

income and losses based on current exchange rates as opposed to the period when foreign exchange contacts mature. In 2008 

gains totaling $8.9 million were recorded on contracts that matured in 2009. The reversal of these gains in 2009 totaled $8.4 

million. This had the impact of shifting income from 2009 to 2008 and the year over year impact therefore is $17.3 million 

pertaining to these contracts. Over and above these amounts, in 2009 the Company recorded an additional loss of $4.2 mil-

lion on contracts that were intended for use in 2010. The majority of this $4.2 million was recorded in the Company’s third 

quarter. If gross margins are adjusted for the $12.6 million loss in 2009 and $8.9 million gain in 2008, they become 28.9% 

for 2009 and 28.0% for 2008.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis



392009 Annual Report

S,G & A costs for the segment as a whole decreased by $5.0 million from last year, a large part due to the average rate of 

exchange being lower in 2009. Note that total product liability costs for the Juvenile segment in 2009 were $10.4 million as 

compared to $13.0 million in 2008. Earnings from operations for the year were $92.5 million in 2009 versus $126.8 million 

in 2008.  If the mark-to-market amounts above are excluded, earnings from operations in 2009 and 2008 would have been 

$105.1 and $117.9 million respectively.

Recreational / Leisure

   2009  2008  CHAngE

  $  % of sales $ % of sales $ %

Revenues  681,366  100.0% 656,613  100.0% 24,753  3.8%

Gross profit       153,739  22.6% 150,804  23.0% 2,935 1.9%

Selling, general and 
 administrative expenses      106,209  15.6% 101,886  15.5% 4,323 4.2%

Depreciation and amortization        5,009  0.7% 4,708  0.7% 301  6.4%

Research and development             2,684  0.4% 2,336  0.4% 348 14.9%

Earnings from operations  39,837  5.8% 41,874  6.4% (2,037) (4.9%)

Recreational / Leisure revenues increased 3.8% to $681.4 million in 2009 compared to $656.6 million a year ago. This increase 

was due to sales growth within CSG as well as incremental revenues acquired through the small business acquisitions made in 

the year. Partially offsetting these increases was a sales decrease to the segment’s mass merchant customers. As a result for the 

segment as a whole the organic sales decline for the year was 3.4%. Gross margins declined to 22.6% from 23.0% in the prior 

year despite a greater proportion of sales by CSG to the Company’s IBD customers. This was due to consumers purchasing less 

of the Company’s high end product and trading down to lower priced IBD items, which carry lower margins. Also, expenses in-

cluded in cost of sales related to the previously announced re-organization of the segment totaled approximately $1.6 million. 

S,G & A costs increased over last year by $4.3 million or 4.2%. The increase was due mainly to costs associated with new 

business acquisitions as well as an increase in expenses as the Company invested in the segment’s infrastructure in categories 

such as talent, information technology and other administrative areas. These higher costs were partially offset by reductions in 

discretionary spending in the selling and marketing areas. Note that S,G & A costs associated with the previously announced 

re-organization of the segment totaled approximately $1.3 million. This is in addition to the amounts included in cost of sales. 

All of these investments that were made in 2009 are expected to provide benefits going forward. Depreciation and amortization 

as well as research and development costs rose by a combined $0.6 million in the year. These are the principal factors for the 

decrease in earnings from operations from $41.9 million in 2008 to $39.8 million in 2009, a decrease of $2.0 million or 4.9%.
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Home Furnishings

   2009  2008  CHAngE

  $  % of sales $ % of sales $ %

Revenues  463,734  100.0% 451,545  100.0% 12,189  2.7%

Gross profit       77,308  16.7% 50,915  11.3% 26,393 51.8%

Selling, general and 
 administrative expenses      36,618  7.9% 38,288  8.5% (1,670) (4.4%)

Depreciation and amortization        1,442  0.3% 1,666  0.4% (224) (13.4%)

Research and development        2,552  0.6% 2,981  0.7% (429)  (14.4%)

Restructuring costs             –  – 16  – (16) (100.0%)

Earnings from operations  36,696  7.9% 7,964  1.8% 28,732 360.8%

For the year, Home Furnishings revenues increased by 2.7%, reaching $463.7 million up from $451.5 million in the prior 

year. The fact that sales increased in a difficult economic environment is due to Dorel’s focus on reasonably priced furniture 

sold primarily to mass merchants. Gross margins in 2009 were 16.7% versus 11.3% recorded in the prior year. This segment 

was helped by a more favourable exchange rate in 2009 as two of the plants are located in Canada and ship to mainly US based 

customers. It should be noted that as of the fourth quarter of 2009, foreign exchange rates have returned to 2008 levels mean-

ing that margins have moderated. As described in the fourth quarter analysis above, included in the 2009 quarter is an out of 

period settlement amount of $6.4 million. This had the effect of increasing margins by 140 basis points for the year. Excluding 

this gain, gross margins would have been 15.3%, a 400 basis point improvement. Along with foreign exchange and lower input 

costs, versus last year, the segment improved its manufacturing operations efficiency and overhead absorption.

S, G & A costs decreased by $1.7 million to $36.6 million in 2009. As a percentage of revenues these costs decreased from 

8.5% to 7.9%. The principal reason for the decrease was the successful business rationalization at Cosco Home & Office. This 

business is re-focused on its core competency of metal folding furniture and step stools and as a result was able to cut costs 

considerably. As such earnings from operations for the year were $36.7 million compared to $8.0 million in 2008.
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balance Sheet

 SELECtEd bALAnCE SHEEt dAtA AS At dECEMbER 30

  2009 2008 2007

  $ $ $

Total assets 2,002,180  2,030,473  1,657,904

Long-term Financial Liabilities, excluding current portion:  

Long-term debt  227,075 450,704 192,385

Other long-term liabilities  25,139  6,010  6,848 

Other:    

Current portion of long-term debt   122,508  8,879  62,906 

As at the 2008 year-end the Company had experienced a significant increase in inventory levels as retailers attempted to reduce 

their in-stock levels on-hand. As a result, sales in the fourth quarter of last year were lower than was anticipated at that time 

and inventory levels rose. In 2009 as retailers began to replenish their stock levels, the Company’s inventories declined accord-

ingly throughout the year and, as was expected, inventories declined from $509.5 million as at December 30, 2008 to $399.9 

million as at December 30, 2009. 

Over and above debt reductions in 2009 as a result of a strong cash flow year, the long-term debt decrease as at December 30, 

2009, is due to the re-classification from long-term to current of certain of the Company’s borrowings. Firstly, the Company’s 

operating line of credit is due for renewal in July 2010. Second, the Company’s $55.0 million Series “B” Senior Guaranteed 

Notes matured in February, 2010 and was repaid using existing facilities. In addition, as a result of the issuance on April 6, 

2010 of the Senior Guaranteed Notes for an aggregate of $200 million, the Company is reclassifying $200 million from the 

current portion of long-term debt to long-term debt which has been reflected in the above table.
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balance Sheet (Cont’d)
In 2009, the Company made several small business and asset acquisitions, the impact of which was not material to the balance 

sheet when comparing to the prior year. The total net assets acquired are as below:

ASSEtS $

 Accounts receivable 2,990

 Other current assets 376

 Inventories 5,569

 Intangible assets 4,037

 Deferred development costs 947

 Property, plant and equipment 155

 Goodwill 12,515

  26,589

LIAbILItIES $

 Bank indebtedness 446

 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 1,726

 Current portion of long-term debt 55

 Long-term debt and other long term liabilities 316

 Long-term future income taxes 403

  2,946

Net assets acquired 23,643

Certain of the Company’s working capital ratios are as follows:

 AS At dECEMbER 30,

  2009 2008

Debt to equity  0.32 0.46

# of Days in receivables 59 55

# of Days in inventory 91 107

The higher number of days in receivables is because the December 30, 2008 year end levels were lower than usual due to a 

sharp sales reduction near the end of the year. The improved number of days in inventory figure reflects the lower inventory 

levels throughout 2009 versus 2008. Other than the items described above, there were no significant variations year over year 

in the Company’s balance sheet.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

Cash Flow
Free cash flow, a non-GAAP financial measure, was $136.8 million in 2009 versus $15.7 million in 2008, detailed as follows:

  2009 2008 CHAngE

  $ $ $

Cash flow from operations before 
 changes in non-cash working capital:  156,857   158,390   (1,533)

Change in:      

 Accounts receivable  (27,312)              28,223   (55,535)

 Inventories  113,630          (121,027)  234,657 

 Prepaid expenses  (378)                   677   (1,055)

 Accounts payable and other liabilities  (39,437)              22,105   (61,542)

 Income taxes 1,156              (8,485)  9,641 

Cash provided by operating activities  204,516               79,883   124,633 

Plus (less):      

 Dividends paid (16,614)           (16,707)  93 

 Share repurchase (10,504) – (10,504)

 Additions to property, plant & equipment – net  (21,893)           (26,518)  4,625 

 Intangible assets  (18,753)           (20,929)  2,176 

FREE CASHFLOW (1) 136,752   15,729   121,023 

(1) “Free cash flow” is a non-GAAP financial measure and is defined as cash provided by operating activities less dividends paid, shares repurchased,  
additions to property, plant & equipment, and intangibles.

During 2009, cash flow from operations, before changes in working capital, decreased by $1.5 million. After changes in non-

cash working capital items, cash flow provided by operating activities increased by $124.6 million. As described above, the ma-

jority of this increase was due to a decrease in inventory levels, partially offset by increases in accounts receivable and decreases 

in accounts payable. These other variations in working capital balances were a function of timing as opposed to significant 

changes in trends. Capital expenditures on property, plant and equipment and intangible assets totalled $40.6 million in 2009, 

compared to $47.4 million in 2008.

As of December 30, 2009, Dorel was compliant with all covenant requirements and expects to be so going forward. The Com-

pany’s existing borrowing facility is in place until July 1, 2010. Under this facility, the credit agreement allows for borrowing 

availability of up to $475 million, plus an additional $50 million accordion feature, if required. Subsequent to year-end, ef-

fective April 6, 2010, the Company issued $50 million of Series “A” Senior Guaranteed Notes and $150 million of Series “B” 

Senior Guaranteed Notes, bearing interest at 4.24% and 5.14%, respectively. The principal repayment of Series “A” Senior 

Guaranteed Notes is due on April 6, 2015. The principal repayments of Series “B” Senior Guaranteed Notes are as follow:
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Cash Flow (Cont’d)

 • 2 annual instalments of $13 million ending in April 2014

 • 1 annual instalment of $7.5 million ending in April 2015

 • 5 annual instalments of $23.3 million ending in April 2020

As a result of the issuance of the Senior Guaranteed Notes for an aggregate of $200 million, the Company is reclassifying $200 

million from the current portion of long-term debt to long-term debt and re-issuing its financial statements. In addition, fol-

lowing the issuance of the Senior Guaranteed Notes, the borrowing availability under the revolving bank loans decreased to 

$375 million from the availability as at December 30, 2009 of $475 million. The Company is currently renegotiating the terms 

of the revolving bank loans in order to extend this facility.

Contractual Obligations
The following is a table of a summary of the contractual obligations of the Company as of December 30, 2009:

   less than  1 - 3  4 - 5  After 5
COntRACtuAL ObLIgAtIOnS total 1 year years years years

  $ $ $ $ $

Long-term debt repayments (1) 349,583 122,508 27,075 26,000  174,000

Interest payments (2)            71,441          11,553          21,683 18,007 20,198   

Net operating lease commitments 123,317  28,675  47,768  24,398       22,476 

Capital addition purchase commitments            4,662          4,662           –                 –                  –   

Minimum payments under licensing agreements            9,746          6,199          3,547             –              –   

Balance of sale               220             220             –         –               –   

total contractual obligations 558,969 173,817 100,073 68,405 216,674

(1) Subsequent to year-end, the Company issued $50 million of Series “A” Senior Guaranteed Notes and $150 million of Series “B” Senior Guaranteed 
Notes. Please refer to Note 12 of the Consolidated Financial Statements for the terms. The terms of the Senior Guaranteed Notes have been taken into 
consideration in the above table.

(2) Interest payments on the Company’s revolving bank loans are calculated using the interest rate in effect as at December 30, 2009 and assume a debt 
reduction of the revolving bank loans following the issuance of the Senior Guaranteed Notes on April 6, 2010; the remaining portion of the revolving 
bank loans assume no debt reduction until due date in July 2010, at which point it is assumed the loan would be paid in full. Interest payments on 
the Company’s notes are as specified in the related note agreements and the interest rates related to the new Senior Guaranteed Notes issued have been 
taken into consideration in the above table.

The Company does not have significant contractual commitments beyond those reflected in the consolidated balance sheet, 

the commitments in Note 19 to the Consolidated Financial Statements or those listed in the table above.

For purposes of this table, contractual obligations for the purchases of goods or services are defined as agreements that are 

enforceable and legally binding on the Company and that specify all significant terms, including: fixed or variable price provi-

sions; and the approximate timing of the transaction. With the exception of those listed above, the Company does not have 

significant agreements for the purchase of raw materials or finished goods specifying minimum quantities or set prices that 

exceed its short term expected requirements. Therefore, not included in the above table are Dorel’s outstanding purchase orders 
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for raw materials, finished goods or other goods and services which are based on current needs and are fulfilled by its vendors 

on relatively short timetables. 

As new product development is vital to the continued success of Dorel, the Company must make capital investments in re-

search and development, moulds and other machinery, equipment and technology. It is expected that the Company will invest 

at least $35.0 million over the course of 2010 to meet its new product development and other growth objectives. The Company 

expects its existing operations to be able to generate sufficient cash flow to provide for this and other requirements as they arise 

throughout the year.

Over and above long-term debt in the contractual obligation table, included in the Company’s long-term liabilities are the 

following amounts:

 Pension and post-retirement benefit obligations: As detailed in Note 15 of the Consolidated Financial 

 Statements, this amount of $20.9 million pertains to the Company’s pension and post-retirement benefit  

 plans. In 2009, contributions expected to be made for funded plans and benefits expected to be paid for  

 unfunded plans under these plans will amount to approximately $2.0 million.

 Other long-term liabilities consist of:

 Government mandated employee savings plans in Europe,

  the majority of which are due after five years                  $ 4,725

 Contingent considerations 18,895

 Other liabilities due in more than one year   1,519

   $25,139

The contingent considerations pertain to certain of the Company’s recent business acquisitions. In the case of the Company’s 

Australian and Brazilian subsidiaries where the Company holds less than 100% of the shares, the Company has entered into 

agreements with the minority interest holders for the purchase of the balance of the shares at some future point. Under the 

terms of these agreements, the purchase price of these shares is based on specified earnings objectives at the end of specific time 

periods. The acquisition agreement for Hot Wheels and Circle Bikes acquired in the year includes additional consideration 

contingent upon a formulaic variable price based mainly on future earnings results of the acquired business up to the year 

ended December 30, 2012. As at December 30, 2009 the total estimated liability is $18.9 million and this amount will be paid 

no later than 2013.

Off-balance Sheet Arrangements
In addition to the contractual obligations listed above, the Company has certain off-balance sheet arrangements and commit-

ments that have financial implications, specifically contingent liabilities, guarantees, and commercial and standby letters of 

credit. The Company’s off-balance sheet arrangements are described in Notes 19 and 20 to the Consolidated Financial State-

ments for the year ended December 30, 2009.

Requests for providing commitments to extend credit and financial guarantees are reviewed and approved by senior manage-

ment. Management regularly reviews all outstanding commitments, letters of credit and financial guarantees and the result of 

these reviews are considered in assessing the adequacy of Dorel’s reserve for possible credit and guarantee losses.
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derivative Financial Instruments
The Company is exposed to interest rate fluctuations, related primarily to its revolving long-term bank loans, for which 

amounts drawn are subject to LIBOR or U.S. base rates in effect at the time of borrowing, plus a margin. The Company 

manages its interest rate exposure and enters into swap agreements consisting in exchanging variable rates for fixed rates for an 

extended period of time. All other long-term debts have fixed interest rates and are therefore not exposed to cash flow interest 

rate risk.

During 2009, the Company decided to use interest rate swap agreements to lock-in a portion of its debt cost and reduce its 

exposure to the variability of interest rates by exchanging variable rate payments for fixed rate payments. The Company has 

designated its interest rate swaps as cash flow hedges for which it uses hedge accounting. 

As a result of its global operating activities, Dorel is subject to various market risks relating primarily to foreign currency ex-

change rate risk. In order to reduce or eliminate the associated risks, the Company uses various derivative financial instruments 

such as options, futures and forward contracts to hedge against adverse fluctuations in currency. The Company’s main source of 

foreign currency exchange rate risk resides in sales and purchases of goods denominated in currencies other than the functional 

currency of each of Dorel’s subsidiaries. The Company’s financial debt is mainly denominated in US dollars, for which no 

foreign currency hedging is required. Short-term credit lines and overdrafts commonly used by Dorel’s subsidiaries are in the 

currency of the borrowing entity and therefore carry no exchange-rate risk. Inter-company loans/borrowings are economically 

hedged as appropriate, whenever they present a net exposure to exchange-rate risk.

As such, derivative financial instruments are used as a method for meeting the risk reduction objectives of the Company by 

generating offsetting cash flows related to the underlying position in respect of amount and timing of forecasted transactions. 

Dorel does not hold or use derivative financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes. 

Prior to November 1, 2009 the Company did not apply hedge accounting to foreign exchange contracts. For any new foreign 

exchange contracts taken after that date, the Company has designated the new foreign exchange contracts as cash flow hedges 

for which it uses hedge accounting. For the foreign exchange contracts taken prior to November 1, 2009, the Company elected 

not to apply hedge accounting for these derivatives; these foreign exchange contracts, classified as held for trading, are marked 

to market for which unrealized and realized gains and losses associated are recorded in cost of sales.

The fair values, average rates and notional amounts of derivatives and the fair values and carrying amounts of financial instru-

ments are disclosed in Note 14 of the Consolidated Financial Statements. 

Critical Accounting Estimates 
The Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian GAAP. The preparation of these 

financial statements requires estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and ex-

penses, and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. A complete list of all relevant accounting policies is listed in 

Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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The Company believes the following are the most critical accounting policies that affect Dorel’s results as presented herein and 

that would have the most material effect on the financial statements should these policies change or be applied in a different 

manner:

• goodwill and certain other indefinite life intangible assets: Goodwill and certain other intangible assets have indefinite 

 useful lives and as such, are not amortized to income. Instead, the Company must determine at least once annually whether  

 the fair values of these assets are less than their carrying value, thus indicating impairment. The Company uses the dis 

 counted cash flows valuation method and makes assumptions and estimates in a number of areas, including future earnings  

 and cash flows, the cost of capital and discount rates. 

• Product liability: The Company insures itself to mitigate its product liability exposure. The estimated product liability 

 exposure is calculated by an independent actuarial firm based on historical sales volumes, past claims history and  

 management and actuarial assumptions. The estimated exposure includes incidents that have occurred, as well as incidents  

 anticipated to occur on units sold prior to December 30, 2009. Significant assumptions used in the actuarial model include  

 management’s estimates for pending claims, product life cycle, discount rates, and the frequency and severity of product  

 incidents.

• Pension plans and post retirement benefits: The costs of pension and other post-retirement benefits are calculated based 

 on assumptions determined by management, with the assistance of independent actuarial firms and consultants. These  

 assumptions include the long-term rate of return on pension assets, discount rates for pension and other post-retirement  

 benefit obligations, expected service period, salary increases, retirement ages of employees and health care cost trend rates.

• Future income taxes: The Company follows the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under this 

 method, future income taxes relate to the expected future tax consequences of differences between the carrying amount of  

 balance sheet items and their corresponding tax values using the substantively enacted income tax rate, which will be in  

 effect for the year in which the differences are expected to reverse. A valuation allowance is recorded to reduce the carrying  

 amount of future income tax assets to the extent that, in the opinion of management, it is more likely than not that the  

 future income tax assets will not be realized. The ultimate realization of future tax assets is dependent upon the generation of  

 future taxable income and tax planning strategies. Future income tax assets and liabilities are adjusted for the effects of  

 changes in tax laws and rates on the date of substantive enactment. 

• Product warranties: A provision for warranty cost is recorded in cost of sales when the revenue for the related product is 

 recognized. The cost is estimated based on a number of factors, including the historical warranty claims and cost experience,  

 the type and duration of warranty, the nature of product sold and in service, counter-warranty coverage available from the  

 Company’s suppliers and product recalls. The Company reviews its recorded product warranty provisions and any  

 adjustment is recorded in cost of sales.

• Allowances for sales returns and other customer programs: At the time revenue is recognized certain provisions may also 

 be recorded, including returns and allowances, which are based on agreements with applicable customers, historical  

 experience with a particular customer and/or product, and other relevant factors. Historical sales returns, allowances,  

 write-offs, changes in internal credit policies and customer concentrations are used when evaluating the adequacy of the  

 allowance for sales returns. In addition, the Company records estimated reductions to revenue for customer programs and  

 incentive offerings, including special pricing agreements, promotions, advertising allowances and other volume-based  

 incentives. Historical sales data, agreements, customer vendor agreements, changes in internal credit policies and customer  

 concentrations are analyzed when evaluating the adequacy of the allowances. 
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new Accounting Standards

Inventories
Effective the first day of fiscal year 2009, the Company adopted the CICA Handbook Section 3031, “Inventories”, which re-

places Section 3030, “Inventories”, and harmonizes the Canadian standards related to inventories with International Financial 

Reporting Standards (IFRS). This Section provides changes to the measurement and more extensive guidance on the deter-

mination of the cost, including allocation of overheads and other costs to inventories; prohibits the use of the last-in, first-out 

(LIFO) method; requires the reversal of previous write-downs when there is a subsequent increase in the value of inventories; 

and expands the disclosure requirements regarding inventories and cost of sales to increase transparency. This Section applies 

to interim and annual financial statements beginning on or after January 1, 2008.

As a result of the more restrictive guidance on the determination of costs, the Company changed some of its overhead alloca-

tion policy, whereby some overhead costs are expensed. In accordance with Section 3031, the Company applied these changes 

in accounting policies by adjusting the opening retained earnings as at December 31, 2008 (prior fiscal year periods were not 

restated). Accordingly, effective as of the beginning of the 2009 fiscal year, the impact of measuring the inventories under the 

new standard is a decrease of the carrying amount of inventories of $3.5 million. Opening retained earnings at the beginning 

of the fiscal year 2009 were decreased by $2.1 million, equal to the change in opening inventories net of tax of $1.4 million.

Section 3031 requires depreciation expense related to manufacturing activities to be included in Cost of sales. As a result, ef-

fective on the first day of fiscal year 2009, depreciation expense related to manufacturing activities has been reclassified to Cost 

of sales. The cost of inventories recognized as an expense and included in Cost of sales for the year ended December 30, 2009 

was $1.545 billion. During the year ended December 30, 2009, the Company recorded $13.2 million (in Cost of sales) of 

write-downs of inventory as a result of net realizable value being lower than cost and no inventory write-downs recognized in 

previous years were reversed.

 

goodwill and Intangible Assets
Effective the first day of fiscal year 2009, the Company adopted the CICA Handbook Section 3064, “Goodwill and Intangible 

Assets”, which replaces Section 3062, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets”, and Section 3450, “Research and Development 

Costs”.  The standard provides guidance on the recognition of intangible assets in accordance with the definition of an asset 

and the criteria for asset recognition as well as clarifying the concept of matching revenues and expenses, whether these assets 

are separately acquired or internally developed.  This standard applies to interim and annual financial statements relating to 

fiscal years beginning on or after October 1, 2008.

The Company has reviewed the new section and determined that there was no impact upon its adoption on its financial state-

ments except the deferred development costs are presented with the intangible assets as opposed to with other assets. As a result, 

$26.9 million of deferred development costs as at December 30, 2008 have been reclassified from other assets to intangible assets.

Credit Risk and the Fair Value of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities
On January 20, 2009, the Emerging Issues Committee (EIC) issued EIC-173, “Credit Risk and the Fair Value of Financial 

Assets and Financial Liabilities”, which requires that the fair value of financial instruments, including derivative financial in-
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struments, takes into account the counterparties’ credit risk for assets and the Company’s credit risk for liabilities. EIC-173 

should be applied retrospectively without restatement of prior years to all financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value in 

interim and annual financial statements for periods ending on or after January 20, 2009. The effective date of application for 

the Company is the first day of fiscal year 2009. The application of EIC-173 did not have a significant impact on the financial 

results of the Company. 

general Standards of Financial Statement Presentation
In June 2007, the CICA amended Section 1400, “General Standards of Financial Statement Presentation”, which is effective 

for interim and annual financial statements relating to fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2008, and which includes 

requirements to assess and disclose the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. The adoption of the amended Section 

did not have any impact on the financial statements of the Company.

Financial Instruments
In June 2009, the CICA amended Section 3862, “Financial Instruments – Disclosures”, which is effective for annual financial 

statements relating to fiscal years ending after September 30, 2009. The amendments are intended to enhance disclosure re-

garding fair value measurements of financial instruments and liquidity risk exposures. These amendments resulted in enhanced 

disclosures regarding fair value measurement of interest rate swaps and foreign exchange contracts. The amended Section re-

lates to disclosure only and did not impact the financial results of the Company.

Future Accounting Changes

International Financial Reporting Standards 
 On February 13, 2008, the Accounting Standards Board of Canada confirmed the date of the changeover from Canadian 

GAAP to International Financial Reporting Standards.  Canadian publicly accountable enterprises must adapt IFRS to their 

interim and annual financial statements relating to fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2011, with early adoption al-

lowed.  Subject to securities regulatory approval, the Company has chosen to early adopt IFRS and it will issue its last financial 

statements prepared in accordance with Canadian GAAP in 2010.  Effective the first day of fiscal year 2011, the Company’s 

financial statements will be prepared in accordance with IFRS, with comparative figures and an opening balance sheet restated 

to conform to IFRS, along with a reconciliation from Canadian GAAP to IFRS, as per guidance provided in IFRS 1, “First-

Time Adoption of International Reporting Standards”.

A core project team has been established to achieve the changeover of the Company’s financial statements.  The team’s mandate 

is to oversee the transition process, including any impacts on financial reporting, business processes, internal controls and infor-

mation systems.  The external auditors are notified and consulted on Company accounting policy choices.  Regular reporting 

is provided by the project team to senior management and the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors.

In preparation for the changeover to IFRS, the Company has developed an IFRS transition plan consisting of five phases: 

1) Diagnostic Phase, 2) Design and Planning Phase, 3) Solution Development Phase, 4) Implementation Phase and, 5) Post 

Implementation Phase.
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Phase 1: diagnostic

ACtIOnS Determine key accounting differences.

Assessment of where the Company’s current financial reporting will be impacted by IFRS.

Provide base information to facilitate the structuring of the IFRS conversion project.

Prioritize conversion activities and make recommendations.

Provide a high level assessment of the potential for impacts of adopting IFRS on information 
systems and business processes, including internal controls over financial reporting and 
disclosure controls and procedures.

Provide a high level assessment of the potential effort and resources required to 
implement IFRS.

Diagnostic report completed and approved in July 2008.

tIMEtAbLE 2008

PROgRESS Completed

Phase 2: design and Planning

ACtIOnS Project launch, project management, infrastructure and planning.

Train core team. Global training sessions held for key financial executives through 
November 2008.

Develop communication plan including the establishment of communication protocol for the 
core team. Monthly communication updates with key Corporate and Divisional financial exe-
cutives. Quarterly communication updates to the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors.

Adapt conversion roadmap to project structure and allocate resources. Company Finance 
Director nominated as project sponsor along with project manager, key Divisional personnel 
and third party technical experts.

Detailed scoping exercise of the key accounting differences between IFRS and Canadian 
GAAP; completed in February 2009.

tIMEtAbLE 2009

PROgRESS Completed
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Phase 3: Solution design and development

ACtIOnS Solution Design
Select preliminary accounting policy solutions / identify business unit impacts and solutions /  
re-evaluate business, IT and process effects for all business areas / select implementation approach. 

Solution design analysis completed for all Company Divisions. Impact on underlying  
processes assessed considering the frequency and magnitude of the accounting change.

Use of third party technical experts on key accounting positions, as required.    

Solution Development
Select accounting policies and prepare accounting policies and procedures manuals / identify busi-
ness process and system impacts / identify solutions to IFRS impacts / finalize conversion plans.

tIMEtAbLE Solution Design: 2009

Solution Development: November 30, 2010

PROgRESS Solution Design: Completed

Solution Development: In Progress

Phase 4: Implementation

ACtIOnS Approve selected accounting policies and finalize manuals.

Roll out accounting policies.

Test and remediate, including dry run in a “test environment”.

Roll out process and system changes and perform education.

Perform reporting under IFRS.

tIMEtAbLE December 30, 2010

PROgRESS Not yet commenced

Phase 5: Post-Implementation

ACtIOnS Transition to a sustainable operational model.

Conversion plan assessment.

tIMEtAbLE June 30, 2011

PROgRESS Not yet commenced
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The Company has analyzed the IFRS standards and has made choices, as warranted, with regard to these standards and noted 

the differences between certain of these standards and current accounting policies.  The most significant ones are set out in the 

following table:

Standards Comparison between IFRS and Company current 
accounting policies

Findings

IAS 1:

Presentation  
of Financial 
Statements

IFRS allows that expenses recognized in profit or loss 
should be analyzed either by nature or by function. 
If an entity categorizes by function, then additional 
information on the nature of expenses – at a minimum  
depreciation, amortization and employee benefits  
expense – must be disclosed.

Under IFRS, in the Statement of Cash Flows, the 
Company has a choice on the presentation of operat-
ing cash flows. The direct method of presentation is 
encouraged but the indirect method is acceptable.

IFRS specifies that classification of assets and liabilities 
can be based on liquidity, whereas Canadian GAAP 
does not specify a method other than by current and 
non-current.

The Company has chosen to present the  
expenses in the Financial Statements by 
function.

The Company has chosen to present the  
operating cash flows in the Statement of 
Cash Flows using the indirect method.

The Company has chosen to classify assets 
and liabilities as current and non-current.

IAS 12:

Income 
Taxes

Unlike IFRS, under Canadian GAAP a deferred  
income tax asset or liability is not recognized for 
a temporary difference arising from the difference 
between the historical exchange rate and the current 
exchange rate translations of the cost of non-monetary 
assets and liabilities of integrated foreign operations.

Under IFRS, potential tax exposures are analyzed indi-
vidually and separately from the calculation of income 
tax, and the amount of tax provided for is the best  
estimate of the tax amount expected to be paid. Under 
Canadian GAAP, the general recognition standard is 
“probable” or “more likely than not”. Tax liabilities are 
measured using amounts “expected to be paid to” tax 
authorities, using a single best estimate.

The Company is currently assessing the 
impact of these differences on the financial 
statements.

The Company’s current accounting policy 
under Canadian GAAP over potential tax 
exposures is to recognize them when  
“probable” with the tax liabilities measured 
using a single best estimate.

IAS 16:

Property, 
Plant and 
Equipment

The main relevant differences between IFRS and  
Canadian GAAP are:

a) The possibility to evaluate assets at fair value at each  
    balance sheet date.

b) Componentization: parts of an asset with different   
    useful lives have to be amortized separately. This  
    requirement exists under Canadian GAAP but it is  
    further emphasized by IFRS.

Based on the information collected to date, 
none of the GAAP differences related to 
IFRS will have a material impact on the 
Company’s financial statements. 

The Company has not elected to evaluate 
assets at fair value at each balance sheet date. 
Fixed assets do not have to be componen-
tized further. 
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Standards Comparison between IFRS and Company current 
accounting policies

Findings

IAS 17:

Leases

The main relevant difference between IFRS and  
Canadian GAAP is the following:

The distinction between an operating lease (where 
only the rent is recognized in the P&L) and a capital 
lease (where the item leased is recorded as an asset in 
the Balance Sheet) is based on different criteria. IFRS 
makes the capital versus operating lease distinction 
based on the substance of the lease contract. Canadian 
GAAP makes the distinction based on its form.

A thorough analysis of all material  
Company leases was performed using the 
classification criteria under IFRS and  
Canadian GAAP.  None of the GAAP  
differences related to leases will have a 
material impact on the Company’s financial 
statements based on the information  
collected to date.

IAS 19:

Employee
Benefits

Accounting options of defined benefit plans

The options are the following under IFRS:

- Present actuarial gains and losses directly in the P&L

- The “corridor” approach

- Present actuarial gains and losses directly in the 
  Balance Sheet with changes recorded in Other 
  Comprehensive Income

The options are the following under Canadian GAAP:

- Present actuarial gains and losses directly in the P&L

- The “corridor” approach

Amortization of past service costs

Past service costs are amortized faster under IFRS with 
the immediate recognition of the vested portion.

The Company continues to assess the  
impact of these differences with the  
assistance of third party actuaries.

IAS 21:

The Effect 
of Changes 
in Foreign 
Exchange 
Rates

IFRS and Canadian GAAP are essentially converged. 

The main difference relates to the exchange rate use to 
translate non-monetary assets carried at fair value.

Under IFRS, the functional currency is the currency 
of the primary economic environment in which the 
entity operates.  Under Canadian GAAP, an entity is 
not explicitly required to assess the unit of measure 
(functional currency) in which it measures its own  
assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, but rather 
only assesses the functional currency of its foreign 
operations

Based on the Company’s analysis, it is 
expected that none of the GAAP differences 
related to foreign exchange translation will 
have a material impact on the Company’s 
financial statements based on the informa-
tion collected to date. 
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Standards Comparison between IFRS and Company current 
accounting policies

Findings

IAS 33:

Earnings 
Per Share 
(“EPS”)

the main differences between IFRS and Canadian 
gAAP  are the following:

1) Unlike Canadian GAAP, IFRS does not allow  
     rebuttal of the presumption of share settlement 
     treatment on contracts that may be settled in shares 
     or cash based on past experience of contracts 
     settlements.

2) Unlike Canadian GAAP, IFRS does not require 
     presentation of earnings per share for income or 
     loss before discontinued operations and 
     extraordinary items.

3) Under IFRS, for diluted EPS, dilutive potential 
     ordinary shares are determined independently for 
     each period presented. Under Canadian GAAP, the 
     computation of diluted EPS for year-to-date 
     periods is based on the weighted average of the 
     number of incremental shares included in each 
     interim period making up the year-to-date period.

Findings by difference:

1) There is no material impact on the 
     Company’s financial statements for this 
     difference based on the information 
     collected to date.

2) There is no material impact for the 
     Company as it does not have 
     discontinued operations or 
     extraordinary items.

3) The diluted earnings per share is expected 
     to be different for the Company however 
     the impact is not expected to be material 
     based on the information collected 
     to date.

IAS 36:

Impairment
of Assets

Process of the impairment test
Under Canadian GAAP, the impairment test for long 
lived assets is a two step process:

- The carrying amount of the asset is compared to the 
  sum of its undiscounted cash flow expected to result 
  from its use and eventual disposition.

- If the carrying amount of the asset is greater, then it 
  is compared to the fair value of the asset.  An 
  impairment may have to be recognized.

Under IFRS, it is a one step process; the carrying 
amount of the asset is directly compared to the recov-
erable amount of the asset.

Assigning assets to cash generating units
Under IFRS, impairment testing of assets is done at 
the independent cash generating unit (“CGU”) level.

Under Canadian GAAP, the unit is defined as it  
generates both independent cash inflows and outflows.

Process of the impairment test
This difference has been analyzed for the 
Company’s impairment tests and is found to 
have no material impact at the transaction 
date on the financial statements based on 
the information collected to date.

Assigning assets to cash generating units
The Company has identified its cash gener-
ating units. Impairment testing for goodwill 
will be conducted at the CGU level.

The impact of this difference will not have a 
material impact on the Company’s financial 
statements based on the information  
collected to date.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis



552009 Annual Report

Standards Comparison between IFRS and Company current 
accounting policies

Findings

IAS 37:

Provisions, 
Contingent
Liabilities
and
Contingent
Assets

Under IFRS, provisions involving a large population 
of items must be evaluated using the expected value 
method. 

Under IFRS, in a range of estimates where each point in 
the range is as likely as any other, the mid-point of the 
range is used. Under Canadian GAAP, the lower point 
is used.

Under Canadian GAAP, the notion of constructive  
obligation does not exist.

The threshold of provision recognition is lower under 
IFRS than under Canadian GAAP.

Under IFRS, the time value of money must be taken 
into consideration, when material.

Under IFRS, contingent assets are recorded when they 
are virtually certain. Under Canadian GAAP, contin-
gent gains are not recorded. 

Under IFRS, counter claims/reimbursement must be 
reported separately in assets, when virtually certain.

These differences were considered by the 
Company and none were found to have a 
material impact on the Company’s financial 
statements based on the information  
collected to date.

IAS 39:

Financial
Instruments

Under Canadian GAAP, when the critical terms of a 
hedging relation match, the short cut method is allowed. 
Under IFRS, the short cut method is not allowed.

Under Canadian GAAP, counterparty credit risk 
does not have to be considered when assessing hedge  
effectiveness. Under IFRS, counterparty credit risk 
must be considered.

For embedded derivatives, the transitional provisions 
of Canadian GAAP contain grandfathering provi-
sions which allow an adoption timing choice for some  
embedded derivatives. Such grandfathering rules do not 
exist in IFRS thus, potentially resulting in some recog-
nition of embedded derivatives that were not required 
to be recognized under Canadian GAAP.

Under IFRS, multiple derivatives in a single instrument 
are accounted for as a single compound derivative, un-
less they relate to different risks and are readily separable 
and independent of each other, in which case they are 
treated as separate derivatives. Under Canadian GAAP, 
multiple embedded derivatives in a single instrument 
must be accounted for in aggregate as a single com-
pound derivative.

Based on the Company’s choice in  
accounting policies under Canadian GAAP, 
this difference does not apply.

Based on the Company’s choice in  
accounting policies under Canadian GAAP, 
this difference does not apply.

The Company continues to assess the  
impact of the differences related to  
embedded derivatives.
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Standards Comparison between IFRS and Company current 
accounting policies

Findings

IFRS 2:

Share-Base 
payments

Share based payments vesting in installments:
Under IFRS, when an entity makes a share based  
payment that vests in installments (often referred to as 
graded vesting), each tranche of the award should be 
treated as a separate award.

Canadian GAAP offers the option to consider the 
equity instruments as a pool and determine fair value 
using the average life of the instruments, provided that 
compensation is then recognized on a straight-line 
basis. 

Under the Company’s stock option plan, options vest 
according to a graded schedule of 25% per year  
commencing a day after the end of the first year.  
From an accounting perspective, the option offered by 
Canadian GAAP was selected i.e. each tranche of the 
plan is not treated separately. This creates a difference 
with current Canadian GAAP.

Stock options: forfeiture estimates:
Under IFRS, an estimate of forfeitures must be  
factored into the calculation of periodic compensation 
expense. Compensation costs are to be accrued based 
on the best estimate of the number of instruments  
expected to vest, with revisions made to that estimate 
if subsequent information indicates that actual  
forfeitures are likely to differ from initial estimates. 
The objective is that, at the end of the vesting period, 
the cumulative charge to the income statement should 
represent the number of equity instruments that have 
actually vested multiplied by their fair value.

Canadian GAAP offers a choice in accounting for 
forfeitures. Like IFRS, compensation expense can be 
accrued based on the best estimate of the number of 
instruments expected to vest, with revisions made 
to that estimate if subsequent information indicates 
that actual forfeitures are likely to differ from initial 
estimates. Unlike IFRS, compensation expense can 
be accrued assuming that all instruments granted that 
are subject only to a service requirement are expected 
to vest, with the effect of actual forfeitures recognized 
only as they occur.

The Company’s accounting policy under Canadian 
GAAP is to recognize the effect of actual forfeitures 
only as they occur which creates a difference with 
IFRS.

Share based payments vesting  
in installments:
The compensation expense will be  
considered over the expected term of each 
vested tranche.  It is expected that the 
amount recorded by the Company will  
not be materially different based on the 
information collected to date.

Stock options: forfeiture estimates:
The Company will need to modify the 
calculation to take into account an estima-
tion of future forfeitures. The impact is not 
expected to be material for past options 
based on the information collected to date.
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Standards Comparison between IFRS and Company current 
accounting policies

Findings

IFRS 3:

Business 
Combina-
tions

Contingent Considerations  

Initial Recognition:
Under Canadian GAAP, contingent consideration is 
recognized at the date of acquisition when the amount 
can be reasonably estimated and the outcome is deter-
minable beyond reasonable doubt. Otherwise, contin-
gent consideration is recognized when resolved. 

Under IFRS, all contingent consideration has to  
be recognized at acquisition, regardless if it can be  
reasonably estimated or if the outcome is determinable 
beyond reasonable doubt.

Subsequent Recognition:
Under Canadian GAAP, when there are revisions to 
the amount of contingent consideration, the require-
ment is to recognize the current fair value of the 
consideration issued or issuable as an additional cost of 
the purchase when the contingency is resolved and the 
additional consideration is issued or becomes issuable.

Under IFRS, when the contingent consideration is (a) 
classified as a liability and (b) not within the scope of 
IAS 39, changes in fair value are recognized in profit 
or loss.

Contingent Considerations  

Initial Recognition: 
This difference does not apply to the  
Company as all the contingent  
considerations are recognized as the  
associated criteria for recognition under 
Canadian GAAP have been met.

Subsequent Recognition:
This difference applies to the Company  
on a prospective basis. Going forward, 
contingent considerations will be revaluated 
every year. Any change in fair value will be 
recorded in the P&L.

The Company has also made choices concerning certain exemptions from retrospective application at the time of changeover 

provided by IFRS 1.  As a first step, each exemption permitted under IFRS 1 was reviewed to determine which ones were 

relevant to the Company.  Second, the exemptions that were considered to be relevant were analyzed in order to determine 

whether they would be elected or not by the Company.  The significant accounting issues are set out in the following table:

Exemptions Findings and Conclusions 

business 
Combination 
Exemption

IFRS 1 allows the Company to elect not to apply IFRS 3 Business Combinations to past business 
combinations (business combinations that occurred before the date of transition to IFRS).

Given the Company’s history of acquisitions, its current position is not to apply IFRS 3 to any 
historical business combinations prior to its transition date.  The complexity of applying IFRS 3 to 
historical acquisitions and the resultant effort outweighs any potential benefit.
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Exemptions Findings and Conclusions 

Fair Value or 
Revaluation 
as deemed 
Cost

Under IFRS 1, an entity may elect to measure an item of property, plant and equipment in its  
opening balance sheet at its fair value and use that fair value as its carrying value as at that date.   
This election is also available for intangible assets but only for assets that have an active market.

The exemption offered at transition by IFRS 1 will not be used.  The Company will adopt the  
carrying values under Canadian GAAP of all items of property, plant and equipment as at the date of 
transition as their deemed cost rather than carrying out a valuation exercise as permitted by IFRS 1.

Employee 
benefits

Under IFRS 1, the Company may elect to recognize all cumulative actuarial gains and losses at the 
date of transitions to IFRS even if it uses the corridor approach for future actuarial gains and losses.  

As at December 30, 2009 the net amount unamortized of actuarial losses carried forward was  
$16.1 million and management proposes to utilize the election.  This will reduce opening retained 
earnings and increase pension liabilities by $16.1 million.

Cumulative 
translation 
differences

Under IFRS 1, the Company may elect to recognize all translation adjustments arising on the transla-
tion of the financial statements of foreign entities in accumulated profits or losses at the opening 
IFRS balance sheet date (that is, reset the translation reserve included in equity under Canadian 
GAAP to zero). If the Company elects this exemption, the gain or loss on subsequent disposal of the 
foreign entity will be adjusted only by those accumulated translation adjustments arising after the 
opening IFRS balance sheet date.

In light of the nature of the election and assuming the Company can reliably calculate its impact, the 
Company proposes not to use this exemption and to retain the cumulative translation difference in 
its Balance Sheet. 

business Combinations
In January 2009, the CICA issued Section 1582, “Business Combinations”, which will replace Section 1581, “Business Com-

binations”, and will provide the equivalent to IFRS 3, “Business Combinations”. The new Section expands the definition of a 

business subject to an acquisition and establishes significant new guidance on the measurement of consideration given, and the 

recognition and measurement of assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination. The new Section requires 

that all business acquisitions be measured at the full fair value of the acquired entity at the acquisition date even if the business 

combination is achieved in stages, or if less than 100 percent of the equity interest in the acquiree is owned at the acquisition 

date. Subsequent changes in fair value of contingent consideration classified as a liability will be recognized in earnings and not 

as an adjustment to the purchase price. Restructuring and other direct costs of a business combination are no longer considered 

part of the purchase price allocation. Instead, such costs will be expensed as incurred, unless they constitute the costs associated 

with issuing debt or equity securities. The Section applies prospectively to business combinations for which the acquisition 

date is on or after the beginning of the first annual reporting period beginning on or after January 1, 2011. Earlier adoption is 

permitted as of the beginning of a fiscal year. This new Section will only have an impact on the Company’s financial statements 

for future acquisitions that will be made in periods subsequent to the date of adoption. The Company is currently assessing 

whether or not it will early adopt Section 1582.
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Market Risks and uncertainties

general Economic Conditions
The economic conditions that worsened over the course of 2008 continued into 2009 with only moderate signs of recovery. 

In 2010 various governmental and other agencies have predicted that any recovery to come is likely to be slow and as such 

over the course of 2010, the Company does not expect a dramatic improvement in the economy and the resultant impact on 

consumers’ buying habits. While Dorel is not immune to these conditions, the nature of the great majority of the Company’s 

products, and the customers to which Dorel’s products are sold, protect the Company to a certain extent. Over the course of 

Dorel’s 48 year history, the Company has experienced several economic downturns and its products have proven to be ones 

that consumers continue to purchase. This was illustrated again in 2009 in that given the economic situation; the Company 

posted relatively stellar results.

In the Juvenile segment, the Company believes that demand for its products remains steady as child safety is a constant priority 

and parents require products that fill that need regardless of economic conditions. In Home Furnishings, Dorel concentrates 

exclusively on value priced items and sells the majority of its products through the mass merchant distribution channel. During 

difficult economic times, when shopping for furniture, consumers are likely to spend less and tend to eschew furniture store 

outlets and shop at the mass merchants for reasonably priced items. In Recreational / Leisure, the Company’s newest segment, 

the Company believes that recent consumer trends that consider health and environmental concerns will also help buffer this 

segment against possible declines in overall consumer spending. In addition, Dorel offers a great deal of product in the value 

priced product category available at its mass merchant customers. This means that should consumers elect to spend less on a 

particular recreational product, Dorel has alternatives to higher priced items.

Product Costs and Supply
Dorel purchases raw materials, component parts and finished goods. The main commodity items purchased for production 

include particleboard and plastic resins, as well as corrugated cartons. Key component parts include car seat and futon covers, 

hardware, buckles and harnesses, and futon frames. These parts are derived from textiles, and a wide assortment of metals, 

plastics, and wood. The Company’s finished goods purchases are largely derived from steel, aluminum, resins, textiles, rubber, 

and wood.

After remaining at relatively low levels throughout the first half of 2009, raw material prices started increasing in the second 

half of the year. Although resin prices increased during the 2nd half of 2009 in North America, pricing still remained below 

2008 peak levels. Particleboard pricing in North America decreased approximately 10% in 2009.

Dorel is among North America’s top 30 importers in terms of container volume from the Far East. Container freight costs were 

lower in 2009 relative to 2008 due to a large surplus of container vessels. Container freight rates started rising in the fourth 

quarter of 2009. Rates should continue to increase in 2010 as all major ocean liners significantly cut capacity by laying-up 

surplus vessels.

The Company’s suppliers of components and finished goods input costs also increased in the 2nd half of 2009 but remained 

below 2008 peak levels. The Chinese currency (“RMB”) as well as labour costs held stable for the year.
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Product Costs and Supply (Cont’d)
Dorel relies on its suppliers for both finished goods and raw materials and has always prided itself on establishing successful 

long-term relationships both domestically and overseas. Dorel’s supplier base was not significantly adversely affected by the 

economic downturn in 2009 and the Company remains committed to actively working with its supplier base to ensure that the 

flow of product is not interrupted. Should the Company’s major existing vendors be unable to supply Dorel, this could have 

an adverse affect on the Company going forward.

Foreign Currency Fluctuations
As a multinational company, Dorel uses the US dollar as its reporting currency. As such, Dorel is subject to risk due to varia-

tions in currency values against the US dollar. Foreign currency risk occurs at two levels; operational and translational. Op-

erational currency risk occurs when a given division either incurs costs or generates revenues in a currency other than its own 

functional currency. The Company’s operations that are most affected by operational currency risk are those that operate in the 

Euro zone, the United Kingdom, Canada, Brazil and Australia. Translational risk occurs upon conversion of non-US functional 

currency divisions’ results to the US dollar for reporting purposes. As Dorel’s European, Brazilian and Australian operations are 

the only significant subsidiaries that do not use the US dollar as their functional currency, translational risk is limited to only 

those operations. The two major functional currencies in Europe are the Euro and Pound Sterling.

Dorel’s European, Australian and Brazilian operations are negatively affected by a stronger US dollar as portions of its purchases 

are in that currency, while its revenues are not. Dorel’s Canadian operations within Home Furnishings benefit from a stronger 

US dollar as large portions of its revenues are generated in the United States and the majority of its costs are in Canadian dol-

lars. This situation is mitigated somewhat by Dorel Distribution Canada’s juvenile operations that import US dollar denomi-

nated goods and sells to Canadian customers. As a result, over the past several years, the weakening of the US dollar against 

the Euro, Pound Sterling and Canadian dollar has had an overall impact that was not material year-over-year as these various 

impacts have offset. However, these offsetting impacts occur in different segments, meaning the negative impact of a stronger 

US dollar occurs in the Juvenile segment while the positive impact occurs mainly in the Home Furnishings segment. The Rec-

reational / Leisure segment impact is generally neutral, with its European operations offsetting against its Canadian operations. 

Where advantageous, the Company uses options, futures and forward contracts to hedge against these adverse fluctuations in 

currency. Further details on the Company’s hedging strategy and the impact in the year can be found in Note 14 to the Com-

pany’s year-end consolidated financial statements. While the Canadian operations and European operations help offset the pos-

sible negative impact of changes in the US dollar, a significant change in the value of the US dollar would affect future earnings.

Concentration of Revenues
For the year ended December 30, 2009, one customer accounted for over 10% of the Company’s revenues, at 31.4% of Dorel’s 

total. In 2008, this customer accounted for 30.4% of revenues. Dorel does not have long-term contracts with its customers, 

and as such revenues are dependent upon Dorel’s continued ability to deliver attractive products at a reasonable price, com-

bined with high levels of service. There can be no assurance that Dorel will be able to sell to such customers on an economically 

advantageous basis in the future or that such customers will continue to buy from Dorel.
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Customer and Credit Risk
The majority of the Company’s revenue is derived from sales to major retail chains in North America and Europe. The balance 

of Dorel’s sales are made mostly to specialty juvenile stores in Europe and independent bike dealers in both the United States 

and Europe. To minimize credit risk, the Company conducts ongoing credit reviews and maintains credit insurance on selected 

accounts. Should certain of these major retailers cease operations, there could be a material short-term adverse effect on the 

Company’s consolidated results of operations. In the long-term, the Company believes that should certain retailers cease to 

exist, consumers will shop at competitors at which Dorel’s products will generally also be sold.

Product Liability
As with all manufacturers of products designed for use by consumers, Dorel is subject to numerous product liability claims, 

particularly in the United States. At Dorel, there is an ongoing effort to improve quality control and to ensure the safety of its 

products. The Company insures itself to mitigate its product liability exposure. No assurance can be given that a judgment will 

not be rendered against it in an amount exceeding the amount of insurance coverage or in respect of a claim for which Dorel 

is not insured.

Income taxes
The Company’s current organizational structure has resulted in a comparatively low effective income tax rate. This structure 

and the resulting tax rate are supported by current domestic tax laws in which the Company operates and by the interpretation 

and application of these tax laws. The rate can also be affected by the application of income tax treaties between these various 

jurisdictions. Unanticipated changes to these interpretations and applications of current domestic tax laws, or to the tax rates 

and treaties, could impact the effective income tax rate of the Company going forward.

Product and brand development
To support continued revenue growth, the Company must continue to update existing products, design innovative new items, 

develop strong brands and make significant capital investments. The Company has invested heavily in product development 

and plans to keep it at the centre of its focus. In addition, the Company must continue to maintain, develop and strengthen its 

end-user brands. Should the Company invest in or design products that are not accepted in the marketplace, or if its products 

are not brought to market in a timely manner, and in certain cases, fail to be approved by the appropriate regulatory authorities, 

this could negatively impact future growth. 

Regulatory Environment
The Company operates in certain industries which are highly regulated and as such operates within constraints imposed by 

various regulatory authorities. In recent years greater concern regarding product safety has resulted in more onerous regulations 

being placed on the Company as well as on all of the Company’s competitors operating in these industries. Dorel has always 

operated within this environment and has always placed a great deal of resources on meeting these obligations, and is therefore 

well positioned to meet these regulatory requirements. However, any future regulations that would require additional costs 

could have an impact on the Company going forward. 
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Liquidity and Access to Capital Resources
Dorel requires continued access to capital markets to support its activities. Part of the Company’s long-term strategy is to grow 

through the acquisition of complementary businesses that it believes will enhance the value of the Company for its sharehold-

ers. To satisfy its financing needs, the Company relies on long-term and short-term debt and cash flow from operations. The 

recent severe tightening of global credit markets has made new loans, even for creditworthy businesses, extremely difficult or 

expensive to obtain. However, the Company’s banking relationships are strong and its credit facilities are secured into 2010. 

Any impediments to the Company’s ability to access capital markets, including significant changes in market interest rates, 

general economic conditions or the perception in the capital markets of the Company’s financial condition or prospects, could 

have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial condition and results of operation.

Valuation of goodwill and other Intangible Assets
As part of annual impairment tests, the value of goodwill and other indefinite life intangible assets are subject to significant 

assumptions, such as future expected cash flows, and assumed discount and weighted average cost of capital rates. In addition, 

the value of customer relationship intangible assets recognized includes significant assumptions in reference to customer at-

trition rates and useful lives. Should current market conditions adversely effect the Company’s expectations of future results, 

this could result in a non-cash impairment being recognized at some point in the future. Additionally, in the current market 

environment, some of the other assumptions could be impacted by factors beyond the Company’s control. For example, more 

conservative risk assumptions could materially affect these valuations and could require a downward adjustment in the value 

of these intangible assets in the future.

Other Information
The designation, number and amount of each class and series of its shares outstanding as of March 5, 2010 are as follows:

An unlimited number of Class “A” Multiple Voting Shares without nominal or par value, convertible at any time at the option 

of the holder into Class “B” Subordinate Voting Shares on a one-for-one basis, and;

An unlimited number of Class “B” Subordinate Voting Shares without nominal or par value, convertible into Class “A” Mul-

tiple Voting Shares, under certain circumstances, if an offer is made to purchase the Class “A” shares.

Details of the issued and outstanding shares are as follows:

 CLASS A CLASS b tOtAL

  $  $ $

  Number  (‘000) Number (‘000) (‘000)

  4,229,510  1,792  28,694,802  172,753  174,545 

Outstanding stock options and Deferred Share Unit items are disclosed in Note 16 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. 

There were no significant changes to these values in the period between the year end and the date of the preparation of this 

MD & A.
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disclosure Controls and Procedures and  
Internal Controls over Financial Reporting

disclosure controls and procedures
National Instrument 52-109, “Certification of Disclosure in Issuers’ Annual and Interim Filings”, issued by the Canadian Se-

curities Administrators requires Chief Executive Officers (“CEOs”) and Chief Financial Officers (“CFOs”) to certify that they 

are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures for the Company, that disclosure controls 

and procedures have been designed and are effective in providing reasonable assurance that material information relating to the 

Company is made known to them, that they have evaluated the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and proce-

dures, and that their conclusions about the effectiveness of those disclosure controls and procedures at the end of the period 

covered by the relevant annual filings have been disclosed by the Company.

Under the supervision of and with the participation of management, including the President and Chief Executive Officer 

and Executive Vice-president, Chief Financial Officer and Secretary, management has evaluated the design of the Company’s 

disclosure controls and procedures as at December 30, 2009 and have concluded that those disclosure controls and procedures 

were effective in ensuring that information required to be disclosed by the Company in its corporate filings is recorded, pro-

cessed, summarized and reported within the required time period for the year then ended. 

Internal controls over financial reporting
National Instrument 52-109 also requires CEOs and CFOs to certify that they are responsible for establishing and maintaining 

internal controls over financial reporting for the Company, that those internal controls have been designed and are effective 

in providing reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements in 

accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles, and that the Company has disclosed any changes in its 

internal controls during its most recent interim period that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, 

its internal control over financial reporting.

During 2009, management evaluated the Company’s internal controls over financial reporting to ensure that they have been 

designed and are effective in providing reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the prepara-

tion of financial statements in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles. Management has used the 

Internal Control-Integrated Framework to evaluate the effectiveness of internal controls over reporting, which is recognized 

and suitable framework developed by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”).

Under the supervision of and with the participation of management, including the President and Chief Executive Officer and 

Executive Vice-president, Chief Financial Officer and Secretary, management has evaluated the internal controls over financial 

reporting as at December 30, 2009 and have concluded that those internal controls were effective in providing reasonable as-

surance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements in accordance with Canadian 

generally accepted accounting principles.
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Caution Regarding Forward Looking Information
Certain statements included in this MD&A may constitute “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of applicable 

Canadian securities legislation. Except as may be required by Canadian securities laws, the Company does not undertake any 

obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or oth-

erwise. Forward-looking statements, by their very nature, are subject to numerous risks and uncertainties and are based on 

several assumptions which give rise to the possibility that actual results could differ materially from the Company’s expectations 

expressed in or implied by such forward-looking statements and that the objectives, plans, strategic priorities and business 

outlook may not be achieved. As a result, the Company cannot guarantee that any forward-looking statement will materialize. 

Forward-looking statements are provided in this MD&A for the purpose of giving information about Management’s current 

expectations and plans and allowing investors and others to get a better understanding of the Company’s operating environ-

ment. However, readers are cautioned that it may not be appropriate to use such forward-looking statements for any other 

purpose.

Forward-looking statements made in this MD&A are based on a number of assumptions that the Company believed were 

reasonable on the day it made the forward-looking statements. Refer, in particular, to the section of this MD&A entitled Mar-

ket Risks and Uncertainties for a discussion of certain assumptions the Company has made in preparing any forward-looking 

statements.

Factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from the Company’s expectations expressed in or implied by the 

forward-looking statements include:  general economic conditions; changes in product costs and supply channel; foreign cur-

rency fluctuations; customer and credit risk including the concentration of revenues with few customers; costs associated with 

product liability; changes in income tax legislation or the interpretation or application of those rules; the continued ability to 

develop products and support brand names; changes in the regulatory environment; continued access to capital resources and 

the related costs of borrowing; changes in assumptions in the valuation of goodwill and other intangible assets and subject to 

dividends being declared by the Board of Directors, there can be no certainty that Dorel Industries Inc.’s Dividend Policy will 

be maintained. These and other risk factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from expectations expressed in 

or implied by the forward-looking statements are discussed throughout this MD&A and, in particular, under Market Risks 

and Uncertainties.

The Company cautions readers that the risks described above are not the only ones that could impact it. Additional risks and 

uncertainties not currently known to the Company or that the Company currently deems to be immaterial may also have a 

material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations.

Except as otherwise indicated, forward-looking statements do not reflect the potential impact of any non-recurring or other 

unusual items or of any dispositions, mergers, acquisitions, other business combinations or other transactions that may be 

announced or that may occur after the date hereof. The financial impact of these transactions and non-recurring and other 

unusual items can be complex and depends on the facts particular to each of them. The Company therefore cannot describe 

the expected impact in a meaningful way or in the same way the Company presents known risks affecting the business.
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Management’s Report
Dorel Industries Inc.’s Annual Report for the year ended December 30, 2009, and the financial statements included herein, 

were prepared by the Corporation’s Management and approved by the Board of Directors. The Audit Committee of the Board 

is responsible for reviewing the financial statements in detail and for ensuring that the Corporation’s internal control systems, 

management policies and accounting practices are adhered to. 

The financial statements contained in this Annual Report have been prepared in accordance with the accounting policies which 

are enunciated in said report and which Management believes to be appropriate for the activities of the Corporation. The 

external auditors appointed by the Corporation’s shareholders, KPMG, LLP have audited these financial statements and their 

report appears below. All information given in this Annual Report is consistent with the financial statements included herein.

Martin Schwartz  Jeffrey Schwartz

President and Chief Executive Officer  Executive Vice-President, Chief Financial Officer and Secretary

Auditors’ Report to the Shareholders of 
dorel Industries Inc.
We have audited the consolidated balance sheets of Dorel Industries Inc. (“the Company”) as at December 30, 2009 and 2008 

and the consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, changes in shareholders’ equity and cash flows for each of 

the years in the two-year period ended December 30, 2009. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s 

management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we 

plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. 

An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An 

audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluat-

ing the overall financial statement presentation.

In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Com-

pany as at December 30, 2009 and 2008 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the years in the two-year 

period ended December 30, 2009 in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.

 

Chartered Accountants

Montreal, Canada

April 28, 2010

*CA Auditor permit no 14044 KPMG LLP is a Canadian limited liability partnership and a member  
 firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with  
 KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss  
 entity. KPMG Canada provides services to KPMG LLP.



66 Dorel Industries Inc.

Consolidated balance Sheets
As at december 30, 2009 and 2008

(All figures in thousands of U.S. dollars)

  AS At AS At
  dECEMbER 30, 2009 dECEMbER 30, 2008

  $ $

  Reclassified (Note 12)

ASSEtS

CURRENT ASSETS   

 Cash and cash equivalents (Note 24) 19,847 16,966

 Accounts receivable (Notes 5 and 14) 349,990 316,267

 Income taxes receivable 16,264 19,798

 Inventories (Note 6) 399,866 509,467

 Prepaid expenses 17,358 16,236

 Future income taxes (Note 22) 38,042 37,342

  841,367 916,076

    

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Note 7) 153,279 158,895

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Notes 2 and 8) 401,831 395,742

GOODWILL (Note 25) 569,824 540,187

OTHER ASSETS (Notes 2, 9 and 14) 35,879 19,573

  2,002,180 2,030,473

   

See accompanying notes.
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Consolidated balance Sheets
As at december 30, 2009 and 2008

(All figures in thousands of U.S. dollars)

  AS At  AS At
  dECEMbER 30, 2009 dECEMbER 30, 2008

  $ $

  Reclassified (Note 12)

LIAbILItIES  

CURRENT LIABILITIES   

 Bank indebtedness (Notes 10 and 14) 1,987 4,398

 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Notes 11 and 14) 339,294 380,915

 Income taxes payable 26,970 30,164

 Future income taxes (Note 22) 85 2,713

 Current portion of long-term debt (Notes 12 and 14) 122,508 8,879

  490,844 427,069

  

LONG-TERM DEBT (Notes 12 and 14) 227,075 450,704

PENSION & POST-RETIREMENT BENEFIT 

OBLIGATIONS (Note 15) 20,939 20,072

FUTURE INCOME TAXES (Note 22) 128,984 111,874

OTHER LONG-TERM LIABILITIES (Notes 13 and 14) 25,139 6,010

    

SHAREHOLdERS’ EQuItY   

CAPITAL STOCK (Note 16) 174,816 177,422

CONTRIBUTED SURPLUS 20,311 16,070

RETAINED EARNINGS 818,707 738,113

ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 95,365 83,139

  914,072 821,252

  1,109,199 1,014,744

  2,002,180 2,030,473

    

COMMITMENTS AND GUARANTEES (Note 19)

CONTINGENCIES (Note 20)

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

_________________________________ DIRECTOR                 _________________________________ DIRECTOR

See accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statements of Income
For the years ended december 30, 2009 and 2008 

(All figures in thousands of U.S. dollars, except per share amounts)

  2009 2008

  $ $

Sales 2,125,459 2,164,767

Licensing and commission income 14,655 17,113

TOTAL REVENUE 2,140,114 2,181,880

 

EXPENSES   

 Cost of sales (Notes 2 and 3) 1,634,570 1,670,481

 Selling, general and administrative expenses 316,168 316,782

 Depreciation and amortization (Note 2) 27,366 26,510

 Research and development costs (Note 8) 17,184 13,245

 Restructuring costs (Note 3) 104 726

 Interest on long-term debt 14,969 21,162

 Other interest 1,406 961

  2,011,767 2,049,867

   

Income before income taxes  128,347 132,013

   

Income taxes (Note 22)   

 Current 24,952 17,002

 Future (3,839) 2,156

  21,113 19,158

    

NET INCOME 107,234 112,855

    

EARNINGS PER SHARE (Note 23)   

 Basic 3.23 3.38

 Diluted 3.21 3.38

   

See accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
For the years ended december 30, 2009 and 2008 

(All figures in thousands of U.S. dollars,)

  2009 2008

  $ $

 

NET INCOME 107,234 112,855

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME:  

Cumulative translation adjustment:   

Net change in unrealized foreign currency gains (losses)  

 on translation of net investments in self-sustaining  

 foreign operations, net of tax of nil 11,331 (23,348)

Portion included in income as a result of reductions in  

 net investments in self-sustaining foreign operations – (384)

  11,331 (23,732)

net changes in cash flow hedges:   

Net change in unrealized gains (losses) on  

 derivatives designated as cash flow hedges 861 –

Reclassification to income 706 –

Future income taxes (672) –

  895 –

TOTAL OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 12,226 (23,732)

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 119,460 89,123

See accompanying notes
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Consolidated Statements of Changes  
in Shareholders’ Equity
For the years ended december 30, 2009 and 2008

(All figures in thousands of U.S. dollars)

  2009 2008

  $ $

    

CAPITAL STOCK (Note 16)   

 Balance, beginning of year 177,422 177,271

 Issued under stock option plan – 151

 Repurchase and cancellation of shares (2,606) –

 Balance, end of year 174,816 177,422

    

CONTRIBUTED SURPLUS   

 Balance, beginning of year 16,070 11,623

 Stock-based compensation (Note 17) 4,241 4,447

 Balance, end of year 20,311 16,070

    

RETAINED EARNINGS   

 Balance, beginning of year 738,113 641,981

 Net income 107,234 112,855

 Adjustment to opening retained earnings from  
 adopting a new accounting standard for inventories,  
 net of tax of $1,415 (Note 2) (2,096) –

 Premium paid on share repurchase (Note 16) (7,898) –

 Dividends on common shares (16,614) (16,707)

 Dividends on deferred share units (32) (16)

 Balance, end of year 818,707 738,113

    

ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (Note 18)   

 Balance, beginning of year 83,139 106,871

 Total Other comprehensive income  12,226 (23,732)

 Balance, end of year 95,365 83,139

    

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 1,109,199 1,014,744

    

See accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
For the years ended december 30, 2009 and 2008

(All figures in thousands of U.S. dollars)

  2009 2008

  $ $

CASH PROVIdEd bY (uSEd In):   

OPERAtIng ACtIVItIES   

Net income 107,234 112,855

Items not involving cash:   

 Depreciation and amortization 49,191 45,854

 Amortization of deferred financing costs 266 362

 Future income taxes (3,839) 2,156

 Stock-based compensation (Note 17) 3,840 4,447

 Pension and post-retirement defined benefit plans (Note 15) – (27)

 Restructuring activities (Note 3) (721) (6,849)

 Exchange gain from reduction of net investments in foreign operations – (384)

 Loss (gain) on disposal of property, plant  and  equipment 886 (24)

  156,857 158,390

Net changes in non-cash balances related to operations (Note 24) 47,659 (78,507)

CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES 204,516 79,883

FInAnCIng ACtIVItIES   

 Bank indebtedness (3,391) (1,055)

 Increase of long-term debt – 266,297

 Repayments of long-term debt (110,522) (62,400)

 Share repurchase (Note 16) (10,504) –

 Issuance of capital stock (Note 16) – 155

 Dividends on common shares (16,614) (16,707)

CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN) FINANCING ACTIVITIES (141,031) 186,290

InVEStIng ACtIVItIES   

 Acquisition of  companies (Notes 4 and 24) (21,661) (226,190)

 Additions to property, plant and equipment – net (21,893) (26,518)

 Intangible assets (18,753) (20,929)

CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES (62,307) (273,637)

 Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 1,703 1,917

nEt InCREASE (dECREASE) In CASH And CASH EQuIVALEntS 2,881 (5,547)

 Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 16,966 22,513

CASH And CASH EQuIVALEntS, End OF YEAR (note 24) 19,847 16,966

   

See accompanying notes.
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notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the years ended december 30, 2009 and 2008

(All figures in thousands of U.S. dollars, except per share amounts)

nOtE 1 – nAtuRE OF OPERAtIOnS

Dorel Industries Inc. (the “Company”) is a global consumer products company which designs, manufactures or sources, 

markets and distributes a diverse portfolio of powerful product brands, marketed through its juvenile, recreational/leisure and 

home furnishings segments.  The principal markets for the Company’s products are the United States, Canada and Europe.

nOtE 2 – SIgnIFICAnt ACCOuntIng POLICIES

basis of Presentation
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) 

using the U.S. dollar as the reporting currency.  The U.S. dollar is the functional currency of the Canadian parent company.

Reclassifications
Effective the first day of fiscal year 2009, the Company has reclassified certain figures within its segments.  These changes, based 

principally on product type and customers served, were made to more accurately reflect the way in which the divisions’ results 

are reported internally.

In addition, pursuant to the presentation requirements under Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (CICA) Hand-

book Section 3031, “Inventories”, which has been adopted effective the first quarter of 2009, depreciation expense related to 

manufacturing activities is included in Cost of sales. To allow for better year-over-year comparability, prior year comparatives 

have been reclassified as follow:

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Reclassifications (Cont’d)

    dECEMbER 30, 2008

    Recreational/ Home 
  total Juvenile Leisure  Furnishings Eliminations

  $ $ $ $ $

Sales to Customers – (35,452) 12,628 22,824 –

Inter-Segment Sales – – (6,670) (10,150) 16,820

Total Revenue – (35,452) 5,958 12,674 16,820

Cost of sales 19,344 (21,231) 7,656 16,099 16,820

Selling, general and 
 administrative expenses 2,111 24 (340) 2,427 –

Depreciation & amortization (19,344) (12,859) (2,256) (4,229) –

Research and development costs 2,336 – 2,336 – –

Restructuring  costs – – – – –

Earnings from Operations (4,447) (1,386) (1,438) (1,623) –

Interest –    

Corporate expenses (4,447)

Income taxes –

Net income –

Segmented figures are presented in Note 25 to these financial statements. Certain comparative accounts have been reclassified 

to conform to the 2009 financial statement presentation. 

new Accounting Standards
Inventories

Effective the first day of fiscal year 2009, the Company adopted the CICA Handbook Section 3031, “Inventories”, which re-

places Section 3030, “Inventories”, and harmonizes the Canadian standards related to inventories with International Financial 

Reporting Standards (IFRS). This Section provides changes to the measurement and more extensive guidance on the deter-

mination of the cost, including allocation of overheads and other costs to inventories; prohibits the use of the last-in, first-out 

(LIFO) method; requires the reversal of previous write-downs when there is a subsequent increase in the value of inventories; 

and expands the disclosure requirements regarding inventories and cost of sales to increase transparency. This Section applies 

to interim and annual financial statements beginning on or after January 1, 2008.

nOtE 2 – SIgnIFICAnt ACCOuntIng POLICIES (Cont’d)
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new Accounting Standards (Cont’d)

Inventories (Cont’d)

As a result of the more restrictive guidance on the determination of costs, the Company changed some of its overhead alloca-

tion policy, whereby some overhead costs are expensed. In accordance with Section 3031, the Company applied these changes 

in accounting policies by adjusting the opening retained earnings as at December 31, 2008 (prior fiscal year periods were not 

restated). Accordingly, effective as of the beginning of the 2009 fiscal year, the impact of measuring the inventories under the 

new standard is a decrease of the carrying amount of inventories of $3,511. Opening retained earnings at the beginning of the 

fiscal year 2009 were decreased by $2,096, equal to the change in opening inventories net of tax of $1,415.

Section 3031 requires depreciation expense related to manufacturing activities to be included in Cost of sales. As a result, ef-

fective on the first day of fiscal year 2009, depreciation expense related to manufacturing activities has been reclassified to Cost 

of sales. See the above section, Reclassifications. The cost of inventories recognized as an expense and included in Cost of sales 

for the year ended December 30, 2009 was $1,545,281. During the year ended December 30, 2009, the Company recorded 

$13,159 (in Cost of sales) of write-downs of inventory as a result of net realizable value being lower than cost and no inventory 

write-downs recognized in previous years were reversed.

goodwill and Intangible Assets

Effective the first day of fiscal year 2009, the Company adopted the CICA Handbook Section 3064, “Goodwill and Intangible 

Assets”, which replaces Section 3062, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets”, and Section 3450, “Research and Development 

Costs”.  The standard provides guidance on the recognition of intangible assets in accordance with the definition of an asset 

and the criteria for asset recognition as well as clarifying the concept of matching revenues and expenses, whether these assets 

are separately acquired or internally developed.  This standard applies to interim and annual financial statements relating to 

fiscal years beginning on or after October 1, 2008.

The Company has reviewed the new section and determined that there was no impact upon its adoption on its financial state-

ments except the deferred development costs are presented with the intangible assets as opposed to with other assets. As a result, 

$26,895 of deferred development costs as at December 30, 2008 have been reclassified from other assets to intangible assets.

Credit Risk and the Fair Value of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

On January 20, 2009, the Emerging Issues Committee (EIC) issued EIC-173, “Credit Risk and the Fair Value of Financial 

Assets and Financial Liabilities”, which requires that the fair value of financial instruments, including derivative financial in-

struments, takes into account the counterparties’ credit risk for assets and the Company’s credit risk for liabilities. EIC-173 

should be applied retrospectively without restatement of prior years to all financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value in 

interim and annual financial statements for periods ending on or after January 20, 2009. The effective date of application for 

the Company is the first day of fiscal year 2009. The application of EIC-173 did not have a significant impact on the financial 

results of the Company. 

nOtE 2 – SIgnIFICAnt ACCOuntIng POLICIES (Cont’d)
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new Accounting Standards (Cont’d)

general Standards of Financial Statement Presentation

In June 2007, the CICA amended Section 1400, “General Standards of Financial Statement Presentation”, which is effective 

for interim and annual financial statements relating to fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2008, and which includes 

requirements to assess and disclose the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. The adoption of the amended Section 

did not have any impact on the financial statements of the Company.

Financial Instruments

In June 2009, the CICA amended Section 3862, “Financial Instruments – Disclosures”, which is effective for annual financial 

statements relating to fiscal years ending after September 30, 2009. The amendments are intended to enhance disclosure re-

garding fair value measurements of financial instruments and liquidity risk exposures. These amendments resulted in enhanced 

disclosures regarding fair value measurement of interest rate swaps and foreign exchange contracts. The amended Section re-

lates to disclosure only and did not impact the financial results of the Company.

basis of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries.  All significant inter-company 

balances and transactions have been eliminated.

use of Estimates
The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires 

management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, related amounts of 

revenues and expenses, and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities.  Significant estimates and assumptions are used to 

evaluate the carrying values of long-lived assets, assets held for sale and goodwill, fair value measurement of financial instru-

ments, valuation allowances for accounts receivable and inventories, restructuring reserves, accrual of product warranties, 

liabilities for potential litigation claims and settlements including product liability, assets and obligations related to employee 

pension and post-retirement benefits, the establishment of worldwide provision for income taxes including future income tax 

liabilities and the determination of the realizable value of future income tax assets, and the allocation of the purchase price of 

acquired businesses.  Estimates and assumptions are reviewed periodically and the effects of revisions are reflected in the consol-

idated financial statements in the period they are determined to be necessary.  Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Revenue Recognition
Sales and licensing and commission income are recognized upon shipment of product and transfer of ownership to the cus-

tomer. The Company records estimated reductions to revenue for customer programs and incentive offerings, including special 

pricing agreements, promotions, advertising allowances and other volume-based incentives.  Provisions for customer incentives 

and provisions for sales and return allowances are made at the time of product shipment. 

nOtE 2 – SIgnIFICAnt ACCOuntIng POLICIES (Cont’d)
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Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include all highly liquid instruments with original maturities of three months or less. The carrying 

amounts of cash and cash equivalents are stated at cost, which approximates their fair values.

Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value.  Cost is determined on a first-in, first-out basis. Inventory 

costs include the purchase price and other costs directly related to the acquisition of materials. Inventory costs also include the 

costs directly related to the conversion of materials to finished goods, such as direct labour, and an allocation of fixed and vari-

able production overheads, including manufacturing depreciation expense. The allocation of fixed production overheads to the 

cost of inventories is based on a normal range of capacity of the production facilities. Normal capacity is the average production 

expected to be achieved over a number of periods under normal circumstances.

Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost. Capital leases where the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to 

the Company are included in property, plant and equipment.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated as follows:

 MEtHOd RAtE

Buildings and improvements Straight-line 40 years

Machinery and equipment Declining balance 15%

Moulds Straight-line 3 to 5 years

Furniture and fixtures Declining balance 20%

Vehicles Declining balance 30%

Computer equipment Declining balance 30%

Leasehold improvements Straight-line Over the lesser of the useful life and 
  the term of the lease

The capitalized value of depreciable assets under capital leases is amortized over the period of expected use, on a basis that 

is consistent with the above depreciation methods and rates, if the lease contains terms that allow ownership to pass to the 

Company or contains a bargain purchase option. Otherwise, the asset is amortized over the lease term. Assets not in service 

include expenditures incurred to date for plant expansions which are still in process, and property, plant and equipment not yet 

in service as at the balance sheet date. Depreciation of assets not in service begins when they are ready for their intended use.

nOtE 2 – SIgnIFICAnt ACCOuntIng POLICIES (Cont’d)
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Intangible Assets
Intangible assets are recorded at cost:

 trademarks

 Trademarks acquired as part of business acquisitions and registered trademarks are considered to have an indefinite life and  

 are therefore not subject to amortization.  They are tested annually for impairment or more frequently when events or  

 changes in circumstances indicate that the trademarks might be impaired. The impairment test compares the carrying  

 amount of the trademarks with its fair value.

 Customer Relationships

 Customer relationships acquired as part of business acquisitions are amortized on a straight-line basis over a period of  

 15 to 25 years.

 Supplier Relationship

 Supplier relationship acquired as part of a business acquisition is amortized on a straight-line basis over a period of  

 10 years.

 Patents

 Patents are amortized on a straight-line basis over their expected useful lives ranging from 4 years to 18 years. 

 Software Licence

 Software licence is amortized on a straight-line basis over its expected useful live of 10 years.

 Research and development Costs

 The Company incurs costs on activities which relate to research and development of new products.  Research costs are  

 expensed as they are incurred. Development costs are also expensed as incurred unless they meet specific criteria related to  

 technical, market and financial feasibility. Deferred development costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over a period  

 of two years or expensed if capitalized projects are not completed.

goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price, including acquisition costs, over the fair values assigned to identifiable 

net assets acquired. Goodwill, which is not amortized, is tested for impairment annually or more frequently when an event or 

circumstance occurs that more likely than not reduces the fair value of a reporting unit below its carrying amount.

A two-step impairment test is used to identify potential goodwill impairment and measure the amount of a goodwill impair-

ment loss to be recognized, if any. The fair value of a reporting unit is first compared with its carrying amount, including good-

will, in order to identify a potential impairment. When the fair value of a reporting unit exceeds its carrying amount, goodwill 

of the reporting unit is considered not to be impaired and the second step of the impairment test is unnecessary. When the

nOtE 2 – SIgnIFICAnt ACCOuntIng POLICIES (Cont’d)
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goodwill (Cont’d)
carrying amount of a reporting unit exceeds its fair value, the implied fair value of the reporting unit’s goodwill is then com-

pared with its carrying amount to measure the amount of the impairment loss, if any. The implied fair value of goodwill is the 

excess of the fair value of the reporting unit over the fair value of the identifiable net assets of the reporting unit. The fair value 

of a reporting unit is calculated based on discounted future net cash flows or valuations based on a market approach. When the 

carrying amount of a reporting unit goodwill exceeds the implied fair value of the goodwill, an impairment loss is recognized 

in an amount equal to the excess.

Impairment or disposal of Long-Lived Assets
The Company reviews its long-lived assets, consisting of property, plant and equipment and amortizable intangible assets, for 

impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of a long-lived asset may not be re-

coverable. Determination of recoverability is based on an estimate of undiscounted future net cash flows resulting from the use 

of the assets and its eventual disposition. The amount of the impairment loss recognized is measured as the amount by which 

the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the fair value, with fair value being determined based upon discounted future net cash 

flows or appraised values, depending on the nature of the assets. Such evaluations for impairment are significantly affected by 

estimates of future prices for the Company’s product, economic trends in the market and other factors. Quoted market values 

are used whenever available to estimate fair value. When quoted market values are unavailable, the fair value of the long-lived 

asset is generally based on estimates of discounted expected net cash flows. Assets held for sale are reflected at the lower of their 

carrying amount or fair values less cost to sell and are not depreciated while classified as held for sale. Assets held for sale are 

included in other assets on the balance sheet.

Costs relating to revolving credit facility
The Company incurred certain costs related to the revolving credit facility. These deferred charges are recorded at cost less ac-

cumulated amortization. These amounts are amortized as interest expense on a straight-line basis over the term or life of the 

related debt. The deferred charges are included in other assets on the balance sheet.

Foreign Currency
The assets and liabilities of self-sustaining foreign operations, whose functional currency is other than the U.S. dollar, are 

translated into U.S. dollars at the exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet date. Revenues and expenses are translated at 

average exchange rates for the period. Differences arising from the exchange rate changes are included in the accumulated other 

comprehensive income (AOCI) component of shareholders’ equity. If there is a reduction in the Company’s permanent invest-

ment in a self-sustaining foreign operation, the relevant portion of AOCI is recognized in Selling, general and administrative 

expenses.

Income and expenses are translated at the average exchange rates for the period. For the transactions in foreign currencies, the 

monetary items denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of an entity are translated at the exchange rates 

prevailing at the balance sheet date and translation gains and losses are included in income. Non-monetary items are translated 

at historical rates. Foreign exchange gains and losses are reflected in net income.

nOtE 2 – SIgnIFICAnt ACCOuntIng POLICIES (Cont’d)
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Financial Instruments
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one party and a financial liability or equity instru-

ment of another party. Financial assets of the Company mainly comprise cash and cash equivalents, foreign exchange contracts 

and interest rate swaps with a positive fair value, accounts receivable – trade, accounts receivable – other. Financial liabilities of 

the Company mainly comprises foreign exchange contracts and interest rate swaps with a negative fair value, bank indebted-

ness, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, long-term debt, other long-term liabilities and balance of sale payable.

All financial instruments are classified into one of the following five categories: held for trading, held-to-maturity investments, 

loans and receivables, available-for-sale financial assets or other financial liabilities. All financial instruments, including deriva-

tives, are included on the consolidated balance sheet when the Company becomes a party to the contractual obligations of the 

instrument. Except for those incurred on the revolving credit facility, transaction costs are deducted from the financial liability 

and are amortized using the effective interest method over the expected life of the related liability. Financial instruments are 

initially and subsequently measured at fair value with the exception of loans and receivables, investments held-to-maturity and 

other financial liabilities, which are subsequently measured at amortized cost. Subsequent recognition of changes in fair value 

of financial instruments remeasured each reporting date at fair value depend on their initial classification. Held for trading 

financial investments are measured at fair value with all gains and losses included in net income in the period in which they 

arise. Available-for-sale financial instruments are measured at fair value with gains and losses included in other comprehensive 

income until the asset is removed from the balance sheet or until impaired.

The Company has classified its cash and cash equivalents as held for trading. Accounts receivable are classified as loans and 

receivables. Bank indebtedness, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, long-term debt, other long-term liabilities and balance 

of sale payable are classified as other liabilities, all of which are measured at amortized cost.

The Company categorizes its financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value into one of three different levels depending 

on the observability of the inputs used in the measurement.

Level 1: This level includes assets and liabilities measured at fair value based on unadjusted quoted prices for identical  

 assets and liabilities in active markets that are accessible at the measurement date.

Level 2: This level includes valuations determined using directly or indirectly observable inputs other than quoted prices  

 included within Level 1. Derivative instruments in this category are valued using models or other standard  

 valuation techniques derived from observable market inputs.

Level 3: This level includes valuations based on inputs which are less observable, unavailable or where the observable data  

 does not support a significant portion of the instruments’ fair value.

nOtE 2 – SIgnIFICAnt ACCOuntIng POLICIES (Cont’d)
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nOtE 2 – SIgnIFICAnt ACCOuntIng POLICIES (Cont’d)

derivative Financial Instruments and hedge accounting
Derivative financial instruments are recorded as either assets or liabilities and are measured at their fair value unless exempted 

from derivative treatment as a normal purchase or sale. Certain derivatives embedded in other contracts must also be separated 

from the main contract and measured at fair value. All changes in the fair value of derivatives are recognized in earnings unless 

specific hedge criteria are met, which requires that a company must formally document, designate and assess the effectiveness 

of transactions that receive hedge accounting. Derivatives that qualify as hedging instruments must be designated as either a 

“cash flow hedge”, when the hedged item is a future cash flow, or a “fair value hedge”, when the hedged item is a recognized 

asset or liability. For derivative financial instruments designated as cash flow hedges, the effective portion of changes in their 

fair value is recognized in Other Comprehensive Income in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. Any ineffec-

tiveness within a cash flow hedge is recognized in income as it arises in the same consolidated income (loss) statement account 

as the hedged item when realized. Should a cash flow hedging relationship become ineffective or the hedging relationship be 

terminated, previously unrealized gains and losses remain within Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income until the hedged 

item is settled and future changes in value of the derivative are recognized in income prospectively. Amounts recognized in 

Other Comprehensive Income on the account of cash flow hedges remain in Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income until 

the related hedged item settles, at which time amounts recognized in Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income are reclas-

sified to the same income (loss) statement account in which the hedged item is recorded. If the hedged item ceases to exist 

before the hedging instrument expires, the unrealized gains or losses within Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income are 

immediately reclassified to income. For a fair value hedge, both the derivative and the hedged item are recorded at fair value 

in the consolidated balance sheet and the unrealized gains and losses from both items are included in income. Any derivative 

instrument that does not qualify for hedge accounting is marked-to-market at each reporting date and the gains or losses are 

included in earnings.

Derivative financial instruments are utilized by the Company in the management of its foreign currency exposures and interest-

rate market risks. These derivative financial instruments are used as a method for meeting the risk reduction objectives of the 

Company by generating offsetting cash flows related to the underlying position in respect of amount and timing of forecasted 

foreign currency cash flows. The Company’s policy is not to utilize derivative financial instruments for trading or speculative 

purposes. To meet its objective, the Company uses foreign exchange contracts, including futures, forwards, options and interest 

rate swap agreements. 

When it utilizes derivatives in hedge accounting relationships, the Company formally documents all of its eligible hedging 

relationships. This process involves associating all derivatives to specific assets and liabilities on the balance sheet or with fore-

casted or probable transactions. The Company also formally measures the effectiveness of hedging relationships at inception 

and on an on-going basis.

During 2009, the Company decided to use interest rate swap agreements to lock-in a portion of its debt cost and reduce its 

exposure to the variability of interest rates by exchanging variable rate payments for fixed rate payments. The Company has 

designated its interest rate swaps as cash flow hedges for which it uses hedge accounting. For any new foreign exchange con-

tracts taken after October 31, 2009, the Company has designated the new foreign exchange contracts as cash flow hedges for 

which it uses hedge accounting. For the foreign exchange contracts taken prior to November 1, 2009, the Company elected 

not to apply hedge accounting for these derivatives; these foreign exchange contracts, classified as held for trading, are marked 

to market and the associated unrealized and realized gains and losses are recorded in cost of sales.
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nOtE 2 – SIgnIFICAnt ACCOuntIng POLICIES (Cont’d)

Pension Plans and Post-Retirement benefits
Pension Plans:

The Company maintains defined benefit plans and defined contribution plans for their employees.  Pension benefit obligations 

under the defined benefit plans are determined annually by independent actuaries using management’s assumptions and the 

accumulated benefit method for plans where future salary levels do not affect the amount of employee future benefits and the 

projected benefit method for plans where future salaries or cost escalation affect the amount of employee future benefits.  The 

plans provide benefits based on a defined benefit amount and length of service. Management’s assumptions consist mainly of 

best estimate of future salary levels, retirement age of employees, mortality and other actuarial factors.

Plan assets are measured using the fair value method.  Actuarial gains or losses arise from the differences between the actual 

and expected long-term rate of return on plan assets for a period or from changes in actuarial assumptions used to determine 

the accrued benefit obligation. The excess of the net accumulated actuarial gain or loss over 10 percent of the greater of the 

benefit obligation and the fair value of plan assets is amortized over the expected average remaining service period. The aver-

age remaining service period of active employees covered by all pension plans is 10 years. Prior service costs arising from plan 

amendments are deferred and amortized on a straight-line basis over the average remaining service period of employees active 

at the date of amendment. When the restructuring of a benefit plan gives rise to both a curtailment and a settlement of obliga-

tions, the curtailment is accounted for prior to the settlement.

Pension expense consists of the following:

• the cost of pension benefits provided in exchange for employees’ services rendered in the period;

• interest on the actuarial present value of accrued pension benefits less earnings on pension fund assets;

• amounts which represent the amortization of the unrecognized net pension assets that arose when accounting policies 
were first applied and prior service costs and amendments, and subsequent gains or losses arising from changes in actuarial 
assumptions, and experience gains or losses related to return on assets, amortized on a straight-line basis over the expected 
average remaining service life of the employee group.

• Gains or losses on settlements or curtailments

Post-Retirement benefits Other than Pensions:

Post-retirement benefits other than pensions include health care and life insurance benefits for retired employees.  The costs of 

providing these benefits are accrued over the working lives of employees in a manner similar to pension costs.  Actuarial gains 

or losses are treated in a similar manner to those relating to pension plans. The average remaining service period of employees 

covered by the post-retirement benefit plan is 5 years.

Significant elements in determining the assets or liabilities and related income or expense for these plans are the expected return 

on plan assets, the discount rate used to value future payment streams, expected trends in health care costs, and other actuarial 

assumptions.  Annually, the Company evaluates the significant assumptions to be used to value its pension and post-retirement 

plan assets and liabilities based on current market conditions and expectations of future costs.
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Future Income taxes
The Company follows the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under this method, future income taxes 

relate to the expected future tax consequences of differences between the carrying amount of balance sheet items and their 

corresponding tax values using the substantively enacted income tax rate, which will be in effect for the year in which the dif-

ferences are expected to reverse. A valuation allowance is recorded to reduce the carrying amount of future income tax assets 

to the extent that, in the opinion of management, it is more likely than not that the future income tax assets will not be real-

ized. The ultimate realization of future tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income and tax planning 

strategies. Future income tax assets and liabilities are adjusted for the effects of changes in tax laws and rates on the date of 

substantive enactment.  

Stock-based Compensation and other stock-based payments
A description of the stock-based compensation and other stock-based payments offered by the Company is included in Note 

17 to these financial statements.

The Company recognizes as an expense, all stock options granted, modified or settled to its employees using the fair value 

based method. Stock options awards to employees are measured based on the fair value of the options at the grant date and 

a compensation expense is recognized over the vesting period of the options, with a corresponding increase to contributed 

surplus. The fair value of these options is measured using a Black-Scholes option pricing model. When the stock options are 

exercised, capital stock is credited by the sum of the consideration paid, together with the related portion previously recorded 

to contributed surplus. 

For the Deferred Share Unit Plan offered to its external directors, the Company records an expense with a corresponding 

increase to contributed surplus when the units are granted which is the date the remuneration is to be paid. The amount cor-

responds to its directors’ fees and fees for attending meeting of the Board of Directors or committees.

For the Executive Deferred Share Unit Plan offered to its executive officers, the Company records an increase to contributed 

surplus when the units are granted which is on the last business day of each month of the Company’s fiscal year in the case of 

salary and on the date on which the bonus is, or would otherwise be, paid to the participant in the case of bonus. The amount 

corresponds to the portion of salary or bonus elected to be paid in the form of deferred share units.

Product warranties
A provision for warranty cost is recorded in cost of sales when the revenue for the related product is recognized. The cost is 

estimated based on a number of factors, including the historical warranty claims and cost experience, the type and duration 

of warranty, the nature of product sold and in service, counter-warranty coverage available from the Company’s suppliers and 

product recalls. The Company reviews periodically its recorded product warranty provisions and any adjustment is recorded 

in cost of sales.

nOtE 2 – SIgnIFICAnt ACCOuntIng POLICIES (Cont’d)
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nOtE 2 – SIgnIFICAnt ACCOuntIng POLICIES (Cont’d)

guarantees
In the normal course of business, the Company enters into various agreements that may contain features that meet the defini-

tion of a guarantee. A guarantee is defined to be a contract that contingently requires the Company to make payments to a 

third party based on (i) changes in an underlying interest rate, foreign currency exchange rate, index of prices or rates, or other 

variable, including the occurrence or non-occurrence of a specified event (such as a scheduled payment under a contract), that 

is related to an asset, a liability or an equity security of the guaranteed party, (ii) failure of another party to perform under an 

obligating agreement, or (iii) failure of another party to pay its indebtedness when due. The stand-by portion of the guarantees 

are initially measured at fair value.  The contingent portion of the guarantee is recorded when the Company considers it prob-

able that a payment relating to the guarantee has to be made to the other party of the contract or agreement.

Future Accounting Changes
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 

On February 13, 2008, the Accounting Standards Board of Canada confirmed the date of the changeover from Canadian 

GAAP to International Financial Reporting Standards. Canadian publicly accountable enterprises must adopt IFRS to their 

interim and annual financial statements relating to fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2011, with early adoption al-

lowed. Subject to securities regulatory approval, the Company has chosen to early adopt IFRS and it will issue its last financial 

statements prepared in accordance with Canadian GAAP in 2010. Effective the first day of fiscal year 2011, the Company’s 

financial statements will be prepared in accordance with IFRS, with comparative figures and an opening balance sheet restated 

to conform to IFRS, along with a reconciliation from Canadian GAAP to IFRS, as per guidance provided in IFRS 1, “First-

Time Adoption of International Reporting Standards”.

In preparation for the changeover to IFRS, the Company has developed an IFRS transition plan consisting of five phases: 

1) Diagnostic Phase, 2) Design and Planning Phase, 3) Solution Development Phase, 4) Implementation Phase and, 5) Post 

Implementation Phase.

The Company has completed the diagnostic phase, which involved developing an IFRS transition plan based on the results of 

a high-level preliminary assessment of the differences between IFRS and the Company’s current accounting policies. This as-

sessment has provided insight into the most significant areas of potential impact to the Company including, but not limited to, 

property, plant and equipment, leases, goodwill and intangible assets, provisions, employee benefits, foreign exchange, income 

taxes and financial instruments. 

The Company has further completed the design and planning phase. This included establishing a core project team with a 

mandate to oversee the transition process, including any impacts on financial reporting, business processes, internal controls 

and information systems. Regular reporting is provided by the project team to senior management and to the Audit Committee 

of the Board of Directors.

The Company is now in the solution design and development phase. The transition from current Canadian GAAP to IFRS is 

a significant undertaking that may materially affect the Company’s reported financial position and results of operations. As the 

Company continues to work through this phase, it has selected certain of its accounting policy choices and IFRS 1 exemptions.
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nOtE 2 – SIgnIFICAnt ACCOuntIng POLICIES (Cont’d)

Future Accounting Changes (Cont’d)
business Combinations

In January 2009, the CICA issued Section 1582, “Business Combinations”, which will replace Section 1581, “Business Com-

binations”, and will provide the equivalent to IFRS 3, “Business Combinations”. The new Section expands the definition of a 

business subject to an acquisition and establishes significant new guidance on the measurement of consideration given, and the 

recognition and measurement of assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination. The new Section requires 

that all business acquisitions be measured at the full fair value of the acquired entity at the acquisition date even if the business 

combination is achieved in stages, or if less than 100 percent of the equity interest in the acquiree is owned at the acquisition 

date. Subsequent changes in fair value of contingent consideration classified as a liability will be recognized in earnings and not 

as an adjustment to the purchase price. Restructuring and other direct costs of a business combination are no longer considered 

part of the purchase price allocation. Instead, such costs will be expensed as incurred, unless they constitute the costs associated 

with issuing debt or equity securities. The Section applies prospectively to business combinations for which the acquisition 

date is on or after the beginning of the first annual reporting period beginning on or after January 1, 2011. Earlier adoption is 

permitted as of the beginning of a fiscal year. This new Section will only have an impact on the Company’s financial statements 

for future acquisitions that will be made in periods subsequent to the date of adoption. The Company is currently assessing 

whether or not it will early adopt Section 1582.

nOtE 3 – REStRuCtuRIng ACtIVItIES

In 2009, the Company recorded total expenses of $135 (2008 – $943) with respect to restructuring activities, of which $31 

(2008 – $217) were recorded as cost of sales and $104 (2008 – $726) were recorded as restructuring costs.

Juvenile Segment
In the fourth quarter of 2006, Dorel Europe initiated restructuring activities affecting the Juvenile Segment. Significant opera-

tional changes related to the production facilities in Telgate, Italy and Cholet, France are being implemented. The plan’s objec-

tive is to reduce operational costs through strategic sourcing and manufacturing. These restructuring initiatives are currently 

mainly completed and result in cumulative restructuring charges of $13,249. To date, the Company has recorded a cumulative 

charge of $13,238 under the plan, including $3,411 of non-cash charges related to the write-down of long-lived assets and 

inventory markdowns, $10,897 of employee severance and termination benefits and $235 of other associated costs, net of 

curtailment gains on defined benefit pension plans of $222, curtailment gains on compensation liabilities of $318 and gains 

on sale of machinery and equipment of $765. Of this $13,238 cumulative charge, $135 was recorded in the current fiscal year, 

$860 in 2008, $8,243 in 2007 and $4,000 in 2006.
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nOtE 3 – REStRuCtuRIng ACtIVItIES (Cont’d)

The costs recognized for these restructuring activities consist of the following:

  2009 2008

  $ $

Employee severance and termination benefits 104 1,035

Gains on sale of machinery & equipment – (333)

Other associated costs – 8

Recorded as Restructuring costs  104 710

Move of inventory, equipment and other expenses (in Cost of sales) 31 74

Inventory markdowns (in Cost of sales) – 76

Total 135 860

As at December 30, 2009, the related restructuring plan provision totaling $549 consists of employee termination benefits and 

is included in accrued liabilities (2008 – $894). A summary of the changes to the Company’s restructuring plan provision is 

as follows:

  balance   Cash  Effect of  balance
  december 30, 2009  received  foreign  december 30,
  2008  Provision  (paid)  exchange  2009

  $ $ $ $ $

Employee severance and 
 termination benefits 894 104 (458) 9 549

Move of inventory, equipment and 
 other expenses (in Cost of sales) – 31 (31) – –

Total 894 135 (489) 9 549

Home Furnishings Segment
On May 17, 2007, the Company announced a plan for restructuring at Ameriwood Industries.  The Company determined 

that its current ready-to-assemble (RTA) furniture manufacturing footprint exceeded anticipated market needs. As such, the 

majority of manufacturing operations at the Dowagiac, Michigan RTA facility were suspended in July of 2007. The related 

restructuring actions were completed in the third quarter of 2008, with $367 remaining to be paid as at December 30, 2008 

which has been paid in 2009. The Company has recorded a cumulative charge of $11,024 under the plan, of which $83 was 

recorded in 2008 and $10,941 was recorded in 2007. Of the total costs incurred, $9,604 were non-cash charges related to the 

write-down of long-lived assets and inventory markdowns.
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nOtE 4 – buSInESS ACQuISItIOnS 

baby Art bvba
On January 27, 2009 the Company announced the purchase of all of the outstanding shares of Belgium-based BABY ART 

bvba. Created in 2006, BABY ART bvba markets its baby products and accessories under the BABY ART and HOPPOP 

brands. The purchase price was $5,410 (4,112 Euro). The transaction was financed through the Company’s existing credit 

facilities.

The acquisition has been recorded under the purchase method of accounting with the results of operations of the acquired 

business being included in the accompanying consolidated financial statements since the date of acquisition. The goodwill is 

not deductible for tax purposes. The total goodwill amount is included in the Company’s Juvenile segment as reported in Note 

25.

The allocation of the purchase price of the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed is as follows:

 

ASSEtS $

 Accounts receivable 324

 Income taxes receivable 30

 Inventories 1,028

 Customer relationships 237

 Deferred development costs 947

 Goodwill 4,860

  7,426

 

LIAbILItIES $

 Bank indebtedness 446

 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 929

 Current portion of long-term debt 55

 Long-term debt 183

 Long-term future income taxes 403

  2,016

Net assets acquired 5,410
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nOtE 4 – buSInESS ACQuISItIOnS (Cont’d)

Iron Horse bicycles
On July 15, 2009, the Company acquired certain assets of Iron Horse Bicycles, including inventory, various trademarks and 

trade names, as well as the “Iron Horse” brand. In addition to downhill and extreme trail bikes, Iron Horse products range 

from mountain bikes, road bikes, and comfort bikes to juvenile bikes and hybrids. The purchase price was $5,560. A balance 

of sale of $220 remains to be paid in July of 2010 and is presented with the accounts payable and accrued liabilities on the 

consolidated balance sheet.

The acquisition has been recorded under the purchase method of accounting with the results of operations of the acquired 

business being included in the accompanying consolidated financial statements since the date of acquisition. The goodwill is 

deductible for tax purposes. The total goodwill amount is included in the Company’s Recreational/Leisure segment as reported 

in Note 25. 

The allocation of the purchase price of the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed is as follows:

 

ASSEtS $

 Inventories 879

 Trademarks 3,800

 Goodwill 940

  5,619

 

LIAbILItIES $

 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 59

  59

Net assets acquired 5,560

 

gemini bicycles
On August 4, 2009, the Company acquired certain assets of Gemini Bicycles for $2,047 (AUD$2,453), an Australian bicycle 

distributor. The acquisition has been recorded under the purchase method of accounting with the results of operations of the 

acquired business being included in the accompanying consolidated financial statements since the date of acquisition. The 

goodwill is deductible for tax purposes. The total goodwill amount is included in the Company’s Recreational/Leisure segment 

as reported in Note 25.
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nOtE 4 – buSInESS ACQuISItIOnS (Cont’d)

gemini bicycles (Cont’d)
The allocation of the purchase price of the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed is as follows:

ASSEtS $

 Inventories 1,924

 Goodwill 200

  2,124

 

LIAbILItIES $

 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 77

  77

Net assets acquired 2,047

Hot Wheels and Circle bikes
On October 1st, 2009, the Company acquired certain assets of UK-based Hot Wheels and Circle Bikes for $10,626  

(GBP 6,662), a UK preeminent distributor of the Mongoose and GT brands. As part of the acquisition agreement, additional 

consideration is contingent upon a formulaic variable price based mainly on future earnings results of the acquired business up 

to the year ended December 30, 2012. The Company is presently in the process of allocating the cost of this purchase to the 

net assets acquired. The preliminary allocation of the cost of this purchase includes an estimate of the contingent consideration 

of $2,572 and this estimate is recorded as a financial liability within other long-term liabilities. For each subsequent year until 

the contingent consideration is resolved in 2012, the adjustment to the financial liability will be recorded as an additional  

element of purchase price and goodwill will be adjusted accordingly.

The acquisition has been recorded under the purchase method of accounting with the results of operations of the acquired 

business being included in the accompanying consolidated financial statements since the date of acquisition. The goodwill is 

deductible for tax purposes. The total goodwill amount is included in the Company’s Recreational/Leisure segment as reported 

in Note 25. 
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Hot Wheels and Circle bikes (Cont’d)
The preliminary allocation of the purchase price of the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed is as follows:

 

ASSEtS $

 Cash and cash equivalents 290

 Accounts receivable 2,666

 Inventories 1,738

 Prepaid expenses 56

 Property, plant and equipment  155

 Goodwill 6,515

  11,420

 

LIAbILItIES $

 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 661

 Other long-term liabilities 133

  794

Net assets acquired 10,626

IgC (Australia) Pty Ltd
On February 28, 2007, the Company acquired a 55% interest in an Australian company IGC (Australia) Pty Ltd (“IGC”). 

Operating as In Good Care, IGC is a manufacturer and distributor of juvenile products in Australia and New Zealand. 

As part of the acquisition, the Company entered into a put and call agreement with the minority interest holder for the pur-

chase of its 45% stake in IGC. Under the terms of this agreement, if specified earnings objectives are not met at the end of 

2008 and at the end of each subsequent year until the option is exercised, Dorel has an option to buy this 45% minority inter-

est (the call option) at a formulaic variable price based mainly on earnings levels in future periods (the “exit price”). Similarly, 

the holder of the minority interest has an option to sell his 45% stake in IGC to Dorel (the put option) for the same variable 

exit price if a certain earnings target is reached in 2008 or at the end of any subsequent year until the option is exercised. In 

addition, following December 31, 2012, the minority interest holder has the right to sell its 45% stake in IGC to Dorel at any 

time for the same terms. The agreement does not include a specified minimum amount of contingent consideration. Under the 

liability method of accounting, the put and call agreement is reflected in the financial statements as follows:
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nOtE 4 – buSInESS ACQuISItIOnS (Cont’d)

IgC (Australia) Pty Ltd (Cont’d)
(i) The put and call agreement is considered to have been fully executed at the time of acquisition, resulting in the purchase by 

Dorel of a further 45% interest in IGC. As a result, Dorel has consolidated 100% of IGC at the inception of this agreement. 

(ii) When the contingency is re-valued until the put or call option is exercised, the value of the exit price will be determined and 

recorded as a financial liability and as an additional element of the purchase price which will impact goodwill. The financial 

liability amounts to $12,715 as at December 30, 2009 (2008 – $966) and is presented in other long-term liabilities.

The total goodwill amount is included in the Company’s Juvenile segment as reported in Note 25.

nOtE 5 – ACCOuntS RECEIVAbLE
Accounts receivable consist of the following:

   dECEMbER 30,

  2009 2008

  $ $

Trade accounts receivable 394,735 357,608

Allowance for anticipated credits (53,298) (56,479)

Allowance for doubtful accounts (13,554) (11,305)

  327,883 289,824

Foreign exchange contracts 1,411 11,548

Other receivables 20,696 14,895

  349,990 316,267

nOtE 6 – InVEntORIES
Inventories consist of the following:

   dECEMbER 30,

  2009 2008

  $ $

Raw materials 77,994 97,155

Work in process 6,290 6,906

Finished goods 315,582 405,406

  399,866 509,467
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nOtE 7 – PROPERtY, PLAnt And EQuIPMEnt

  dECEMbER 30, 2009

   Accumulated
  Cost depreciation net

  $ $ $

Land 14,483 – 14,483

Buildings and improvements 70,536 15,471 55,065

Machinery and equipment 71,294 44,304 26,990

Moulds 101,302 71,829 29,473

Furniture and fixtures 8,003 5,731 2,272

Computer equipment 35,360 23,633 11,727

Leasehold improvements 9,962 6,409 3,553

Assets not in service 7,888 – 7,888

Assets under capital leases 5,427 4,210 1,217

Vehicles 1,789 1,178 611

  326,044 172,765 153,279

    

  dECEMbER 30, 2008

   Accumulated
  Cost depreciation net

  $ $ $

Land 14,387 – 14,387

Buildings and improvements 72,575 16,148 56,427

Machinery and equipment 75,975 48,807 27,168

Moulds 118,301 93,918 24,383

Furniture and fixtures 7,499 5,229 2,270

Computer equipment 30,210 20,319 9,891

Leasehold improvements 9,464 5,499 3,965

Assets not in service 18,902 – 18,902

Assets under capital leases 4,374 3,559 815

Vehicles 1,838 1,151 687

  353,525 194,630 158,895

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements



92 Dorel Industries Inc.

nOtE 7 – PROPERtY, PLAnt And EQuIPMEnt (Cont’d)
Assets not in service consist of the following major categories:

   dECEMbER 30,

  2009 2008

  $ $

Buildings and improvements 313 50

Machinery and equipment 1,586 1,397

Moulds 4,099 16,285

Computer equipment 1,890 1,170

  7,888 18,902

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment amounted to $28,585 (2008 – $26,200). 

nOtE 8 – IntAngIbLE ASSEtS

   dECEMbER 30, 2009

   Accumulated  
  Cost Amortization net

  $ $ $

Trademarks 280,723 – 280,723

Customer relationships 98,147 19,826 78,321

Supplier relationship 1,500 225 1,275

Patents 24,775 14,962 9,813

Software licence 754 75 679

Deferred development costs 50,062 19,042 31,020

  455,961 54,130 401,831

   dECEMbER 30, 2008

   Accumulated  
  Cost Amortization net

  $ $ $

Trademarks 275,085 – 275,085

Customer relationships 97,401 14,783 82,618

Supplier relationship 1,500 75 1,425

Patents 24,784 15,733 9,051

Software licence 668 – 668

Deferred development costs 43,186 16,291 26,895

  442,624 46,882 395,742
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The following table presents the aggregate amount of intangible assets that were acquired or internally developed during the 

period:

   dECEMbER 30,

  2009 2008

  $ $

Acquired 2,182 1,992

Internally developed 16,561 19,069

  18,743 21,061

Amortization of intangible assets was as follows:

   dECEMbER 30,

  2009 2008

  $ $

Customer relationships 4,883 4,191

Supplier relationship 150 75

Patents 1,556 2,472

Software licence 75 –

Deferred development costs 13,942 12,916

  20,606 19,654

nOtE 9 – OtHER ASSEtS
Other assets consist of the following:

   dECEMbER 30,

  2009 2008

  $ $

Accrued benefit asset (Note 15) 8,390 8,354

Long-term future income tax assets (Note 22) 25,345 10,420

Interest rate swaps 1,476 –

Costs relating to revolving credit facility (1) 51 354

Assets held for sale 46 129

Other 571 316

  35,879 19,573

(1)  The amortization of financing costs related to the revolving credit facility included in interest on long-term debt expense is $214 (2008 – $309). 
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nOtE 10 – bAnK IndEbtEdnESS
The average interest rates on the outstanding borrowings as at December 30, 2009 and 2008 were 4.21% and 4.5% respec-

tively. As at December 30, 2009, the Company had available bank lines of credit amounting to approximately $57,420 (2008 

– $56,935) which are renegotiated annually.

nOtE 11 – ACCOuntS PAYAbLE And ACCRuEd LIAbILItIES

   dECEMbER 30,

  2009 2008

  $ $

Trade creditors and accruals 248,850 301,394

Salaries payable 31,398 27,804

Product liability (Note 20) 25,480 23,087

Product warranties  15,579 9,537

Foreign exchange contracts 395 1,093

Interest rate swaps 790 –

Balance of sale 220 1,100

Other accrued liabilities 16,582 16,900

  339,294 380,915
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   dECEMbER 30,

  2009 2008

  $ $

  Reclassified

Series “A” Senior guaranteed notes (2)   

 Bearing interest at 6.80 % per annum with principal repayments as follows: 36,500 45,000

 1 instalment of $8,500 paid in July 2009  
 2 annual instalments of $10,000 ending in July 2011  
 1 final instalment of $16,500 in July 2012  

Series “b” Senior  guaranteed notes (2)   

 Bearing interest at 5.63% per annum repaid in February 2010 55,000 55,000

Revolving bank Loans (3)  

 Bearing interest at various rates per annum, averaging 2.2%  
 (2008 – 4.0%) based on LIBOR or U.S. bank rates, total availability  
 of $475,000, (2008 – $475,000) due to mature in July 2010.   
 This agreement also includes an accordion feature allowing the  
 company to have access to an additional amount of $50,000 on  
 a revolving basis. 257,000 359,024

Obligations under capital leases 1,155 655

Less unamortized financing costs (1)                (72) (96)

  349,583 459,583

Current Portion          (122,508) (8,879)

  227,075 450,704

(1) The amortization of financing costs related to the long-term debt included in interest on long-term debt expense is $52 (2008 – $143).

(2) Interest and principal payments are guaranteed by certain subsidiaries.

(3) Subsequent to year-end, effective April 6, 2010, the Company issued $50,000 of Series “A” Senior Guaranteed Notes and $150,000 of Series “B” 
Senior Guaranteed Notes, bearing interest at 4.24% and 5.14%, respectively. The principal repayment of Series “A” Senior Guaranteed Notes is due 
on April 6, 2015. The principal repayments of Series “B” Senior Guaranteed Notes are as follow:

 • 2 annual instalments of $13,000 ending in April 2014
 • 1 annual instalment of $7,500 ending in April 2015
 • 5 annual instalments of $23,300 ending in April 2020

 As a result of the issuance of the Senior Guaranteed Notes for an aggregate of $200,000, the Company is reclassifying $200,000 from the current 
portion of long-term debt to long-term debt and re-issuing its financial statements. In addition, following the issuance of these Senior Guaranteed 
Notes, the borrowing availability under the revolving bank loans decreased to $375,000 from the availability as at December 30, 2009 of $475,000. 
The Company is currently renegotiating the terms of the revolving bank loans in order to extend this facility.
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nOtE 12 – LOng-tERM dEbt (Cont’d)

The aggregate repayments in subsequent years of existing long-term debt will be:

 Fiscal Year Ending Amount

 2010 $122,508

 2011 10,390

 2012 16,685

 2013 13,000

 2014 13,000

 Thereafter   174,000

  $349,583

nOtE 13 – OtHER LOng-tERM LIAbILItIES

   dECEMbER 30,

  2009 2008

  $ $

Employee compensation 4,725 4,121

Contingent considerations (Notes 4 and 25) 18,895 966

Other 1,519 923

  25,139 6,010

Employee compensation consists of bonuses based on length of service and profit sharing offered by one of the Company’s 

subsidiaries.
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nOtE 14 – FInAnCIAL InStRuMEntS

Financial instruments – carrying values and fair values
The fair value of financial assets and liabilities, together with the carrying amounts included in the consolidated balance sheet, 

are as follows:

 dECEMbER 30, 2009 dECEMbER 30, 2008

   Carrying  Carrying
   amount Fair value amount Fair value

   $ $ $ $

FInAnCIAL ASSEtS     

Held for trading financial assets:     

 Cash and cash equivalents 19,847 19,847 16,966 16,966

 Foreign exchange contracts included  
  in accounts receivable 533 533 11,548 11,548

Loans and receivables:     

 Accounts receivable – trade 327,883 327,883 289,824 289,824

 Accounts receivable - other 20,696 20,696 14,895 14,895

Derivatives designated as cash flow hedges:     

 Interest rate swaps included in other assets  1,476 1,476 – –

 Foreign exchange contracts included in 
  accounts receivable 878 878 – –

FInAnCIAL LIAbILItIES     

Held for trading financial liabilities:     

 Foreign exchange contracts included in  
  accounts payable and accrued liabilities 395 395 1,093 1,093

Other liabilities:     

 Bank indebtedness 1,987 1,987 4,398 4,398

 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  337,889 337,889 378,722 378,722

 Long-term debt – bearing interest  
  at variable rates:     

 Revolving Bank Loans 257,000 257,000 359,024 359,024

 Long-term debt – bearing interest at  
  fixed rates 92,583 95,536 100,559 98,827

Other long-term liabilities 25,139 25,139 6,010 6,010

Balance of sale payable 220 220 1,100 1,100

Derivatives designated as cash flow hedges:  

 Interest rate swaps included in accounts  
  payable and accrued liabilities 790 790 – –
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Financial instruments – carrying values and fair values (Cont’d)
The Company has determined that the fair value of its short-term financial assets and liabilities approximates their respective 

carrying amounts as at the balance sheet dates because of the short-term nature of those financial instruments. For long-term 

debt bearing interest at variable rates, the fair value is considered to approximate the carrying amount. For long-term debt 

bearing interest at fixed rates, the fair value is estimated based on discounting expected future cash flows at the discount rates 

which represent borrowing rates presently available to the Company for loans with similar terms and maturity. As at December 

30, 2009 and 2008, the fair value of the other long-term liabilities are comparable to their carrying value since the majority 

of the amount is recorded based on discounted future cash outflows. The fair value of cash and cash equivalents was measured 

using Level 2 inputs in the fair value hierarchy. The fair value of the foreign exchange contracts and the interest rate swaps were 

measured using Level 2 inputs in the fair value hierarchy.

The fair value of foreign exchange contracts is measured using a generally accepted valuation technique which is the discounted 

value of the difference between the contract’s value at maturity based on the foreign exchange rate set out in the contract and 

the contract’s value at maturity based on the foreign exchange rate that the counterparty would use if it were to renegotiate 

the same contract at today’s date under the same conditions. The Company’s or the counterparty’s credit risk is also taken into 

consideration in determining fair value.

The fair value of interest rate swaps is measured using a generally accepted valuation technique which is the discounted value 

of the difference between the value of the swap based on variable interest rates (estimated using the yield curve for anticipated 

interest rates) and the value of the swap based on the swap’s fixed interest rate. The counterparty’s credit risk is also taken into 

consideration in determining fair value.

Foreign exchange gains (losses) 

   dECEMbER 30,

  2009 2008

  $ $

Gains (losses) relating to financial assets and liabilities,  
excluding foreign exchange contracts 5,377 7,489

Gains (losses) relating to foreign exchange contracts,  
including amounts realized on contract maturity and changes in fair  
value of open positions for the foreign exchange contracts for which  
the Company does not apply hedge accounting (5,154) 18,340

Foreign exchange gains (losses) relating to financial instruments 223 25,829

Other foreign exchange gains (losses) (76) 138

Foreign exchange gains (losses) 147 25,967
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Management of risks arising from financial instruments
In the normal course of business, the Company is subject to various risks relating to foreign currency exchange, interest rate, 

credit and liquidity risks. The Company manages these risk exposures on an ongoing basis. In order to limit the effects of 

changes in foreign exchange rates on its revenues, expenses and its cash flows, the Company can avail itself of various derivative 

financial instruments. The Company’s management is responsible for determining the acceptable level of risk and only uses 

derivative financial instruments to manage existing or anticipated risks, commitments or obligations based on its past experi-

ence. The following analysis provides a measurement of risks.

Foreign Exchange Risk

In order to mitigate the foreign currency exchange risks, the Company uses from time to time various derivative financial 

instruments such as options, futures and forward contracts to hedge against adverse fluctuations in currency.  The Company’s 

main source of foreign currency exchange rate risk resides in sales and purchases of goods denominated in currencies other than 

the functional currency of each of Dorel’s entities. For the Company’s transactions denominated in currencies other than the 

functional currency of each of Dorel’s entities, fluctuations in the respective exchange rates relative to the functional currency 

of each of Dorel’s entities will create volatility in the Company’s cash flows and in the reported amounts in its consolidated 

statement of income. The Company’s financial debt mainly consists of notes issued exclusively in U.S. dollars, for which no 

foreign currency hedging is required. Short-term lines of credit and overdrafts commonly used by Dorel’s entities are in the 

currency of the borrowing entity and therefore carry no exchange-rate risk. Inter-company loans/borrowings are economi-

cally hedged as appropriate, whenever they present a net exposure to exchange-rate risk. Additional earnings variability arises 

from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of each of 

Dorel’s entities at the rates of exchange at each balance sheet date, the impact of which is reported as a foreign exchange gain 

and loss in the statement of income.

Derivative financial instruments are used as a method for meeting the risk reduction objectives of the Company by generating 

offsetting cash flows related to the underlying position with respect to the amount and timing of forecasted transactions. The 

terms of the currency derivatives ranges from one to twelve months. Dorel does not hold or use derivative financial instruments 

for trading or speculative purposes.

The following tables provide an indication of the Company’s significant foreign currency exposures during the years ended 

December 30, 2009 and 2008, including the period end balances of financial and monetary assets and liabilities denominated 

in currencies other than the functional currency of each of Dorel’s entities, as well as the amount of revenue and operating 

expenses during the period that were denominated in foreign currencies other than the functional currency of each of Dorel’s 

entities. The tables below do not consider the effect of foreign exchange contracts.
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Foreign Exchange Risk (Cont’d)

    dECEMbER 30, 2009

  uS CAd Euro gbP Aud

  $ $ $ $ $

Cash and cash equivalents 887 1,016 253 – –

Accounts receivable 1,909 20,471 1,748 2,450 4,369

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (29,917) (18,138) (6,460) (400) –

Inter-company loans – – – – 8,817

Balance sheet exposure excluding 
 financial derivatives (27,121) 3,349 (4,459) 2,050 13,186

      

    dECEMbER 30, 2008

  uS CAd Euro gbP Aud

  $ $ $ $ $

Cash and cash equivalents 1,403 (25) 299 517 –

Accounts receivable 1,160 16,927 1,195 1,665 623

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (22,511) (11,758) (12,127) (81) –

Inter-company loans (1,500) – – – 6,805

Balance sheet exposure excluding 
 financial derivatives (21,448) 5,144 (10,633) 2,101 7,428

    dECEMbER 30, 2009

  uS CAd Euro gbP Aud

  $ $ $ $ $

Revenue 9,610 105,507 12,346 11,567 6,349

Expenses 179,016 111,888 15,242 459 800

net exposure (169,406) (6,381) (2,896) 11,108 5,549

      

    dECEMbER 30, 2008

  uS CAd Euro gbP Aud

  $ $ $ $ $

Revenue 7,644 104,911 12,232 13,370 2,834

Expenses 181,353 128,708 22,907 209 72

net exposure (173,709) (23,797) (10,675) 13,161 2,762
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Foreign Exchange Risk (Cont’d)

The following table summarizes the Company’s derivative financial instruments relating to commitments to buy and sell  

foreign currencies through options, futures and forward foreign exchange contracts as at December 30, 2009 and, 2008:

   dECEMbER 30, 2009   dECEMbER 30, 2008

Foreign exchange contracts Average notional Fair Average notional Fair
Currencies (sold/bought) rate (1)  amount (2) value rate (1)  amount (2) value

   $ $  $ $

Futures

 $/CAD 0.9375 15,000 275 – – –

Forwards

 EUR/$ 0.6806 30,400 1,122 0.6855 105,700 3,487

 GBP/$ 0.6131 2,500 25 0.5995 18,800 2,493

 AUD/$ – – – 1.2155 1,142 180

 NZD/$ – – – 0.7418 137 31

 GBP/EUR – – – 0.8777 13,450 1,344

 NZD/AUD 0.5174 34 (13) 0.8420 337 3

Options

 EUR/$ 0.7134 13,300 (393) 0.6613 61,150 1,782

 GBP/$ – – – 0.5066 3,350 469

 GBP/EUR – – – 0.7738 6,371 666

tOtAL   1,016   10,455

       
(1) Rates are expressed as the number of units of the currency sold for one unit of currency bought.
(2) Exchange rates as at December 30, 2009 and 2008 were used to translate amounts in foreign currencies.
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Foreign Exchange Risk (Cont’d)

The following outlines the main exchange rates applied:

  2009 Reporting date rate
  Year-to-date average rate  december 30, 2009

CAD TO USD 0.8760 0.9555

EURO TO USD 1.3895 1.4333

GBP TO USD 1.5593 1.6166

AUD TO USD 0.7804 0.8977

  2008 Reporting date rate
  Year-to-date average rate  december 30, 2008

CAD TO USD 0.9386 0.8190

EURO TO USD 1.4694 1.4158

GBP TO USD 1.8545 1.4476

AUD TO USD 0.8525 0.6928

Based on the Company’s foreign currency exposures noted above and the foreign exchange contracts in effect in 2009 and 

2008, varying the above foreign exchange rates to reflect a 5 percent weakening of the currencies, other than the functional 

currency of each of Dorel’s entities, would have the following effects during the years ended December 30, 2009 and 2008, as 

follows, assuming that all other variables remained constant:

    dECEMbER 30, 2009

Source of variability from 
 changes in foreign exchange rates uS CAd Euro gbP Aud

  $ $ $ $ $

Financial instruments, including 
 foreign exchange contracts  320 (184) 224 (103) 222

Revenues and expenses 8,548 285 236 (561) (323)

(decrease) increase on pre-tax income 8,868 101 460 (664) (101)

decrease on other 
 comprehensive income (593) (511) – – –
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Foreign Exchange Risk (Cont’d)

    dECEMbER 30, 2008

Source of variability from 
 changes in foreign exchange rates uS CAd Euro gbP Aud

  $ $ $ $ $

Financial instruments, including 
 foreign exchange contracts  (6,688) (139) (311) (105) (353)

Revenues and expenses 8,059 1,190 233 (634) (132)

(decrease) increase on pre-tax income 1,371 1,051 (78) (739) (485)

Increase (decrease) on other 
 comprehensive income – – – – –

An assumed 5 percent strengthening of the currencies, other than the functional currency of each of Dorel’s entities, during 

the years ended December 30, 2009 and 2008, would have the following effects assuming that all other variables remained 

constant:

    dECEMbER 30, 2009

Source of variability from 
 changes in foreign exchange rates uS CAd Euro gbP Aud

  $ $ $ $ $

Financial instruments, including 
 foreign exchange contracts  (399) 184 (224) 103 (222)

Revenues and expenses (8,548) (285) (236) 561 323

(decrease) increase on pre-tax income (8,947) (101) (460) 664 101

Increase on other 
 comprehensive income 579 538 – – –

    dECEMbER 30, 2008

Source of variability from 
 changes in foreign exchange rates uS CAd Euro gbP Aud

  $ $ $ $ $

Financial instruments, including 
 foreign exchange contracts  6,721 139 310 105 353

Revenues and expenses (8,059) (1,190) (233) 634 132

(decrease) increase on pre-tax income (1,338) (1,051) 77 739 485

Increase (decrease) on other 
 comprehensive income – – – – –
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Interest Rate Risk

The Company is exposed to interest rate fluctuations, related primarily to its revolving long-term bank loans, for which 

amounts drawn are subject to LIBOR or U.S. bank rates in effect at the time of borrowing, plus a margin. The Company 

manages its interest rate exposure and enters into swap agreements consisting in exchanging variable rates for fixed rates for an 

extended period of time. All other long-term debts have fixed interest rates and are therefore not exposed to cash flow interest 

rate risk.

During 2009, the Company decided to use interest rate swap agreements to lock-in a portion of its debt cost and reduce its 

exposure to the variability of interest rates by exchanging variable rate payments for fixed rate payments. The Company has 

designated its interest rate swaps as cash flow hedges for which it uses hedge accounting.

The maturity analysis associated with the interest rate swap agreements used to manage interest risk associated with long-term 

debt is as follows:

 dECEMbER 30, 2009

 Fixed Rate notional  
 (Percentage) amount Maturity Fair value

Interest rate swap agreements 2.21 $ 50,000 March 23, 2014 $ 686

The fair value as at December 30, 2009 of the derivatives designated as cash flow hedges are as follows: 

 Fair value

 $

derivatives designated as cash flow hedges:  

Interest rate swaps included in other assets 1,476

Interest rate swaps included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities (790)

 686

Based on the currently outstanding interest-bearing revolving long-term bank loans and interest rate swaps as at December 

30, 2009, if interest rates had changed by 50 basis points, assuming that all other variables had remained the same, the impact 

would have the following effects:

 2009 2008

 0.5% increase 0.5% decrease 0.5% increase 0.5% decrease

 $ $ $ $

Increase (decrease) on pre-tax income (1,285) 1,285 (1,795) 1,795

Increase (decrease) on other comprehensive income (356) 343 – –
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Credit Risk

Credit risk stems primarily from the potential inability of clients or counterparties to discharge their obligations and arises 

primarily from the Company’s trade accounts receivable. The Company may also have credit risk relating to cash and cash 

equivalents, foreign exchange contracts and interest rate swaps resulting from defaults by counterparties. The Company enters 

into financial instruments with a diversity of creditworthy parties. When entering into foreign exchange contracts and interest 

rate swaps, the counterparties are large Canadian and International banks. Therefore, the Company does not expect to incur 

material credit losses due to its risk management on other financial instruments. 

The maximum credit risk to which the Company is exposed as at December 30, 2009 and 2008, represents the carrying value 

of cash equivalents and accounts receivable as well as the fair value of foreign exchange contracts and interest rate swaps with 

positive fair values.

Substantially all trade accounts receivable arise from the sale to the retail industry. The Company performs ongoing credit 

evaluations of its customers’ financial condition and limits the amount of credit extended when deemed necessary. In addi-

tion, a portion of the total accounts receivable is insured against possible losses. In 2009, sales to a major customer represented 

31.4% of total revenue (2008 – 30.4%). As at December 30, 2009, one customer accounted for 17.9% of the Company’s total 

trade accounts receivable balance.  As at December 30, 2008, two customers accounted for respectively 20.6% and 10.2% for 

an aggregate of 30.8% of the Company’s total trade accounts receivable balance. 

The Company establishes an allowance for doubtful accounts on a customer-by-customer basis. It is based on the evaluation of 

the collectability of accounts receivable at each balance sheet reporting date, taking into account amounts which are past due, 

specific credit risk, historical trends and any available information indicating that a customer could be experiencing liquidity 

or going concern problems. Bad debt expense is included within the selling, general and administrative expenses.
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Credit Risk (Cont’d)

The Company’s exposure to credit risk for trade accounts receivable by geographic area and type of customer was as follows:

   dECEMbER 30,

  2009 2008

  $ $

Canada 28,618 19,749

United States 158,502 141,330

Europe 119,815 105,926

Other foreign countries 20,948 22,819

  327,883 289,824

The allocation of accounts receivable to each geographic area is based on the location of selling entity.

   dECEMbER 30,

  2009 2008

  $ $

Mass-market retailers 148,460 151,074

Specialty/independent stores 179,423 138,750

  327,883 289,824
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Credit Risk (Cont’d)

Pursuant to their respective terms, trade accounts receivable are aged as follows:

   dECEMbER 30,

  2009 2008

  $ $

Not past due 247,567 222,490

Past due 0-30 days 54,128 49,202

Past due 31-60 days 9,858 8,641

Past due 61-90 days 11,470 5,319

Past due over 90 days 18,414 15,477

Trade accounts receivable 341,437 301,129

Less allowance for doubtful accounts (13,554) (11,305)

  327,883 289,824

Based on past experience, the Company believes that no allowance is necessary in respect of trade receivables not past due 

and past due 0-30 days; 88.4% of these balances (2008 – 90.2%), which includes the amounts owed by the Company’s most 

significant customers, relates to customers that have a good track record with the Company.

The movement in the allowance for doubtful accounts with respect to trade accounts receivable was as follows:

   dECEMbER 30,

  2009 2008

  $ $

Balance at beginning of year 11,305 6,914

Bad debt expense 4,758 2,410

Uncollectible accounts written-off, net of recovery (2,721) (1,668)

Increase due to acquisitions (Note 4) 39 3,985

Effect of foreign currency exchange rate changes 173 (336)

Balance at end of year 13,554 11,305
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Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk of being unable to honor financial commitments by the deadlines set out under the terms of such 

commitments. The Company manages liquidity risk through the management of its capital structure and financial leverage, 

as outlined in “Capital Risk Management”. It also manages liquidity risk by continuously monitoring actual and projected 

cash flows matching the maturity profile of financial assets and liabilities. The Board of Directors reviews and approves the 

Company’s operating and capital budgets, as well as any material transactions out of the ordinary course of business, including 

acquisitions or other major investments or divestitures. 

The Company has committed revolving bank loans for a maximum of $ 475,000 due to mature in July 2010 which provide 

for an annual one-year extension. This agreement also includes an accordion feature allowing the Company to have access to 

an additional amount of $ 50,000 on a revolving basis. The revolving bank loans bear interest at LIBOR or U.S. bank rates 

plus a margin and the effective interest rate for the year ended December 30, 2009, was 2.2% (2008 – 4.0%). The Company 

is currently renegotiating the terms of the revolving bank loans due to mature in July 2010 in order to extend this facility. 

Management believes that future cash flows from operations and availability under existing/renegotiated banking arrangements 

will be adequate to support the Company’s financial liabilities.

The following table summarizes the contractual maturities of financial liabilities of the Company as of December 30, 2009, 

excluding future interest payments but including accrued interest:

   LESS tHAn   AFtER 
  tOtAL 1 YEAR 1-3 YEARS 4-5 YEARS 5 YEARS

  $ $ $ $ $

Bank indebtedness 1,987 1,987 – – –

Long-term debt –  
 revolving bank loans (1) 257,000 57,000 – 26,000 174,000

Other long-term debt 92,583 65,508 27,075 – –

Accounts payable and 
 accrued liabilities 337,889 337,889 – – –

Foreign exchange
 contracts 395 395 – – –

Interest rate swaps 790 790 – – –

Balance of sales payable 220 220 – – –

Other long term liabilities 25,139 – 15,287 9,852 –

Total  716,003 463,789 42,362 35,852 174,000

(1) Subsequent to year-end, the Company issued $50,000 of Series “A” Senior Guaranteed Notes and $150,000 of Series “B” Senior Guaranteed Notes. 
Please refer to Note 12 of these financial statements for the terms. The terms of the Senior Guaranteed Notes have been taken into consideration in 
the above table.

The Company’s only derivative financial liabilities as at December 30, 2009 were foreign exchange contracts and interest rate 

swaps, for which notional amounts, maturities, average exchange rates and the carrying and fair values are disclosed under 

“Foreign Exchange Risk” and “Interest Rate Risk”.
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Capital Risk Management

The Company’s objectives in managing capital is to provide sufficient liquidity to support its operations while generating a 

reasonable return to shareholders, give the flexibility to take advantage of growth and development opportunities of the busi-

ness and undertake selective acquisitions, while at the same time taking a conservative approach towards financial leverage and 

management of financial risk. The Company’s capital is composed of net debt and shareholders’ equity. Net debt consists of 

interest-bearing debt less cash and cash equivalents.

The Company manages its capital structure in light of changes in economic conditions. In order to maintain or adjust the capi-

tal structure, the Company may elect to adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to its shareholders, 

issue new shares or increase/decrease net debt.

The Company monitors its capital structure using the ratio of indebtedness to adjusted earnings before interest, taxes, deprecia-

tion and amortization, restructuring costs and extraordinary or unusual items (“adjusted EBITDA”), which it aims to maintain 

at less than 3.0:1. The terms of the unsecured notes and the revolving credit facility permit the Company to exceed this limit 

under certain circumstances. This ratio is calculated as follows: indebtedness/ adjusted EBITDA. Indebtedness is equal to the 

aggregate of bank indebtedness, long-term debt (including obligations under capital leases), guarantees (including all letters of 

credit and standby letters of credit), contingent considerations and balance of sales. Adjusted EBITDA is based on the last four 

quarters ending on the same date as the balance sheet date used to compute the indebtedness. The indebtedness to adjusted 

EBITDA as at December 30, 2009 and 2008 was as follows:

   dECEMbER 30,

  2009 2008

  $ $

Bank indebtedness 1,987 4,398

Current portion of long-term debt 122,508 8,879

Long-term debt 227,075 450,704

Guarantees 17,248 16,505

Contingent considerations (Note 13) 18,895 966

Balance of sale payable 220 1,100

Indebtedness 387,933 482,552
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Capital Risk Management (Cont’d)

  FOR tHE tRAILIng FOuR QuARtERS EndEd 
  dECEMbER 30, (1)

  2009 2008

  $ $

Net income 108,233 112,948

Interest, net 16,390 24,860

Income taxes expense 21,145 19,160

Depreciation and amortization 49,238 46,511

Restructuring costs 135  943

Adjusted EBITDA 195,141 204,422

Indebtedness to adjusted EBITDA ratio 1.99:1 2.36:1

(1)  Includes retroactively the results of the operations of the acquired businesses.

There were no changes in the Company’s approach to capital management during the periods. Under the unsecured notes and 

revolving credit facility, the Company is subject to certain covenants, including maintaining certain financial ratios. During the 

years ended December 30, 2009 and 2008, the Company is in compliance with these covenants.

nOtE 15 – PEnSIOn & POSt REtIREMEnt bEnEFIt PLAnS 

Pension benefits
The Company’s subsidiaries maintain defined benefit plans and defined contribution plans for their employees.  Pension 

benefit obligations under the defined benefit plans are determined annually by independent actuaries using management’s as-

sumptions and the accumulated benefit method for the plan where future salary levels do not affect the amount of employee 

future benefits and the projected benefit method for plans where future salaries or cost escalation affect the amount of employee 

future benefits.
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Pension benefits (Cont’d)
Information regarding the Company’s defined benefit pension plans is as follows:

   dECEMbER 30,

  2009 2008

  $ $

Accrued benefit obligations:  

 Balance, beginning of year 39,182 37,466

 Current service cost 1,281 1,314

 Interest cost 2,355 2,230

 Acquisitions 283 –

 Amendments – 1,005

 Participant contributions 401 315

 Benefits paid (1,649) (2,637)

 Effect of exchange rates 193 (489)

 Actuarial (gain) / loss 1,301 (22)

 Balance, end of year 43,347 39,182

Plan assets   

 Fair value, beginning of year 23,648 29,984

 Actual return on plan assets 2,744 (5,607)

 Employer contributions 3,313 2,036

 Participant contributions 401 315

 Benefits paid (1,649) (2,637)

 Effect of exchange rates 40 (215)

 Additional charges (289) (228)

 Fair value, end of year 28,208 23,648

Funded status - plan deficit (15,139) (15,534)

Unamortized actuarial loss 15,510 16,384

Unamortized transitional obligation 93 102

Unamortized past service costs 1,729 2,072

Net amount recognized 2,193 3,024
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Pension benefits (Cont’d)

   dECEMbER 30,

  2009 2008

  $ $

the net amount recognized consists of the following:   

Accrued benefit asset 8,390 8,354

Accrued benefit liability (6,197) (5,330)

Net amount recognized 2,193 3,024

The accrued benefit asset relating to pension benefits is included in other assets and the accrued benefit liability is included in 

pension & post-retirement benefit obligations on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheet.

The accrued benefit obligation at the end of the period and the fair value of plan assets at the end of the period for the aggregate 

of plans with accrued benefit obligations in excess of plan assets are the following:

   dECEMbER 30,

  2009 2008

  $ $

Accrued benefit obligation, end of year 43,347 39,182

Fair value of plan assets, end of year 28,208 23,648
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Pension benefits (Cont’d)
Net pension costs for the defined benefit plans comprise the following:

   dECEMbER 30,

  2009 2008

  $ $

Current service cost 1,281 1,314

Interest cost 2,355 2,230

Actual return on plan assets (2,744) 5,607

Amendments – 1,005

Actuarial (gain) / loss 1,301 (22)

Cost before adjustments to recognize the 
 long-term nature of the plans 2,193 10,134

Difference between actual and expected return 
 on plan assets 1,135 (7,796)

Difference between actuarial loss on accrued
 benefit obligation and the amount recognized (213) 436

Difference between amortization of past service
 costs and actual amendments for the year 342 (775)

Amortization of transition obligation 10 10

Pension expense 3,467 2,009

Under the Company’s defined contribution plans, total expense was $1,712 (2008 – $1,576). Total cash payments for em-

ployee future benefits for 2009, consisting of cash contributed by the Company to its funded plans, cash contributed to its 

defined contribution plans and benefits paid directly to beneficiaries for unfunded plans, was $6,083 (2008 – $4,310).

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements



114 Dorel Industries Inc.

nOtE 15 – PEnSIOn & POSt REtIREMEnt bEnEFIt PLAnS (Cont’d)

Post-Retirement benefits
One of the Company’s subsidiaries maintains a defined benefit post-retirement benefit plan for substantially all its employees.

Information regarding this Company’s post-retirement benefit plan is as follows:

   dECEMbER 30,

  2009 2008

  $ $

Accrued benefit obligations:   

 Balance, beginning of year 13,493 13,113

 Current service cost 311 239

 Interest cost 791 726

 Benefits paid (1,057) (698)

 Actuarial (gain) / loss (56) 113

 Balance, end of year 13,482 13,493

Plan assets:   

 Employer contributions 1,057 698

 Benefits paid (1,057) (698)

 Fair value, end of year – –

Funded status-plan deficit (13,482) (13,493)

Unamortized actuarial (gain)/loss (1,634) (1,649)

Unamortized past service costs 374 400

Accrued benefit liability (14,742) (14,742)

Net costs for the post-retirement benefit plan comprise the following:

   dECEMbER 30,

  2009 2008

  $ $

Current service cost 311 239

Interest cost 791 726

Actuarial (gain)/loss (56) 113

Cost (benefit) before adjustments to recognize
 the long-term nature of the plans 1,046 1,078

Difference between actuarial (gain)/loss on accrued
 benefit obligation and the amount recognized (15) (414)

Difference between amortization of past service
 costs and actual amendments for the year 26 26

Net benefit plan expense 1,057 690
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nOtE 15 – PEnSIOn & POSt REtIREMEnt bEnEFIt PLAnS (Cont’d)

Assumptions
Weighted-average assumptions used to determine benefit obligations as at December 30:

 PEnSIOn POSt REtIREMEnt
 bEnEFItS  bEnEFItS

 2009 2008 2009 2008

Discount rate 5.78% 5.98% 6.00% 6.25%

Rate of compensation increase 2.06% 2.22% n/a n/a

Weighted-average assumptions used to determine net periodic cost for the years ended December 30:

 PEnSIOn POSt REtIREMEnt
 bEnEFItS  bEnEFItS

 2009 2008 2009 2008

Discount rate 5.98% 6.03% 6.25% 6.50%

Expected long-term return on plan assets 7.47% 7.86% n/a n/a

Rate of compensation increase 2.22% 2.30% n/a n/a

The measurement date used for plan assets and pension benefits and the measurement date used for post-retirement benefits 

was December 30 for both 2009 and 2008. The most recent actuarial valuations for the pension plans and post-retirement 

benefit plans are dated January 1st, 2009. The most recent actuarial valuation of the pension plans for funding purposes was as 

of January 1st, 2009, and the next required valuation will be as of January 1st, 2010. 

Plan assets are held in trust and their weighted average allocations were as follows as at the measurement date:

  2009 2008

Equity securities 53% 42%

Debt securities 31% 36%

Other 16% 22%

  100% 100%
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nOtE 15 – PEnSIOn & POSt REtIREMEnt bEnEFIt PLAnS (Cont’d)

Assumptions (Cont’d)
The assumed health care cost trend used for measurement of the accumulated post-retirement benefit obligation is 8% in 2010, 

decreasing gradually to 5% in 2013 and remaining at that level thereafter. Assumed health care cost trends have a significant 

effect on the amounts reported for health care plans. A one percentage point change in assumed health care cost trend rates 

would have the following effects:

  1 PERCEntAgE 1 PERCEntAgE
  POInt InCREASE POInt dECREASE

  $ $

Effect on total of service and interest cost 201 (152)

Effect on post-retirement benefit obligation 2,127 (1,643)

Other
Certain of the Company’s subsidiaries have elected to act as self-insurer for certain costs related to all active employee health 

and accident programs.  The expense for the year ended December 30, 2009 was $8,856 (2008 – $7,473) under this self-

insured benefit program.
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nOtE 16 – CAPItAL StOCK

The capital stock of the Company is as follows:

Authorized
• An unlimited number of preferred shares without nominal or par value, issuable in series.

• An unlimited number of Class “A” Multiple Voting Shares without nominal or par value, convertible at any time at the  

  option of the holder into Class “B” Subordinate Voting Shares on a one-for-one basis.

• An unlimited number of Class “B” Subordinate Voting Shares without nominal or par value, convertible into Class “A”  

  Multiple Voting Shares, under certain circumstances, if an offer is made to purchase the Class “A” shares.

Details of the issued and outstanding shares are as follows:

 dECEMbER 30, 

 2009 2008 

 number Amount number Amount

  $  $

Class “A” Multiple Voting Shares     

Balance, beginning of year 4,229,710 1,793 4,427,744 1,913

Converted from Class “A” to Class “B” (1) (200) (1) (198,034) (120)

Balance, end of year 4,229,510 1,792 4,229,710 1,793

Class “b” Subordinate Voting Shares  

Balance, beginning of year 29,172,482 175,629 28,969,448 175,358

Converted from Class “A” to Class “B” (1) 200 1 198,034 120

Issued under stock option plan (2) – – 5,000 151

Repurchase and cancellation of shares (3) (432,880) (2,606) – –

Balance, end of year 28,739,802 173,024 29,172,482 175,629

TOTAL CAPITAL STOCK  174,816  177,422

(1) During the year, the Company converted 200 (2008 –198,034) Class “A” Multiple Voting Shares into Class “B” Subordinate Voting Shares at an  
average rate of $0.58 per share (2008 – $0.61 per share).

(2) In 2008, the Company incurred tax costs amounting to $4 as a result of stock option transactions.  The cost has been debited to capital stock and is 
not reflected in the current income tax provision.

(3) In 2009, the Company filed a notice with the Toronto Stock Exchange (TSX) to make a normal course issuer bid to repurchase for cancellation  
outstanding Class “B” Subordinate Voting Shares on the open market. As approved by the TSX, the Company is authorized to purchase up to 
1,458,624 Class “B” Subordinate Voting Shares (representing 5% of its issued and outstanding Class “B” Subordinate Voting Shares at the time of 
the bid) during the period of March 20, 2009 to March 19, 2010, or until such earlier time as the bid is completed or terminated at the option of the 
Company. Any shares the Company purchases under this bid will be purchased on the open market plus brokerage fees through the facilities of the 
TSX at the prevailing market price at the time of the transaction. Shares acquired under this bid will be cancelled. In accordance with its normal course 
issuer bid, the Company repurchased during the year, a total of 432,880 Class “B” Subordinate Voting Shares for a cash consideration of $10,504. The 
excess of the shares’ repurchase value over their carrying amount was charged to retained earnings as share repurchase premiums.
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nOtE 17 – StOCK-bASEd COMPEnSAtIOn And OtHER 
 StOCK-bASEd PAYMEntS

Stock option plans

Under various plans, the Company may grant stock options on the Class “B” Subordinate Voting Shares at the discretion of 

the Board of Directors, to senior executives and certain key employees.  The exercise price is the market price of the securi-

ties at the date the options are granted.  Of the 6,000,000 Class “B” Subordinate Voting Shares initially reserved for issuance, 

3,456,000 were available for issuance under the share option plans as at December 30, 2009.  Options granted vest according 

to a graded schedule of 25% per year commencing a day after the end of the first year, and options outstanding expire no later 

than the year 2014.

The Company’s stock option plan is as follows:

 dECEMbER 30,

 2009 2008

   Weighted Average    Weighted Average
  Options Exercise Price Options Exercise Price

   $  $

Options outstanding, 
 beginning of year 2,253,750 31.67 2,308,750 31.92

Granted 1,086,500 16.35 160,000 30.83

Exercised – – (5,000) 30.96

Expired (506,750) 33.46 (51,000) 36.89

Cancelled (294,500) 29.07 (159,000) 32.39

Options outstanding, end of year 2,539,000 26.27 2,253,750 31.67

Total exercisable, end of year 775,000 31.54 1,048,500 32.35
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nOtE 17 – StOCK-bASEd COMPEnSAtIOn And OtHER 
 StOCK-bASEd PAYMEntS (Cont’d)

Stock option plans (Cont’d)

A summary of options outstanding at December 30, 2009 is as follows:

 tOtAL OutStAndIng tOtAL EXERCISAbLE

   Weighted Weighted Average  Weighted
 Range of  Average Remaining  Average  
 Exercise Prices  Options Exercise Price Contractual Life Options Exercise Price

   $   $

 $16.05 - $30.70 1,141,500 20.03 4.12 45,000 30.22

 $30.96 - $34.49 1,397,500 31.36 2.38 730,000 31.62

  2,539,000 26.27 3.16 775,000 31.54

     

Total compensation cost recognized in income for employee stock options for the year amounts to $3,480 (2008 – $4,125), 

and was credited to contributed surplus.

The compensation cost recognized in income were computed using the fair value of granted options as at the date of grant as 

calculated by the Black-Scholes option pricing model.  The following weighted average assumptions were used to estimate the 

fair values of options granted during the year:

  2009  2008

Risk-free interest rate 1.91% 3.21%

Dividend yield 3.27% 1.62%

Expected volatility 37.11% 27.05%

Expected life 4.49 4.50
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nOtE 17 – StOCK-bASEd COMPEnSAtIOn And OtHER 
 StOCK-bASEd PAYMEntS (Cont’d)

directors’ deferred Share unit Plan
The Company has a Deferred Share Unit Plan (the “DSU Plan”) under which an external director of the Company may elect 

annually to have his or her director’s fees and fees for attending meetings of the Board of Directors or committees thereof paid 

in the form of deferred share units (“DSU’s”). A plan participant may also receive dividend equivalents paid in the form of 

DSU’s. The number of DSU’s received by a director is determined by dividing the amount of the remuneration to be paid in 

the form of DSU’s on that date or dividends to be paid on payment date (the “Award Dates”) by the fair market value of the 

Company’s Class “B” Subordinate Voting Shares on the Award Date. The Award Date is the last day of each quarter of the 

Company’s fiscal year in the case of fees forfeited and the date on which the dividends are payable in the case of dividends. The 

fair market value of the Company’s Class “B” Subordinate Voting Shares is equal to their average closing trading price during 

the five trading days preceding the Award Date. Upon termination of a director’s service, a director may receive, at the discre-

tion of the Board of Directors, either:

(a) cash equal to the number of DSU’s credited to the director’s account multiplied by the fair market value of the Class “B”  

 Subordinate Voting Shares on the date a notice of redemption is filed by the director; or

(b) the number of Class “B” Subordinate Voting Shares equal to the number of DSU’s in the director’s account.

(c) a combination of cash and Class “B” Subordinate Voting Shares 

Of the 75,000 DSU’s authorized for issuance under the plan, 18,939 were available for issuance under the DSU plan as at 

December 30, 2009. During the year, 14,896 additional DSU’s were issued (2008 – 11,120) and $328 (2008 − $306) was 

expensed and credited to contributed surplus. An additional 945 DSU’s were issued (2008 – 585) for dividend equivalents 

and $22 (2008 – $16) was charged to retained earnings and credited to contributed surplus. As at December 30, 2009, 56,061 

(2008 – 40,220) DSU’s are outstanding with related contributed surplus amounting to $1,500 (2008 – $1,150).

Executive deferred Share unit Plan
The Company has an Executive Deferred Share Unit Plan (the “EDSU Plan”) under which executive officers of the Company 

may elect annually to have a portion of his or her annual salary and bonus paid in the form of deferred share units (“DSU’s”). 

The EDSU Plan will assist the executive officers in attaining prescribed levels of ownership of the Company’s shares. A plan 

participant may also receive dividend equivalents paid in the form of DSU’s. The number of DSU’s received by an executive of-

ficer is determined by dividing the amount of the salary and bonus to be paid in the form of DSU’s on that date or dividends to 

be paid on payment date (the “Award Dates”) by the fair market value of the Company’s Class “B” Subordinate Voting Shares 

on the Award Date. The Award Date is the last business day of each month of the Company’s fiscal year in the case of salary, 

the date on which the bonus is, or would otherwise be, paid to the participant in the case of bonus and the date on which the 

dividends are payable in the case of dividends. The fair market value of the Company’s Class “B” Subordinate Voting Shares is 

equal to their weighted average trading price during the five trading days preceding the Award Date. Upon termination of an 

executive officer’s service, an executive officer may receive, at the discretion of Board of Directors, either:
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nOtE 17 – StOCK-bASEd COMPEnSAtIOn And OtHER 
 StOCK-bASEd PAYMEntS (Cont’d)

Executive deferred Share unit Plan (Cont’d)

(a) cash equal to the number of DSU’s credited to the executive officer’s account multiplied by the fair market value of the  

 Class “B” Subordinate Voting Shares on the date a notice of redemption is filed by the executive officer; or

(b) the number of Class “B” Subordinate Voting Shares equal to the number of DSU’s in the executive officer’s account; or

(c) a combination of cash and Class “B” Subordinate Voting Shares.

Of the 750,000 DSU’s authorized for issuance under the plan, 723,768 were available for issuance under the EDSU Plan as at 

December 30, 2009. During the year, 25,846 (2008 – nil) DSU’s were issued for bonus paid and $401 (2008 – nil) credited 

to contributed surplus. An additional 386 (2008 – nil) DSU’s were issued for dividend equivalents and $10 (2008 – nil) was 

charged to retained earnings and credited to contributed surplus. As at December 30, 2009, 26,232 DSU’s are outstanding 

with related contributed surplus amounting to $411 (2008 – nil).

nOtE 18 – ACCuMuLAtEd OtHER COMPREHEnSIVE InCOME

   CuMuLAtIVE
  CASH FLOW  tRAnSLAtIOn
  HEdgES AdJuStMEnt tOtAL

  $ $ $

Balance as at December 30, 2007 – 106,871 106,871

Change during the year – (23,732) (23,732)

Balance as at December 30, 2008 – 83,139 83,139

Change during the year 895 11,331 12,226

Balance as at December 30, 2009 895 94,470 95,365
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nOtE 19 – COMMItMEntS And guARAntEES

a) The Company has entered into long-term operating lease agreements for buildings and equipment that expire at various  

 dates through the year 2028. Rent expense was $30,671 and $27,554 in 2009 and 2008, respectively. Future minimum  

 lease payments exclusive of additional charges, are as follows:

 FISCAL YEAR EndIng AMOunt

  $

 2010 28,675

 2011 26,168

 2012 21,600

 2013 14,442

 2014    9,956

 Thereafter    22,476

  123,317

b) The Company has entered into various licensing agreements for the use of certain brand names on its products. Under these  

 agreements, the Company is required to pay royalties as a percentage of sales with minimum royalties of $6,199 due in fiscal  

 2010 and $3,547 due in fiscal 2011 and 2012 combined.

c) As at December 30, 2009, the Company has capital expenditure commitments of approximately $4,662 and commercial  

 letters of credit outstanding totalling $60.

d) In the normal course of business, the Company enters into agreements that may contain features which meet the definition  

 of a guarantee:

• The Company granted irrevocable standby letters of credit issued by highly rated financial institutions to various third 

parties to indemnify them in the event the Company does not perform its contractual obligations, such as payment of 

product liability claims, lease and licensing agreements, duties and workers compensation claims.  As at December 30, 

2009, standby letters of credit outstanding totalled $16,779. As many of these guarantees will not be drawn upon, these 

amounts are not indicative of future cash requirements. No material loss is anticipated by reason of such agreements and 

guarantees and no amounts have been accrued in the Company’s consolidated financial statements with respect to these 

guarantees.  The Company has determined that the fair value of the non-contingent obligations requiring performance 

under the guarantees in the event that specified events or conditions occur approximate the cost of obtaining the letters 

of credit.

• The Company has provided a financing provider the right, upon customer default on payment to this financing provider, 

to sell back certain new products to the Company at predetermined prices. The maximum exposure with respect to this 

guarantee as at December 30, 2009 is $409. Should the Company be required to act under such agreement, it is expected 

that no material loss would result after consideration of possible resell recoveries. Historically, the Company has not made 

any payments under such vendor financing agreement and the estimated exposure have been accrued in the Company’s 

consolidated financial statements with respect to this guarantee. 
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nOtE 20 – COntIngEnCIES

The breadth of the Company’s operations and the global complexity of tax regulations require assessments of uncertainties 

and judgments in estimating the ultimate taxes the Company will pay. The final taxes paid are dependent upon many factors, 

including negotiations with taxing authorities in various jurisdictions, outcomes of tax litigation and resolution of disputes 

arising from federal, provincial, state and local tax audits. The resolution of these uncertainties and the associated final taxes 

may result in adjustments to the Company’s tax assets and tax liabilities.

The Company is currently a party to various claims and legal proceedings.  If management believes that a loss arising from these 

matters is probable and can reasonably be estimated, that amount of the loss is recorded, or the minimum estimated liability 

when the loss is estimated using a range and no point within the range is more probable than another. When a loss arising 

from such matters is probable, legal proceedings against third parties or counterclaims are recorded only if management, after 

consultation with outside legal counsels, believes such recoveries are likely to be realized. As additional information becomes 

available, any potential liability related to these matters is assessed and the estimates are revised, if necessary. Based on currently 

available information, management believes that the ultimate outcome of these matters, individually and in aggregate, will not 

have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial position or overall trends in results of operations. 

In 2006, anti-dumping duties in the amount of $4,472 were imposed upon the Company by the United States Department 

of Commerce (“DOC”). These duties pertain to certain metal furniture imported from China into the United States that was 

subject to anti-dumping duties during the period between December 3, 2001 through May 31, 2003. In relation to this charge 

the Company had a pending claim against a major international law firm. That claim relates to a breach of professional duty 

by the law firm for its failure to timely file a request for an administrative review by the DOC of the duties imposed. During 

the fourth quarter of 2009, an agreement was reached with this law firm that resulted in a gain of $6,400 being recorded in 

cost of sales.

nOtE 21 – PROduCt LIAbILItY

The Company insures itself to mitigate its product liability exposure.

The estimated product liability exposure was calculated by an independent actuary based on historical sales volumes, past 

claims history and management and actuarial assumptions.  The estimated exposure includes incidents that have occurred, as 

well as incidents anticipated to occur on units sold prior to December 30, 2009.  Significant assumptions used in the actuarial 

model include management’s estimates for pending claims, product life cycle, discount rates, and the frequency and severity 

of product incidents.

As at December 30, 2009, the Company’s recorded liability amounts to $25,480 (2008 – $23,087), which represents the 

Company’s total estimated exposure related to current and future product liability incidents. 
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nOtE 22 – InCOME tAXES

Variations of income tax expense from the basic Canadian federal and provincial combined tax rates applicable to 

income from operations before income taxes are as follows:

 dECEMbER 30,

 2009 2008

  $ % $ %

PROVISION FOR INCOME TAXES 39,531 30.8 41,188 31.2

ADD (DEDUCT) EFFECT OF:      

Difference in effective tax
 rates of foreign subsidiaries (13,591) (10.6) (20,666) (15.7)

Recovery of income taxes arising from
 the use of unrecorded tax benefits (5,415) (4.2) (5,498) (4.1)

Change in valuation allowance (2,599) (2.0) 1,100 0.8

Non-deductible stock options 1,071 0.8 1,440 1.1

Other non-deductible items (36) – 1,893 1.4

Change in future income taxes
 resulting from changes in tax rates 1,023 0.8 179 0.1

Effect of foreign exchange 672 0.5 (1,221) (0.9)

Other - Net 458 0.3 743 0.6

  21,113 16.4 19,158 14.5
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nOtE 22 – InCOME tAXES (Cont’d)

The tax effects of significant items comprising the Company’s net future income tax liabilities are as follows:

 dECEMbER 30,

  2009 2008

  $ $

Capital and operating loss carryforwards 26,185 22,645

Deferral of partnership gain (406) –

Employee pensions and post-retirement 3,878 3,631

Other long-term liabilities 243 308

Accounts receivable 6,178 7,928

Inventories 9,681 11,671

Accrued expenses 20,213 18,463

Stock options 1,148 725

Derivatives (915) (3,110)

Property, plant and equipment (24,981) (22,509)

Intangible assets (83,816) (82,769)

Goodwill (20,514) (18,388)

Prepaid expenses (64) (88)

Valuation allowance (2,310) (4,900)

Foreign exchange and other (202) (432)

  (65,682) (66,825)

The short-term and long-term future income tax assets and liabilities are as follows:

 dECEMbER 30,

  2009 2008

  $ $

Short-term future income tax assets 38,042 37,342

Long-term future income tax assets (Note 9) 25,345 10,420

Short-term future income tax liabilities (85) (2,713)

Long-term future income tax liabilities (128,984) (111,874)

  (65,682) (66,825)
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nOtE 22 – InCOME tAXES (Cont’d)

As at December 30, 2009, the Company has $284 of capital losses with no expiry and $86,638 of operating loss carryforwards, 

of which $9,710 will expire between 2017 and 2019 and $36,648 will expire between 2025 and 2029 The remaining $40,280 

has no expiration date. The Company also has unclaimed expenses available to reduce federal income tax amounting to $910 

and expiring between 2010 and 2014. The Company recognized a future income tax asset for all of these unused tax losses 

and other available income tax reductions but used a valuation allowance to reduce the related future income tax asset to the 

amount that is more likely than not to be realized.  As limitations on the utilization of these tax assets may apply, the Company 

has provided a valuation allowance in the amount of $2,310 as at December 30, 2009 for the full value of the capital losses and 

unclaimed expenses and for a portion of the operating loss carryforwards.

The Company has not recognized a future income tax liability for the undistributed earnings of its subsidiaries in the current 

or prior years since the Company does not expect to sell or repatriate funds from those investments, in which case the undis-

tributed earnings may become taxable. Any such liability cannot reasonably be determined at the present time. 

nOtE 23 – EARnIngS PER SHARE

The following table provides a reconciliation between the number of basic and fully diluted shares outstanding:

 dECEMbER 30,

  2009 2008

Weighted daily average number of Class “A” Multiple and 
 Class “B” Subordinate Voting Shares 33,232,606 33,398,544

Dilutive effect of stock options and deferred share units 167,934 348

Weighted average number of diluted shares 33,400,540 33,398,892

Number of anti-dilutive stock options and deferred share units 
 excluded from fully diluted earnings per share calculation 1,551,395 2,278,710

    

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements



1272009 Annual Report

nOtE 24 – StAtEMEnt OF CASH FLOWS

Net changes in non-cash balances related to operations are as follows:

 dECEMbER 30,

  2009 2008

  $ $

Accounts receivable (27,312) 28,223

Inventories 113,630 (121,027)

Prepaid expenses (378) 677

Accounts payable, accruals and other liabilities (39,437) 22,105

Income taxes 1,156 (8,485)

Total 47,659 (78,507)

   

Details of business acquisitions:

 dECEMbER 30,

  2009 2008

  $ $

Acquisition of businesses (Note 4) (23,643) (231,591)

Cash acquired (Note 4) 290 4,493

  (23,353) (227,098)

Balance of sale (paid) 1,692 908

  (21,661) (226,190)

The components of cash and cash equivalents are:

 dECEMbER 30,

  2009 2008

  $ $

Cash 17,525 15,408

Short-term investments 2,322 1,558

Cash and cash equivalents 19,847 16,966
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nOtE 24 – StAtEMEnt OF CASH FLOWS (Cont’d)

Supplementary disclosure:

 dECEMbER 30,

  2009 2008

  $ $

Interest paid (14,173) (19,542)

Income taxes paid (26,639) (27,221)

Income taxes received 5,284 1,660

  

Acquiring a long-lived asset by incurring a liability does not result in a cash outflow for the Company until the liability is paid. 

As such, the consolidated statement of cash flows excludes the following non-cash transactions:

 dECEMbER 30,

  2009 2008

  $ $

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment financed by 
 accounts payable and accrued liabilities 1,085 763

Acquisition of intangible assets financed by accounts payable 
 and accrued liabilities 130 140
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nOtE 25 – SEgMEntEd InFORMAtIOn

The Company’s significant business segments include:

• Juvenile Products Segment:  Engaged in the design, sourcing, manufacturing and distribution of children’s furniture and 

accessories which include infant car seats, strollers, high chairs, toddler beds, cribs and infant health and safety aids.

• Recreational / Leisure Segment:  Engaged in the design, sourcing and distribution of recreational and leisure products and 

accessories which include bicycles, jogging strollers, scooters and other recreational products.

• Home Furnishings Segment: Engaged in the design, sourcing, manufacturing and distribution of ready-to-assemble furni-

ture and home furnishings which include metal folding furniture, futons, step stools, ladders and other imported furniture 

items.

The accounting policies used to prepare the information by business segment are the same as those used to prepare the consoli-

dated financial statements of the Company as described in Note 2.

The Company evaluates financial performance based on measures of income from segmented operations before interest and 

income taxes. The allocation of revenues to each geographic area is based on where the selling company is located.

geographic Segments – Origin

 dECEMbER 30,

  Property, plant and
 total Revenue equipment and goodwill

 2009 2008 2009 2008

 $ $ $ $

Canada 247,878 248,107 51,336 42,413

United States 1,191,755 1,195,382 371,596 378,604

Europe 540,269 593,309 278,455 273,396

Other foreign countries 160,212 145,082 21,716 4,669

Total 2,140,114 2,181,880 723,103 699,082
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nOtE 25 – SEgMEntEd InFORMAtIOn (Cont’d)  

Industry Segments
 dECEMbER 30,

 total Juvenile Recreational / Leisure Home Furnishings

  2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008

  $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Total Revenue 2,140,114 2,181,880 995,014 1,073,722 681,366 656,613 463,734 451,545

Cost of sales 
 (Note 2) 1,634,570 1,670,481 720,517 764,042 527,627 505,809 386,426 400,630

Selling, general and
 administrative 
 expenses 291,962 294,338 149,135 154,164 106,209 101,886 36,618 38,288

Depreciation & 
 amortization 
 (Note 2) 27,227 26,415 20,776 20,041 5,009 4,708 1,442 1,666

Research and 
 development 
 costs 17,184 13,245 11,948 7,928 2,684 2,336 2,552 2,981

Restructuring costs 
 (Note 3) 104 726 104 710 – – – 16

Earnings from 
 Operations 169,067 176,675 92,534 126,837 39,837 41,874 36,696 7,964

Interest 16,375 22,123

Corporate expenses 24,345 22,539

Income taxes 21,113 19,158

Net income 107,234 112,855

Total Assets 1,969,655 2,003,459 999,808 986,021 756,557 771,468 213,290 245,970

Additions to
 property plant and
 equipment – net 21,893 26,423 13,297  18,504  6,763         3,997 1,833       3,922

total Assets
 dECEMbER 30,

  2009 2008

  $ $

Total assets for reportable segments 1,969,655 2,003,459

Corporate assets 32,525 27,014

Total Assets 2,002,180 2,030,473
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nOtE 25 – SEgMEntEd InFORMAtIOn (Cont’d) 

goodwill

The continuity of goodwill by industry segment is as follows:

 dECEMbER 30,

 total Juvenile Recreational / Leisure Home Furnishings

  2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008

  $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Balance, 
 beginning 
 of year 540,187 525,235 343,155 350,848 165,860 143,215 31,172 31,172

Additions 
 (Note 4) 9,943 23,611 4,860 – 5,083 22,645 – –

Contingent 
 considerations 
 (Note 4 and 13) 16,155 – 13,583 966 2,572 – – –

Foreign exchange  3,539 (8,659) 3,520 (8,659) 19 – – –

Balance, 
 end of year 569,824 540,187 365,118 343,155 173,534 165,860 31,172 31,172

Concentration of Credit Risk

Sales to the Company’s major customer as described in Note 14 were concentrated as follows:

 CAnAdA unItEd StAtES FOREIgn     

 2009 2008  2009 2008 2009 2008

Juvenile  0.8% 1.5%  7.3% 7.5% 1.4% 1.3%

Recreational/Leisure – %  – % 8.4% 8.1%  –%  –%

Home furnishings 4.7% 2.3%  6.7% 7.4% 2.1% 2.3%

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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board of directors
Martin Schwartz

President and Chief Executive Officer

Martin Schwartz is a co-founder of Ridgewood Industries 

Ltd., which was merged with Dorel Industries Inc. and several 

other associated companies to create the Company. Martin 

has been President and CEO of Dorel since 1992.

Jeffrey Schwartz

Executive Vice-President, Chief Financial Officer

and Secretary

Jeffrey Schwartz, previously Vice-President of the Juvenile Di-

vision of the Company, has been the Company’s Vice-Presi-

dent, Finance since 1989. In 2003, Jeffrey’s title was changed 

to Executive Vice-President and CFO.

Jeff Segel

Executive Vice-President, Sales & Marketing

Jeff Segel is a co-founder of Ridgewood Industries Ltd. Jeff 

has held the position of Vice-President, Sales & Marketing 

since 1987. In 2003, Jeff ’s title changed to Executive Vice-

President, Sales & Marketing.

Alan Schwartz

Executive Vice-President, Operations

Alan Schwartz is a co-founder of Ridgewood Industries Ltd. 

Alan has held the position of Vice-President, Operations since 

1989. In 2003, Alan’s title was changed to Executive Vice-

President, Operations.

Maurice tousson* is the President and Chief Executive Of-

ficer of CDREM Group Inc., a chain of retail stores known 

as Centre du Rasoir or Personal Edge, a position he has held 

since January 2000.  Mr. Tousson has held executive positions 

at well-known Canadian specialty stores, including Chateau 

Stores of Canada, Consumers’ Distributing and Sports Ex-

perts, with responsibilities for operations, finance, marketing 

and corporate development.  Mr. Tousson currently sits on 

the Board of Directors of several privately held companies.  

Mr. Tousson holds an MBA degree from Long Island Univer-

sity in New York. 

Harold P. “Sonny” gordon, Q.C.* is Chairman of Dundee 

Corporation since November 2001, prior to which he was 

Vice-Chairman of Hasbro Inc., a position he held until May 

2002.  Mr. Gordon has previously worked as a special assis-

tant to a Minister of the Government of Canada, and was a 

managing partner of Stikeman Elliott LLP during his 28 year 

career as a practicing lawyer.  In addition to Dundee Cor-

poration, Mr. Gordon also serves as a director or trustee on 

the boards of DundeeWealth Inc., Pethealth Inc., SFK Pulp 

Fund, and Transcontinental Inc.

dian Cohen** is a well known economist and commenta-

tor, author of several books on economic policy and recipient 

of the Order of Canada. In addition to Dorel Industries, she 

serves on the Boards of Norbord, Inc. and Brookfield Renew-

able Power Fund. 

Alain benedetti, FCA*** is the retired Vice-Chairman of Ernst 

& Young LLP, where he worked for 34 years, most recently as 

the Canadian area managing partner, overseeing all Canadian 

operations.  Prior thereto, he was the managing partner for 

eastern Canada and the Montreal office.  Mr. Benedetti has 

extensive experience with both public and private compa-

nies and currently serves on the Board of Directors of Russel 

Metals Inc., and Imperial Tobacco Canada Limited and as a 

Governor of Dynamic Mutual Funds.  A former Chair of the 

Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants, Mr. Benedetti 

has served on the Audit Committee of the Company since 

2004 and has been its chairperson since early 2005.

Richard L. Markee, is currently Chairman and CEO of The 

Vitamin Shoppe, a publicly traded retail chain, a position he 

has held since September 2009. Prior to that Mr. Markee was 

Retail Operating Partner at Irving Place Capital, a position he 

held since November 2006. During the same period he has 

also served on the Board of Directors of The Vitamin Shoppe. 

From 1990 until 2006, Mr. Markee held various executive 

positions at Toys “R” Us, Inc., including Vice Chairman of 

Toys “R” Us, where he was responsible for the growth and 

expansion of Babies “R” Us. He was also Chairman of Toys 

“R” Us, Japan. Prior to joining the Toys “R” Us organization, 

Mr. Markee was a Vice-President of Target Stores. Mr. Markee 

is a graduate of the University of Wisconsin.
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Rupert duchesne is the President, Chief Executive Officer 

and a director of Groupe Aeroplan Inc., the international loy-

alty-management company that owns and operates the Aero-

plan program in Canada and Nectar program in the United 

Kingdom, as well as owning 60% of RMMEL, the operator 

of Air Miles Middle East.  Groupe Aeroplan Inc. is listed on 

the TSX.  Mr. Duchesne previously held a number of senior 

officer positions at Air Canada from 1996, and prior to that 

was involved in strategy and investment consulting.  He was 

previously a director of Alliance Atlantis Communications In-

ternational Inc.  Mr. Duchesne holds an MBA degree from 

Manchester Business School and a B.Sc (Hons) degree from 

Leeds University in the UK.

* Members of the Audit Committee and the Human  

 Resources and Corporate Governance Committee

** Member of the Human Resources and Corporate Gover- 

 nance Committee

*** Member of the Audit Committee

Officers
Martin Schwartz

President and Chief Executive Officer

Alan Schwartz

Executive Vice-President, Operations

Jeff Segel

Executive Vice-President, Sales and Marketing

Jeffrey Schwartz

Executive Vice-President, 

Chief Financial Officer and Secretary

Frank Rana

Vice-President, Finance and Assistant-Secretary

Ed Wyse

Vice-President, Global Procurement

Juvenile
Hani Basile
Group President & CEO 
Juvenile Segment

Dorel Juvenile Group, Inc.
Dave Taylor, President  & CEO

(Head Office)
2525 State Street
Columbus, Indiana, USA 47201
Tel: (812) 372-0141
 
Design and Development
25 Forbes Blvd, Suite 4
Foxboro, MA, USA  02035
Tel: (508) 216-1923

Dorel Distribution Canada
Mark Robbins, President

(Head Office)
873 Hodge Street
Montreal, Quebec, Canada  H4N 2B1
Tel: (514) 332-3737

2855 Argentia Road, Unit 4
Mississauga, Ontario, Canada  L5N 8G6
Tel: (905) 814-0854

Dorel Europe
Jean-Claude Jacomin, President  & CEO

(Head office)
9, Boulevard Gamabetta (2nd floor)
92130 Issy Les Moulineaux
Paris, France
Tel: 00 33 1 47 65 93 41

Dorel France SA
Z.I. - 9, Bd du Poitou - BP 905
49309 Cholet Cedex
France
Tel: 00 33 2 41 49 23 23

Dorel Italia SpA
Via Verdi, 14
24060 Telgate (BERGAMO)
Italy
Tel: 0039 035 4421035

Dorel Portugal S.A.
Parque Industrial Da Varziela
Rua nº 1 - Arvore
4480 - 109 Vila do Conde
Portugal
Tel: 252 248 530

Dorel Hispania S.A.
C/Pare Rodès n°26 Torre A 4°
Edificio Del Llac Center
08208 Sabadell (BARCELONA)
Spain
Tel: 902 11 92 58

Dorel Juvenile Switzerland S.A.
Chemin de la Colice 4 (Niveau 2)
1023 Crissier
Switzerland
Tel: 021 661 28 40

Dorel Belgium SA
Budasteenweg 7 
1830 Machelen
Belgium
Tel: 02 257 44 70

Major Operations
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Maxi Miliaan BV
Korendjik 5
5704 RD Helmond
Netherlands
Tel: 0492 57 81 12

Dorel Germany GMBH
Augustinusstrasse 11 b
D-50226 Frechen – Königsdorf
Germany
Tel: 02234 96 430

Dorel (U.K.) Limited
Hertsmere House, Shenley Road
Borehamwood, Hertfordshire 
United Kingdom  WD6 1TE 
Tel: 020 8236 0707

Dorel Brazil
Rafael Camarano, President

(Head Office)
Av. Fransisco Gomes de Freitas, 1573
Mineiros, Campos dos Goytacases, RJ
Brazil  28145-000
Tel : 55 21 3563 3602

Avenida Moema, 177 Loja/Térreo
Moema 
São Paulo-SP
Brazil,  04077-020
Tel: 55 11 2063 3827

Dorel Australia
Robert Berchick, President & CEO

IGC Dorel Pty Ltd.
655-685 Somerville Road
Sunshine West
Melbourne
Victoria, 3020
Australia
Tel: 61-3-8311-5300

In Good Care (New Zealand) Ltd.
P.O. Box 82377 Highland Park
Mt Wellington New Zealand
Tel : 0800 62 8000

Recreational/Leisure
Robert P. Baird Jr.
Group President & CEO
Recreational/Leisure Segment

Cycling Sports Group (CSG)

Cycling Sports Group Inc.
Jeff McGuane, President, CSG North America

(Head Office)
16 Trowbridge Drive
Bethel, Connecticut, USA 06801
Tel: (203) 749-7000

172 Friendship Village Road, Bedford,
Pennsylvania, 15522-6600, USA
Tel: (814) 623-9073

Cycling Sports Group Europe B.V.
Hanzepoort 27
7570 GC, Oldenzaal, Netherlands
Tel: 31 541 589898

Cycling Sports Group UK
Vantage Way, The Fulcrum
Poole – Dorset
United Kingdom BH12 4NU
Tel: 44 1202 732288

Cycling Sports Group Australia Pty Ltd.
Unit 8, 31-41 Bridge Road
Stanmore N.S.W., 2048, Australia
Tel: 61-2-85954444

Cannondale Japan KK
Namba Sumiso Building 9F,
4-19, Minami Horie 1-chome,
Nishi-ku, Osaka 550-0015, Japan
Tel: 06-6110-9390

Cannondale Sports Group GmbH Taiwan Branch
435-1 Hou Chuang Road
Pei Tun Taichung 40682, Taiwan
Tel: 886-4-2426-9422

Apparel Footwear Group (AFG)
Chris Fuentes, President

4084 McConnell Court
Burnaby, British Columbia
Canada V5A 3N7
Tel: (604) 875-0887
  
Pacific Cycle Group (PCG)
Alice Tillett, President

(Head Office)
4902 Hammersley Road
Madison, Wisconsin, USA  53711
Tel: (608) 268-2468 

4730 East Radio Tower Lane
P.O. Box 344
Olney, Illinois, USA  62450-4743
Tel: (618) 393-2991

2041 Cessna Drive
Vacaville, California, USA  95688-8712
Tel: (707) 452-1500

9282 Pittsburgh Avenue
Rancho Cucamonga, California, 
USA  91730-5516
Tel: (909) 481-5613

Home Furnishings
Norman Braunstein
Group President & CEO
Home Furnishings Segment

Ameriwood Industries
Rick Jackson, President & CEO

(Head Office)
410 East First Street South
Wright City, Missouri, USA  63390
Tel: (636) 745-3351

458 Second Avenue
Tiffin, Ohio, USA  44883
Tel: (419) 447-7448

3305 Loyalist Street
Cornwall, Ontario, Canada  K6H 6W6
Tel: (613) 937-0711

Altra Furniture
Steve Warhaftig, Vice-President
and General Manager
410 East First Street South
Wright City, Missouri, USA  63390
Tel: (636)745-3351

Dorel Home Products
Ira Goldstein, Vice-President 
and General Manager
12345 Albert-Hudon Blvd., Suite 100
Montreal, Quebec, Canada  H1G 3K9
Tel: (514) 323-1247

Cosco Home & Office
Troy Franks, Executive Vice-President and General 
Manager
2525 State Street
Columbus, Indiana, USA  47201
Tel: (812) 372-0141

Dorel Asia SRL 
Bruce Kaufman, Managing Director
St. Lawrence Main Road
Christ Church, Barbados
Tel: (246) 418-1650

Showroom
Commerce and Design Building
201 West Commerce Street, 9th Floor
Highpoint, North Carolina, USA  27260
Tel: (336) 889-9130

Dorel – Consulting (Shanghai) 
Company Ltd.
Jenny Chang, Vice-President 
of Far Eastern Operations
Room 205, No. 3203, Hong Mei Road
Minghang District, Shanghai 201103
P.R. China
Tel: 011-86-21-644-68999
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Lawyers
Heenan Blaikie LLP

1250 René-Lévesque Blvd. West

Suite 2500

Montreal, Quebec, Canada  H3B 4Y1

Schiff Hardin & Waite

233 South Wacker Drive

6600 Sears Tower

Chicago, IL, U.S.A.  60606

Auditors
KPMG LLP

600 de Maisonneuve Blvd. West

Suite 1500

Montreal, Quebec, Canada  H3A 0A3

transfer Agent & Registrar
Computershare Investor Services Inc.
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MaisonBrison

Rick Leckner

1320 Graham Blvd., Suite 132
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Profile
Dorel Industries Inc. (TSX: DII.B, DII.A) is a world class 

juvenile products and bicycle company.  Established in 1962, 

Dorel creates style and excitement in equal measure to safety, 

quality and value. The Company’s lifestyle leadership posi-

tion is pronounced in both its Juvenile and Bicycle categories 

with an array of trend-setting products.  Dorel’s powerfully 

branded products include Safety 1st, Quinny, Cosco, Maxi-

Cosi and Bébé Confort in Juvenile, as well as Cannondale, 

Schwinn, GT, Mongoose, Iron Horse and SUGOI in Recre-

ational/Leisure.  Dorel’s Home Furnishings segment markets 

a wide assortment of furniture products, both domestically 

produced and imported. Dorel is a US$2 billion company 

with 4500 employees, facilities in nineteen countries, and 

sales worldwide.  
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